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66 Perimeter Center At anta Geo gia

333 East Lake Street Chicago Illinois
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Westway II Houston Texas
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Franklin Center Baltimore Maryk nd

Westway Houston iexas
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am pleased to report that the Wells Core REIT Board

of Directors has declared distributions for the first and

second quarters of 2013 in an amount equal to 60/0

annualized yield on $25 original
share price First

quarter distributions were paid in March 2013 and

second quarter distributions are expected to be paid

in June 2013 The second quarter of 2013 will mark

the ninth consecutive quarter of 60/0 annualiLed

distributions

Throughout the year we also mdde significant progress

in increasing the percentage of distributions funded

from cash from operations and we anticipate continued

improvement in 2013 Please reference the Quarterly

Distributions History chart for additional information

rRTERL TR BUTO UFTO

Distributions may consist of capital qains return of capita4
and dividend income

The annualized percentage yie is Os culated based on the distribution rate declared for each respective quarter and assumes $25-per-share

purchase price It is not projecuon or ndication of future dstributions Distribut ons are not guaranteed and are declared advance of the

payout as disclosed in quarterly 8-K filings th the U.S Secur ties and Exchange Commission For the year ended Decen her 31 2012

$19.9 million in total distributions was paid to stockholders The distributions paid were funded with approximately $16.0 ion from our cash

flows from operating actv ties and approximately $3.9 Ilion from our borrowings Borrowings have been used to fund distrbutions to the extent

that acquis tion related costs of approximately $5.8 mi lion have reduced net cash from operating activities
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We entered three new markets en 2012 Northern Virgima

Washington DC Columbus Ohio and Atlanta Georgia

Wells Core ROT now nas assets in nine markets and

right states With these new markets OL geograpt

diversification has improved significantly with no one

market exceeding 200o of total annuahzed rove lue
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Based on 2012 tota annuahzod base rent before rent abatements

tAs of December31 2012

No more than 3o attr butabe to any individua tenant

Based on 2012 tota annuahzed base rent before rent abatements

As of December31 2012

At the same tim Wells Core REIT continued to improve

its tenant roster with the addition of wellknown

companies such as

Time Warner Cable the second largest
multiservice

cable operator in the U.S

McCain Foods the largest frozen French fry producer

in the world

State Farm the largest auto insurer in the U.S and

leading insurer in Canada

Wells Core REIT currently enjoys an occupancy rate

of 9950/s with no one tenant accounting for more than

150/0 of total annualized revenue

Wells Core REITs 2012 acquisitions also helped lengthen

the average lease term remaining from 6.6 years to

6.9 years More importantly the acquisitions helped

improve Wells Core REITs exposure to lease expirations

in 2017 and 2019 At the end of 2011 the REIT had

38/c and 32/o of its leases expiring
in 2017 and 2019

respectively As of
year

end 2012 those percentages

declined to approximately 240/0 and 310/c for leases

expiring in 2017 and 2019 respectively

ASE EXPRAflON SCHE VIE RVENUE

Average Lease Term

Remaining 6.9 Years

TEdANT DVER iFC 1ON BY REVNUL

State Farm Mutual

Automobile Insurance

Time Warner Cable

GEOilGas 10/o

SAIC 9/o

TMobile West 8/c

Jackson National
70/

Life Insurance

Qwest Communications 3/o

Cameron Solutions 4/o

Humana Medical Plan 4/c

CF Industries 4/c

JP Morgan Chase Bank 3/c

McCain Foods USA 3/c

Lundbeck 3c

Otherst 12/c
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Energy efficiency not only is good for the environment

it provides direct operational savings to our tenants

and we believe helps to support higher occupancy

levels and stronger potential value for our properties

Wells Real Estate Funds 11Wells the sponsor
of Wells

Core REIT has long been an advocate of environmental

stewardship serving as an ENERGY STAR Partner

since 2006 and member of the U.S Green Building

Council since 2008 In 2012 Wells was named 2013

ENERGY STAR Partner of the Year for its energy efficiency

efforts This is the second time Wells has earned this

prestigious
award

Wells energy-efficiency
focus is twofold to assess the

energy footprint
of potential acquisitions

and to

improve the resource sustainability of existing properties

As of year-end we are pleased to announce that

60o of Wells Core REIT buildings are ENERGY STAR

certified while 27c of Wells Core REIT buildings are

LEED certified

ENERGY STAR and the ENERGY STAR mark are regEstered marks owned by the US Environmenta ProtecUon Agency and the

Department of Energy



98 eased to eight tenants with St0te ha Mu ul

Automobile Insurance Co as the ancnor tena

Shis two bui ding Class-B proporty totaLng 58 000

square feet located on 17 acre we -landscaped site

within ose proximity to Georgia 400 -285 and -8u

At anta largest office suamarket

Acquired in December 2012

so Acquisifion of Assct and propedy Preparation for an sti according to the

rougi hc
properties once management to terms of the prospectus

Ic ing rids arid
financing focus on podfolio

Liquidity event may consist of either
arc available performance

Listing on public exchange or

Selling of assets and distributing net liquidation

proceeds to investors or

Sale or merger of he compa iy

VeIls iC .11 cts close to new investments on

ne IC 20 hat time Wells Core REIT will reach

nilcst moving from the Fundraising and

Ac rn phases of the product life cycle
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xit st alegy at future date At

millior the Size of the Wells Core

cv des range of exit options for

sider You can be assured that at the

ca efull arid thoroughly

review each option as we pursue the end goal of capital

preservation arid
appreciation

On behalf of the Wells Core Office Income RLIT Board of

Diredors and management team vvant to thank you for

the opportunity to serve your real estate investment needs

Leo Wells III

President and Chairman of the Board

Wells Core Office Income ROT Inc
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months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days

Yes tEl No
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Form 10-K of Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc Wells Core Office Income

REIT we our or us other than historical facts may be considered forward-looking statements within the

meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act and Section 1E of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act We intend for all such forward-looking statements

to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in those acts Such

statements include in particular statements about our plans strategies and prospects and are subject to certain risks

and uncertainties including known and unknown risks which could cause actual results to differ materially from those

projected or anticipated Such forward-looking statements can generally be identified by our use of forward-looking

terminology such as may will expect intend anticipate estimate believe continue or other similar

words Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements which speak only as

of the date this report is filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissionSECWe do not intend to publicly

update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

Any such forward-looking statements are subject to risks uncertainties and other factors and are based on number

of assumptions involving judgments with respect to among other things future economic competitive and market

conditions all of which are difficult or impossibleto predict accurately To the extent that our assumptions differ from

actual conditions our ability to accurately anticipate results expressed in such forward-looking statements including

our ability to generate positive cash flow from pperations make distributions to stockholders and maintain the value

of our real estate properties may be significantly hindered See Item 1A herein for discussion of some of the risks

and uncertainties although not all risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those

presented in our forward-looking statements



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

General

Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc is Maryland corporation that has elected to be taxed as real estate investment

trust REIT for federal income tax purposes Wells Core Office Income REIT engages in the acquisition and

ownership of commercial real estate properties located in the United States Wells Core Office Income REIT was

formed on July 2007 and commenced operations on September 29 2010 Wells Core Office Income REIT conducts

business primarily through Wells Core Office Income Operating Partnership L.P Wells Core OP Delaware

limited partnership formed on July 2007 Wells Core Office Income REIT is the sole general partner of Wells Core

OP Wells Core Office Income Holdings LLC Wells Core Holdings Delaware limited liability company formed

on November 2009 is the sole limited partner of Wells Core OP Wells Core Office Income REIT owns 100% of

the interests of Wells Core Holdings and possesses
full legal control and authority over the operations of Wells Core OP

and Wells Core Holdings In addition Wells Core OP formed Wells Core REIT IRS LLC Wells Core TRS
wholly owned subsidiary organized as Delaware corporation on December 132011 References to Wells Core Office

Income REIT herein shall include Wells Core Office Income REIT and all subsidiaries of Wells Core Office Income

REIT including Wells Core OP Wells Core Holdings and Wells Core TRS unless stated otherwise

On June 10 2010 we commenced our initial public offering of up to 230000000 shares of common stock the Initial

Offering pursuant to Registration Statement filed on Form 5-11 under the Securities Act with 30000000 of those

shares being offered through the Distribution Reinvestment Plan DRP Under the Initial Offering the primary

shares are offered at price of $25 per share with discounts available to certain categories of purchasers and DRP

shares are offered at price of $23.75 per share On September 292010 we received and accepted subscriptions under

the Initial Offering equal to the minimum offering amount of $2.5 million the Minimum Offering at which point

active operations commenced On January 29 2012 our board of directors approved an extension of the termination

date of the Initial Offering from June 10 2012 to June 10 2013 On September 19 2012 our board of directors

determined that it is in our best interest not to conduct follow-on public offering of shares of our common stock

Therefore the Initial Offering is expected to terminate on June 10 2013 pursuant to its terms

As of December 31 2012 we had raised offering proceeds under the Initial Offering of approximately $441.6 million

from the sale of approximately 17.7 million shares of common stock After deductions from such gross offering proceeds

for selling commissions and dealer-manager fees of approximately $40.1 million acquisition fees of approximately

$8.8 million and other offering expenses of approximately $8.8 million we had raised aggregate net offering proceeds

of approximately $383.9 million including net offering proceeds from the DRP of approximately $11.8 million As

of December 31 2012 substantially all of our net offering proceeds have been invested in real properties and related

assets and approximately 182.8 million shares remain available for sale to the public under the Initial Offering

exclusive of shares available under the DRP

We operate diversified portfolio of commercial real estate consisting primarily of high-quality income-generating

office properties located in the United States and leased or pre-leased to creditworthy companies We may invest in

office and industrial properties at all stages of development from those under construction to those with established

operating histories As of December 31 2012 we owned 13 office properties comprising approximately 2.6 million

square
feet of commercial space located in eight states As of December 31 2012 our office properties were

approximately 99.5% leased For additional information regarding our properties and significant tenants see Item

We have executed an agreement the Advisory Agreement with Wells Core Office Income REIT Advisory Services

LLC the Advisor under which the Advisor performs certain key functions on our behalf including among others

the investment of capital proceeds and management of day-to-day operations On September 19 2012 the Advisory

Agreement was renewed through June 102013 The Advisor is wholly owned subsidiary of Wells Real Estate Funds

Inc WREF and has contracted with Wells Capital Inc Wells Capital and Wells Management Company Inc

Wells Management also wholly owned subsidiaries of WREF to engage their employees to carry out the key

functions enumerated above



Our stock is not listed on public securities exchange However our charter requires that in the event our stock is not

listed on national securities exchange by July 31 2020 we must either seek stockholder approval to extend or amend

this listing deadline or seek stockholder approval to begin liquidating investments and distributing the resulting proceeds

to our stockholders If we seek stockholder approval to extend or amend this listing date and do not obtain it we will

then be required to seek stockholder approval to liquidate In this circumstance if we seek and do not obtain approval

to liquidate we will not be required to list or liquidate and could continue to operate indefinitely as an unlisted company

Real Estate Investment Objectives

Our primary investment objectives are to provide current income through cash distributions paid to our investors and

to preserve and return our investors capital contributions We also seek long-term capital appreciation from our

investments

Our investment philosophy emphasizes diversification of our portfolio for geographic locations tenants industry group

of tenants and timing of lease expirations Prior to acquisition we perform an assessment to ensure that our portfolio

is diversified with regard to these criteria to minimize the impact on our portfolio of significant factors affecting

single geographic area type of property tenant or industry group of tenants Additionally we analyze annual lease

expirations in an attempt to minimize the impact on the cash flows from operations of the portfolio as whole for

properties that may be vacant until re-leased Approximately 24% and 31% of our leases based on percentage of 2012

annualized base rent represented by such leases are due to expire in 2017 and 2019 respectively See Item for

additional information regarding the diversification of our portfolio as of December 31 2012

We have developed specific standards for determining creditworthiness of tenants of buildings being considered for

acquisition or at the time of signing new lease at an existing building Creditworthy tenants of the type we target are

highly valued in the marketplace and accordingly competition for acquiring properties with these creditworthy tenants

is intense We remain committed to investing in quality properties with creditworthy tenants

Generally we are responsible for the repair or replacement of specific structural components of property such as the

roof of the building or the parking lot However the majority of our leases include reimbursement provisions that

require the tenant to pay as additional rent all or portion of real estate taxes sales and use taxes special assessments

utilities insurance and building repairs and other building operation and management costs Such reimbursement

provisions mitigate the risks related to rising costs Upon the expiration of leases at our properties our objective is to

negotiate leases that contain similar reimbursement provisions however the conditions in each of our markets could

dictate different outcomes and may result in less favorable reimbursement provisions

Financing Objectives

To date we have financed our acquisitions through combination of equity raised under our Initial Offering and debt

proceeds We intend to generate additional equity proceeds from the sale of common stock under the Initial Offering

through its expected expiration on June 10 2013 and to use those proceeds along with additional borrowings to

invest in additional capital expenditures including improvements to our existing properties as well as potential future

real estate investments either directly or through investments in joint ventures and to satisfy our near-term debt

requirements If sufficient equity capital is not available our future investments in office and industrial properties will

be lower and/or our outstanding debt will be higher

Our charter limits our borrowings to 100% of our net assets However upon showing that higher level of debt is

appropriate we may borrow in excess of this limitation if such excess is approved by majority of the conflicts

committee of the board of directors the Conflicts Committee and disclosed to stockholders in our next quarterly

report along with an explanation of such excess Over the long term we have policy of keeping our debt at no more

than 50% of the cost of our assets before depreciation and amortization and ideally at significantly less than this

50% debt-to-real-estate-asset ratio This conservative leverage goal could reduce the amount of current income we

can generate for our stockholders but it also reduces their risk of loss We believe that preserving investor capital while

generating stable current income is in the best interest of our stockholders



Our working capital line of credit provides flexibility with regard to managing our capital resources The extent to

which we draw on our credit facility is driven primarily by timing differences between raising capital in the Initial

Offering through its expected expiration on June 10 2013 and identifying and closing on potential future property

acquisitions We currently intend to maintain amounts outstanding under our long-term debt arrangement so that we

will have more funds available for working capital and potential investment in additional real estate properties which

will allow us to further diversify our portfolio However our level of leverage will depend upon various factors to be

considered in the sole discretion of our board or directors including but not limited to our ability to raise equity

proceeds from the sale of our common stock under the Initial Offering our ability to pay distributions the availability

of real estate properties meeting our investment criteria the availability of debt and changes in the cost of debt

financing

As of December 31 2012 all of our debt outstanding was under variable-rate borrowing instruments Beginning

September 26 2013 the interest rate on $75 million of our variable-rate term loan will be effectively fixed through

an interest rate swap We closely monitor interest rates and will continue to consider the sources and terms of our

borrowing facilities to determine whether we have appropriately guarded against the risk of increasing interest rates

in future periods

Our debt-to-net-assets ratio defined as our total debt as percentage of our total gross assets less total liabilities was

approximately 59% as of December 31 2012 Our debt-to-real-estate-asset ratio that is the ratio of total debt to cost

basis of real estate assets prior to deducting depreciation and amortization as of December 312012 was approximately

38%

Operating Objectives

We will continue to focus on the following key operating factors

Actively managing our portfolio to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to meet our required

obligations and to provide current income through cash distributions to our investors

Raising sufficient amounts of capital to further diversify our portfolio while maintaining moderate debt-to-

real-estate-asset ratio over the long-term

Investing capital in high-quality income-producing properties that support market distribution

Ensuring that we enter into leases at market rents upon lease expiration or with regard to current or acquired

vacant space at our properties in order to receive the maximum returns on our properties permitted by the

market

Considering appropriate actions for future lease expirations to ensure that we can position properties

appropriately to retain existing tenants or negotiate lease amendments lengthening the term of the lease

resulting in the receipt of increased rents over the long term as allowed by the market and

Controlling administrative operating expenses as percentage of revenues by in part taking advantage of

economies of scale where available

Conflicts Committee Review of Our Policies

The Conflicts Committee has reviewed our policies and determined that they are in the best interest of our stockholders

Set forth below is discussion of the basis for that determination

In vestment Policies We focus our investment efforts on the acquisition of high-quality income-generating office and

industrial properties located in the United States and leased or pre-leased to creditworthy tenants and governmental

entities Although we may acquire other types of real estate this focus is preferred because we believe it best enables



us to achieve our goal of preserving investor capital and generating current income The Advisor has extensive expertise

with this type
of real estate

Working Capital Reserves We may from time to time temporarily set aside offering proceeds rather than pay down

debt or acquire properties in order to provide financial flexibility or in the event that suitable acquisitions are not

available While temporarily setting aside funds decreases the amount available to invest in real estate in the short term

and hence may temporarily decrease future net income we believe that it may be prudent under certain economic

conditions to have these funds available in addition to funds available from operations and borrowings Over the long

term we intend to use substantially all of our offering proceeds to invest in real estate

Borrowing Policies We have limitation on borrowing that precludes us from borrowing in excess of 100% of the

value of our net assets Net assets for purposes of this calculation is defined to be our total assets other than intangibles

valued at cost prior to deducting depreciation and amortization less total liabilities calculated quarterly by us on

basis consistently applied majority of our Conflicts Committee may approve higher level of borrowing upon

determining that substantial justification exists and disclosing such excess to our stockholders in our next quarterly

report along with an explanation for such excess Over the short term we have policy to temporarily draw on our

credit facility to bridge timing differences that may arise between our ability to raise equity under the Initial Offering

and to source suitable acquisition prospects Additionally we may place long-term debt on our existing properties and

those properties acquired in the future The percentage of short-term and long-term debt used in our capital structure

will depend on various factors to be considered in the sole discretion of our board of directors including but not limited

to our ability to raise equity proceeds from the sale of our common stock in our Initial Offering through its expected

expiration on June 10 2013 the availability of properties meeting our investment criteria the availability of debt and

changes in the cost of debt financing Over the long term we have policy of keeping our debt at no more than 50%

of the cost of our assets before depreciation and amortization and ideally at significantly less than this 50% debt-

to-real-estate-asset ratio This conservative leverage goal could reduce the amount of current income we can generate

for our stockholders but it also reduces their risk of loss We believe that preserving investor capital while generating

stable current income is in the best interest of our stockholders As of December 31 2012 our debt-to-net-assets ratio

was approximately 59% and our debt-to-real-estate-asset ratio was approximately 38%

Policies Regarding Operating Expenses We have the responsibility of limiting total operating expenses to no more

than the greater of 2% of our average invested assets or 25% of our net income as these terms are defined by our

charter unless the Conflicts Committee has determined that such excess expenses were justified based on unusual and

non-recurring factors For the four consecutive quarters ended December 312012 total operating expenses represented

1.8% of average invested assets and 18.8% of net income

Offering Policies We are conducting public offering of up to 200 million shares of common stock at $25 per share

with discounts available for certain categories of investors plus additional shares offered under our distribution

reinvestment plan We believe that such offering is in the best interest of our stockholders because it increases the

likelihood that we will be able to maintain moderate debt-to-real-estate-asset ratio over the long-term thereby

reducing risk in our portfolio and preserving investor capital and iiinvest in additional capital expenditures including

improvements to our existing properties as well as potential future real estate investments that will allow us to further

diversif our portfolio For the year ended December 31 2012 the ratio of the costs of raising capital to the amount

of capital raised was 11.0% On January 29 2012 our board of directors approved an extension of the termination

date of the Initial Offering from June 10 2012 to June 10 2013 On September 19 2012 our board of directors

determined that it is in our best interest not to conduct follow-on public offering of shares of our common stock

Therefore the Initial Offering is expected to terminate on June 10 2013 pursuant to its terms

Listing Policy We believe it is in the best interest of our stockholders to not consider listing our common shares on

national exchange until the Initial Offering has been terminated First remaining unlisted at this time improves our

ability to continue to raise new equity which may be used to pay down existing debt and/or to invest in additional

capital expenditures including improvements to our existing properties as well as potential future real estate

investments to further diversify our portfolio Second we believe it could be more cost-effective to remain unlisted

and re-evaluate costs with the Advisor at the present time than it would be to internalize all the resources necessary to

operate listed company Our charter requires that in the event our stock is not listed on national securities exchange



by July 31 2020 we must either seek stockholder approval to extend or amend this listing deadline or seek stockholder

approval to begin liquidating investments and distributing the resulting proceeds to our stockholders

Employees

We have no direct employees The employees of Wells Capital and Wells Management affiliates of the Advisor perform

substantially all of the services related to our asset management accounting investor relations and other administrative

activities The related expenses are allocated among us and the other programs for which Wells Capital and Wells

Management provide similar services based in part on time spent on each entity by personnel We reimburse Wells

Capital and Wells Management for our share of personnel and other costs associated with these services excluding

the cost of acquisition and disposition services for which we pay our Advisor separate fee Our allocable share of

administrative reimbursements totaled approximately $2.8 million $1.3 million and $0.2 million for the
years

ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively which is included in general and administrative expenses in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations Additionally we reimburse additional salaries as component

of organization and offering cost reimbursements See Note 10 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

for more information

Insurance

We believe that our properties are adequately insured

Competition

We are in competition with other investment programs to raise equity Our Initial Offering is being conducted on

best efforts basis whereby the participating brokers have no commitment or obligation to purchase any of our shares

If we are unable to raise substantial funds we will make fewer investments resulting in less diversification of our

portfolio and an increase in our fixed operating expenses as percentage of gross income Leasing of real estate is

highly competitive in the current market and we experience competition for high-quality tenants from owners and

managers of competing projects As result we may experience delays in re-leasing vacant space or we may have to

provide rent concessions incur charges for tenant improvements or offer other inducements to enable us to timely

lease vacant space all of which may have an adverse impact on our results of operations Also as we seek to acquire

properties we are in competition with other potential buyers for the same properties which may result in an increase

in the amount we must pay to acquire property or may require us to locate another property that meets our investment

criteria At the time we elect to dispose of our properties we will also be in competition with sellers of similar properties

to locate suitable purchasers

Operational Dependency

We have contracted with the Advisor Wells Management and Wells Investment Securities Inc WIS to provide

certain services that are essential to us including asset management services the supervision of the property

management and leasing of some properties owned by us asset acquisition and disposition services the sale of shares

of our common stock as well as other administrative responsibilities for us including accounting services stockholder

communications and investor relations In addition the Advisor has engaged Wells Capital to retain the use of its

employees to carry out certain of the services listed above As result of these relationships we are dependent upon

the Advisor Wells Capital Wells Management and WIS

The Advisor Wells Capital Wells Management and WIS are owned and controlled by WREF The operations of Wells

Capital WIS Wells Management the Advisor and their affiliates represent substantially all of the business of WREF

Accordingly we focus on the financial condition of WREF when assessing the financial condition of the Advisor

Wells Capital Wells Management and WIS In the event that WREF were to become unable to meet its obligations

as they become due we might be required to find alternative service providers

Future net income generated by WREF will be largely dependent upon the amount of fees earned by WREFs subsidiaries

based on among other things the level of investor proceeds raised and the volume of future acquisitions and dispositions



of real estate assets by us and other WREF-sponsored programs as well as distribution income earned from equity

interests in another REIT previously sponsored by Wells Capital As of December 31 2012 we have no reason to

believe that WREF does not have access to adequate liquidity and capital resources including cash flow generated

from operations cash on hand other investments and borrowing capacity necessary to meet its current and future

obligations as they become due Modifying service agreements between WREF or its affiliates and us or other WREF

sponsored programs could impact WREFs future net income and future access to liquidity and capital resources For

example large portion of WREFs income is derived under consulting agreement with Columbia Property Trust

Inc Columbia formerly known as Wells Real Estate Investment Trust II Inc Effective February 282013 Columbia

transitioned to self-management and indicated that it does not expect to rely on WREF for the same level of services

beyond December 31 2013 As such WREF does not expect to receive significant compensation from Columbia

beyond December 31 2013

Economic Dependency

We are dependent upon the ability of our tenants to pay their contractual rental amounts as they become due The

inability of tenant to pay future rental amounts would have negative impact on our results of operations We are

not aware of any reason why our current tenants will not be able to pay their contractual rental amounts as they become

due in all material respects Situations preventing our tenants from paying contractual rents could result in material

adverse impact on our results of operations

Assertion of Legal Action Against Related Parties

On March 12 2007 stockholder of Piedmont Office Realty Trust Inc Piedmont REIT filed putative class

action and derivative complaint presently styled In re Wells Real Estate Investment Trust Inc Securities Litigation

in the United States District Court for the District of Maryland against among others Piedmont REIT Leo Wells III

our President and director Wells Capital an affiliate of the Advisor Wells Management our property manager

certain affiliates of WREF the directors of Piedmont REIT and certain individuals who formerly served as officers

or directors of Piedmont REIT prior to the closing of the internalization transaction on April 16 2007

The complaint alleged among other things violations of the federal proxy rules and breaches of fiduciary duty arising

from the Piedmont REIT internalization transaction and the related proxy statement filed with the SEC on February 26

2007 as amended The complaint sought among other things unspecified monetary damages and nullification of the

Piedmont REIT internalization transaction

On June 27 2007 the plaintiff filed an amended complaint which attempted to assert class action claims on behalf

of those persons who received and were entitled to vote on the Piedmont REIT proxy statement filed with the SEC on

February 26 2007 and derivative claims on behalf of Piedmont REIT

On March 31 2008 the Court granted in part the defendants motion to dismiss the amended complaint The Court

dismissed five of the seven counts of the amended complaint in their entirety The Court dismissed the remaining two

counts with the exception of allegations regarding the failure to disclose in the Piedmont REIT proxy statement details

of certain expressions of interest in acquiring Piedmont REIT On April 21 2008 the plaintiff filed second amended

complaint which alleges violations of the federal proxy rules based upon allegations that the proxy statement to obtain

approval for the Piedmont REIT internalization transaction omitted details of certain expressions of interest in acquiring

Piedmont REIT The second amended complaint seeks among other things unspecified monetary damages to nullify

and rescind the internalization transaction and to cancel and rescind any stock issued to the defendants as consideration

for the internalization transaction On May 12 2008 the defendants answered and raised certain defenses to the second

amended complaint Subsequent to the filing of the second amended complaint the plaintiff has said it intends to seek

monetary damages of approximately $159 million plus prejudgment interest

On June 23 2008 the plaintiff filed motion for class certification On September 16 2009 the Court granted the

plaintiffs motion for class certification On September20 2009 the defendants filed petition for permission to appeal

immediately the Courts order granting the motion for class certification with the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals

The petition for permission to appeal was denied on October 30 2009



On April 13 2009 the plaintiff moved for leave to amend the second amended complaint to add additional defendants

The Court denied the plaintiffs motion for leave to amend on June 23 2009

On December 2009 the parties filed motions for summary judgment On August 2010 the Court entered an order

denying the defendants motion for summary judgment and granting in part the plaintiffs motion for partial summary

judgment The Court ruled that the question of whether certain expressions of interest in acquiring Piedmont REIT

constituted material information required to be disclosed in the proxy statement to obtain approval for the Piedmont

REIT internalization transaction raises questions of fact that must be determined at trial

On November 17 2011 the Court issued rulings granting several of the plaintiffs motions in limine to prohibit the

defendants from introducing certain evidence including evidence of the defendants reliance on advice from their

outside legal and financial advisors and limiting the defendants ability to relate their subjective views considerations

and observations during the trial of the case On February 232012 the Court granted several of the defendants motions

including motion for reconsideration regarding motion the plaintiff had filed seeking exclusion of certain evidence

impacting damages and motions seeking exclusion of certain evidence proposed to be submitted by the plaintiff

On March 20 2012 the Court granted the defendants leave to file motion for summary judgment On April 2012

the defendants filed motion for summaryjudgment On September 262012 the Court granted the defendants motion

for summary judgment and entered judgment in favor of the defendants On October 12 2012 the plaintiff filed

notice of appeal with the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals

On October 22 2012 Piedmont REIT announced that the parties reached an agreement in principle to settle the lawsuit

on October 12 2012 Under the terms of the proposed settlement the plaintiff will dismiss the appeal and release all

defendants from liability in exchange for total payment of $4.9 million in cash by Piedmont REIT and its insurer On

December 31 2012 the plaintiff filed motion for preliminary approval of the settlement with the Court On January

2013 the Court preliminarily approved the settlement and scheduled hearing for April 18 2013 to determine

whether to grant final approval of the settlement The settlement which is subject to Court approval following notice

to the class is expected to resolve the appeal and result in the final disposition of the case

Mr Wells Wells Capital and Wells Management believe that the allegations contained in the complaint are without

merit and intend to vigorously defend this action if for any reason the settlement is not approved Although WREF

believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims of liability and damages in these actions WREF is unable at this

time to predict the outcome of the appeal of this action or if the action is reinstated reasonably estimate range of

damages or how any liability and responsibility for damages might be allocated among the 17 defendants in the action

which includes 11 defendants not affiliated with Mr Wells Wells Capital or Wells Management The ultimate resolution

of this matter could have material adverse impact on WREFs financial results financial condition or liquidity

Website Address

Access to copies of each of our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on

Form 8-K proxy statements and other documents filed with or furnished to the SEC including amendments to

such filings may be obtained free of charge from our website at http//www weliscorere it corn or through link to

the SEC website hup//www.sec.gov These filings are available promptly after we file them with or furnish them

to the SEC

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Below are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those presented

in our forward-looking statements The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face but do

represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to our business operating results prospects and

financial condition Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial

may also harm our business
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Risks Related to an Investment in Us

No public market currently exists for our shares of common stock and we have no current plans to list our shares on

an exchange Ifyou are able to sell your shares you would likely have to sell them at substantial discount from their

public offering price

There is no current public market for our shares and we currently have no plans to list our shares on national securities

exchange You maynot sell your shares unless the buyer meets applicable suitability and minimum purchase standards

Any sale of your shares must also comply with applicable securities laws Our charter also prohibits the ownership of

more than 9.8% of our stock unless exempted by our board of directors which may inhibit large investors from desiring

to purchase your shares Moreover our share redemption program as amended includes numerous restrictions that

limit your ability to sell your shares to us and our board of directors may amend suspend or terminate our share

redemption program as amended upon 30 days notice Therefore it will be difficult for you to sell your shares

promptly or at all If you are able to sell your shares you will likely have to sell them at substantial discount to their

public offering price It is also likely that your shares will not be accepted as the primary collateral for loan You

should purchase our shares only as long-term investment because of the illiquid nature of the shares

We have limited operating histoiy which makes our future performance and the performance of your investment

dfJIcult to predict

Although we were incorporated in July 2007 we have limited operating history You should not rely upon the past

performance of other Wells-sponsored real estate programs Such past performance may not predict our future results

Our lack of an extensive operating history significantly increases the risk and uncertainty you face in making an

investment in our shares

Ifwe are unable tojIndsuitable investments we may not be able to achieve our investment objectives orpay distributions

We will be competing to acquire suitable real estate investments with other REITs real estate limited partnerships

pension funds and their advisors bank and insurance company investment accounts and other entities Many of our

competitors have greater financial resources and greater ability to borrow funds to acquire properties than we do

We carmot be sure that the Advisor will be successful in obtaining suitable investments on financially attractive terms

or that if the Advisor makes investments on our behalf our objectives will be achieved The more money we raise in

the Initial Offering the greater
will be our challenge to invest all of the net offering proceeds on attractive terms

Therefore the large size of the Initial Offering increases the risk that we may pay too much for real estate acquisitions

If we through the Advisor are unable to find suitable investments promptly we will hold the proceeds from the Initial

Offering in an interest-bearing account or invest the proceeds in short-term investment-grade investments and may

ultimately liquidate In the event we are unable to timely locate suitable investments we may be unable or limited in

our ability to make distributions

If we raise substantial offering proceeds in short period of time we may not be able to invest all of the net offering

proceeds promptly which may cause our distributions and the long-term returns to our investors to be lower than they

otherwise would

We could suffer from delays in locating suitable investments The more money we raise in the Initial Offering the

more difficult it will be to invest the net offering proceeds promptly Therefore the large size of the Initial Offering

increases the risk of delays in investing our net offering proceeds Our reliance on the Advisor to locate suitable

investments for us at timeswhen the management of the Advisor is simultaneously seeking to locate suitable investments

for other affiliated programs could also delay the investment of the proceeds of the Initial Offering Delays we encounter

in the selection acquisition and development of income-producing properties would likely limit our ability to pay

distributions to you and reduce your overall returns In particular when we acquire properties prior to the start of

construction or during the early stages of construction it will typically take several months to complete construction

and rent available space Therefore you could suffer delays in the distribution of cash distributions attributable to those
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particular properties You should expect to wait several months after the closing of property acquisition before we

are in position to pay cash distributions attributable to such property

Disruptions in the financial markets and challenging economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to secure

debt financing on attractive terms our ability to service any future indebtedness that we may incur and the values of

our investments

Despite improved access to capital for some companies the capital and credit markets continue to be affected by

extreme volatility and disruption during the past four years The health of the global capital markets remains concern

The banking industry has been experiencing improved earnings but the relatively low growth economic environment

has caused the markets to question whether financial institutions are truly appropriately capitalized The downgrade

of the U.S government debt has increased these concerns especially for the larger money center banks Smaller

financial institutions have continued to work with borrowers to amend and extend existing loans however as these

loans reach maturity there is the potential for future credit losses The FDICs list of troubled financial institutions is

still quite large and the threat of more bank closings will weigh heavily on the financial markets

Liquidity in the global credit market has been severely contracted by market disruptions and new lending is expected

to remain subdued in the near term We have relied on debt financing to finance some of our office properties As

result of the uncertainties in the credit market we may not be able to refinance our existing indebtedness or to obtain

additional debt financing on attractive terms If we are not able to refinance existing indebtedness on attractive terms

at its maturity we may be forced to dispose of some of our assets

Further disruptions in the financial markets and uncertain economic conditions could adversely affect the values of

our investments Turmoil in the capital markets has constrained equity and debt capital available for investment in

commercial real estate resulting in fewer buyers seeking to acquire commercial properties and possible increases in

capitalization rates and lower property values Furthermore declining economic conditions could negatively impact

commercial real estate fundamentals and result in lower occupancy lower rental rates and declining values in our real

estate portfolio and in the collateral securing our loan investments which could have the following negative effects

on us

the values of our investments in office properties could decrease below the amounts we paid for such

investments

the value of collateral securing any loan investment that we may make could decrease below the outstanding

principal amounts of such loans

revenues from properties we acquire could decrease due to lower rental rates making it more difficult for us

to pay distributions or meet our debt service obligations on future debt financings and

revenues on the properties and other assets underlying any loan investments we may make could decrease

making it more difficult for the borrower to meet its payment obligations to us

All of these factors could impair our ability to make distributions to our investors and decrease the value of an investment

in us

Based on sales volume to date we do not believe that we are likely to raise the midpoint offering amount as set forth

in the prospectus for our Initial Offering If we raise less than the midpoint offering amount we will not be able to

invest in as diverse portfolio ofproperties as we otherwise would which may cause the value of our stockholders

investments to vary more widely with the performance of specf Ic assets and cause our general and administrative

expenses to constitute greater percentage of our revenue Raising fewer proceeds in the Initial Offering therefore

could increase the risk that stockholders will lose money in their investments

The Initial Offering is being made on best efforts basis whereby the broker-dealers participating in the Initial

Offering have no firm commitment or obligation to purchase any of the shares To date the proceeds we have raised

in the Initial Offering are lower than our sponsor and WIS originally expected We do not believe that it is likely that
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we will raise the midpoint offering amount If our monthly sales volume for the last 12 months were maintained

through the end of the Initial Offering our total
gross proceeds would be approximately $537 million

We are not limited in the number or size of our investments or the percentage of net proceeds we may dedicate to

single investment If WIS is unable to significantly increase the amount of proceeds raised in the Initial Offering we

will make fewer investments than originally intended resulting in less diversification in terms of the number of

investments owned the geographic regions in which our investments are located the industries in which our tenants

operate and the length of lease terms with our tenants In that case adverse developments with respect to single

property geographic region small number of tenants tenant industry or rental rates when we renew or re-lease

property would have greater adverse impact on our operations than they otherwise would In addition our inability

to raise substantial funds would increase our fixed operating expenses as percentage of our revenue reducing our

net income and limiting our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders

If we pay distributions from sources other than our cash flow from operations we may not be able to sustain our

distribution rate and we may have lessfunds availablefor investment in properties and other assets andourstockholders

overall returns may be reduced

Our organizational documents permit us to pay distributions from any source and we have not established limits on

the amount of net proceeds borrowings or cash advances we may use to pay such distributions If we fund distributions

from borrowings the net proceeds from the Initial Offering or sources other than cash flow from operations we will

have less funds available for investment in real estate properties the value of our shares is more likely to fall below

the net proceeds per share from the Initial Offering and stockholders overall return may be reduced At times we

may be forced to borrow funds to pay distributions during unfavorable market conditions or during periods when funds

from operations are needed to fund capital expenditures and other expenses which could increase our operating costs

Furthermore if we cannot cover our distributions with cash flow from operations over the long term we maybe unable

to sustain our distribution rate For the year ended December 31 2012 approximately 81% of our distributions was

funded from generally accepted accounting principles GAAP cash flow from operations and approximately 19%

was funded from borrowings

Our loss of or inability to obtain key personnel could delay or hinder implementation of our investment strategies

which could limit our ability to make distributions and decrease the value ofyour investment

Our success depends to significant degree upon the contributions of Leo Wells III Douglas Williams Robert

Kennedy and Brian Davis each of whom would be difficult to replace We cannot guarantee that such persons

will remain affiliated with us the Advisor or its affiliates If any of these key personnel were to cease their affiliation

with us the Advisor or its affiliates we may be unable to find suitable replacement personnel and our operating results

could suffer as result We do not intend to maintain key person life insurance on any person We believe that our

future success depends in large part upon the Advisors and our property managers ability to hire and retain highly

skilled managerial operational and marketing personnel Competition for such personnel is intense and the Advisor

and any property managers we retain may be unsuccessful in attracting and retaining such skilled personnel Further

we have established and intend to establish strategic relationships with firms that have special expertise in certain

services or as to real properties in certain geographic regions Maintaining such relationships will be important for us

to effectively compete with other investors for properties in such regions We may be unsuccessful in attracting and

retaining such relationships Ifwe lose or are unable to obtain the services of highly skilled personnel or do not establish

or maintain appropriate strategic relationships our ability to implement our investment strategies could be delayed or

hindered

We are dependent upon affiliates of WREP includingouradvisoi Wells Management and WIS to conduct our operations

and our Initial Offering thus adverse changes in the financial health of WREF could hinder the Advisor Wells

Managements and WIS ability to provide these services to us and consequently impair our operating results and

negatively affect the return on our stockholders investment

We are dependent upon the Advisor Wells Management and WIS which are owned and controlled by WREF to

provide certain services that are essential to us including asset management services the supervision of the property
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management and leasing of some properties owned by us asset acquisition and disposition services the sale of shares

of our common stock as well as other administrative responsibilities for us including accounting services stockholder

communications and investor relations While WREF has established finance sources it is largely dependent upon

the fees and other compensation that it receives from the public programs it sponsors including us to conduct its

operations large portion of WREFs income is derived under consulting agreement with Columbia Columbia is

mature program previously sponsored by WREF that has approximately $5.7 billion of assets as of December 31

2012 Effective February 28 2013 Columbia transitioned to self-management and indicated that it does not expect to

rely on WREF for the same level of services beyond December 31 2013 As such WREF does not expect to receive

significant compensation from Columbia beyond December 31 2013 When Columbia reduces the compensation it

pays to WREF WREFs income will be significantly affected WREF does not expect to replace that income from

other sources Although we expect WREF to have the financial resources to continue to provide asset-management

and advisory services to us its ability to fund WIS will be greatly diminished As result we may have fewer options

with respect to future capital raising

Additionally affiliates of the Advisor serve as general partner to many Wells-sponsored limited partnership programs

Those affiliates may have contingent liability for the obligations of such partnerships Enforcement of such obligations

against the Advisors affiliates could result in substantial reduction of their net worth If such liabilities affected the

level of services that our advisor could provide our operations and financial performance could suffer

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover claims against our independent directors are limited which

could reduce your and our recoveiy against them they negligently cause us to incur losses

Maryland law provides that director has no liability in that capacity if he performs his duties in good faith in manner

he reasonably believes to be in our best interest and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in like position

would use under similar circumstances Our charter provides that no independent director shall be liable to us or our

stockholders for monetary damages and that we will generally indemnify them for losses unless they are grossly

negligent or engage in willful misconduct As result you and we mayhave more limited rights against our independent

directors than might otherwise exist under common law which could reduce your and our recovery from these persons

if they act in negligent manner In addition we maybe obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our independent

directors as well as by our other directors officers employees and agents in some cases which would decrease the

cash otherwise available for distributions to you

We may change our targeted investments without stockholder consent

We expect our portfolio of investments in commercial real estate to consist primarily of high-quality income-generating

office and industrial properties leased to creditworthy companies and governmental entities including properties at

all stages of development or construction and new properties As between office and industrial properties we expect

industrial properties to constitute no more than 10% of our portfolio after completion of our offering stage with office

properties constituting the remainder of our portfolio Though this is our current target portfolio we may make

adjustments to our target portfolio based on real estate market conditions and investment opportunities and we may

change our targeted investments and investment guidelines at any time without the consent of our stockholders which

could result in our making investments that are different from and possibly riskier than the investments described in

the prospectus for our Initial Offering change in our targeted investments or investment guidelines may increase

our exposure to interest rate risk default risk and real estate market fluctuations all of which could adversely affect

the value of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to you

If we internalize our management functions we could incur signfIcant costs including litigation costs your interest

in us could be diluted and our operations could suffer

At some point in the future we may consider becoming self-managed by internalizing the functions performed for

us by the Advisor and its affiliates particularly if we seek to list our shares on national securities exchange The

method by which we could internalize these functions could take many forms We mayhire our own group of executives

and other employees and purchase information technology and other infrastructure necessary for our business The
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individuals and assets may or maynot be affiliated with our advisor and maybe hired or acquired in separate negotiations

or as group We may choose to hire the individuals who are most familiar with our business and to acquire the

infrastructure that our business then utilizes by entering into business combination transaction with the Advisor or

one of its affiliates

If we hire non-affiliates to become our executives and employees their lack of familiarity with our portfolio and

business could adversely affect our operations and the value of your investment However even if we purchase the

Advisor or hire individuals familiar with us we are not likely to secure the services of all of the individuals who

perform services on our behalf Therefore our operations may also suffer even if we hire those who are familiar with

our business In addition if we become self-managed by acquiring the Advisor or an entity affiliated with our Advisor

or third-party real estate asset management company the consideration for such business combination could be

significant Piedmont REIT transferred 6504550 shares of common stock after reflecting 1-for-3 reverse stock

split which traded between $14.37 per share and $21.32 per share from the start of trading on February 10 2010

through December 31 2012 to acquire affiliates of its advisor Such an acquisition could dilute your interest in us or

otherwise adversely affect the value of your investment in us

Finally business combination with the Advisor or one of its affiliates may be the subject of litigation Even if these

claims are without merit we could be forced to spend significant amounts to defend claims which litigation costs

would reduce the amount of funds available for us to invest in real estate assets or to pay distributions As of the date

of this Form 10-K Piedmont REIT is defendant to lawsuit filed in connection with its internalization transaction

If we decide to list our common stock on national securities exchange we may wish to lower our distribution rate

in order to optimize the price at which our shares would trade

If we are able to raise sufficient offering proceeds to acquire large enough portfolio our board of directors has the

option to effect liquidity event by listing our common stock on national securities exchange If such an election

were to occur reduction in the distribution rate could occur with or in advance of listing as the public market for

listed REITs appears to reward those that have more conservative distribution policy

material portion of our leases are due to expire around the same period of time which will likely cause loss in

the value ofyour investment until the affected properties are re-leased ii increase our exposure to downturns in the

real estate market during the time that we are trying to re-lease such space and iii increase our capital expenditure

requirements during the re-leasing period

Approximately 24% and 31% of our leases based on percentage of 2012 annualized base rent represented by such

leases are due to expire in 2017 and 2019 respectively Most of this space is in single-tenant buildings As the date

of the expiration of lease for single-tenant building approaches the value of the property generally declines because

of the risk that the building may not be re-leased upon expiration of the existing lease or may not be re-leased on terms

as favorable as those of the current leases Therefore if we were to list or liquidate our portfolio prior to the favorable

re-leasing of the space referenced you would likely suffer loss on your investment You may also suffer loss and

reduction in distributions after the expiration of the lease terms if we are not able to re-lease such space on favorable

terms These expiring leases therefore increase your risk to real estate downturns during and approaching these

periods of concentrated lease expirations In addition we are likely to have to spend significant capital in order to

ready the space for new tenants To meet our need for cash at this timewe may have to increase borrowings or reduce

our distributions or both
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Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

The Adviso Wells Capital and Wells Management face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase and leasing of

properties and such conflicts may not be resolved in our favoi i.e the Advisor may offer us less attractive investment

opportunities or we may lease to less attractive tenants lowering your overall return

We rely on the Advisor and Wells Capital to identif suitable investment opportunities Other Wells-sponsored programs

also rely on Wells Capital for investment opportunities Many investment opportunities would be suitable for us as

well as other Wells-sponsored programs If the Advisor and its affiliates direct an investment opportunity to Wells-

sponsored program it is to offer the investment opportunity to the program for which the opportunity in the discretion

of the Advisor is most suitable Our charter provides that for so long as we are externally managed it is not proper

purpose of ours to make any significant investment unless the Advisor has recommended that we make the investment

In addition we may rely on Wells Management to attract and retain creditworthy tenants for some of our properties

Other Wells-sponsored programs rely on Wells Management for the same tasks The Advisor and its affiliates could

direct attractive investment opportunities to other entities or even make such investments for its own account Wells

Management could direct attractive tenants to other entities Such events could result in our investing in properties

that provide less attractive returns or leasing properties to tenants that are more likely to default under their leases

thus reducing the level of distributions we may be able to pay you

The Advisor faces conflicts of interest relating to joint ventures that we may form with affiliates of the Adviso which

conflicts could result in disproportionate benefit to the other venture partners at our expense

We may enter into joint venture agreements with other Wells-sponsored programs for the acquisition development

or improvement of properties The Advisor may have conflicts of interest in determining which Wells-sponsored

program should enter into any particular joint venture agreement The co-venturer may have economic or business

interests or goals that are or may become inconsistent with our business interests or goals In addition the Advisor

may face conflict in structuring the terms of the relationship between our interests and the interests of the affiliated

co-venturer and in managing the joint venture Since the Advisor and its affiliates will control both the affiliated co

venturer and to certain extent us agreements and transactions between the co-venturers with respect to any such

joint venture will not have the benefit of arms-length negotiation of the type normally conducted between unrelated

co-venturers Co-venturers may thus benefit to our and your detriment

The Advisoi its affiliates and our officers face competing demands on their time and this may cause our operations

and your investment to suffer

We rely on the Advisor and its affiliates for the day-to-day operation of our business The Advisor and its affiliates

including our officers have interests in other Wells-sponsored programs and engage in other business activities As

result they have conflicts of interest in allocating their time among us and other Wells-sponsored programs and activities

in which they are involved During times of intense activity in other programs and ventures they may devote less time

and fewer resources to our business than are necessary or appropriate to manage our business If this occurs the returns

on our investments and the value of your investment may decline Furthermore some or all of these individuals may
become employees of another Wells-sponsored program in an internalization transaction or if we internalize the

Advisor may not become our employees as result of their relationship with other Wells-sponsored programs If these

events occur the returns on our investments and the value of your investment may decline

The Advisor and its affiliates face conflicts of interest including sign/icant conflicts created by compensation

arrangements with us and other Wells-sponsored programs which could result in actions that are not in your long

term best interest

The Advisor and its affiliates will receive substantial fees from us These fees could influence the Advisors advice to

us as well as the judgment of the affiliates of the Advisor who serve as our officers or directors Among other matters

the compensation arrangements could affect their judgment with respect to

16



the continuation renewal or enforcement of our agreements with the Advisor and its affiliates including the

advisory agreement the dealer-manager agreement and the property management leasing and construction

management agreement

public offerings of equity by us which entitle WIS to dealer-manager fees and entitle the Advisor to increased

acquisition and asset management fees

property sales which entitle the Advisor to real estate commissions and possible success-based fees

property acquisitions from other Wells-sponsored programs which might entitle the Advisor to real estate

commissions and possible success-based fees in connection with its services for the seller

property acquisitions from third parties which utilize proceeds from the Initial Offering thereby increasing

the likelihood of continued equity offerings and related fee income for WIS and the Advisor

whether and when we seek to become self-managed which could lead to our acquisition of the Advisor at

substantial price

whether and when we seek to list our common stock on national securities exchange which listing could

entitle the Advisor to success-based listing fee but could also adversely affect sales efforts for other Wells-

sponsored programs depending on the price at which the shares trade and

whether and when we seek to sell the company or its assets which sale could entitle the Advisor to success-

based fee but could also adversely affect sales efforts for other Wells-sponsored programs depending upon the

sales price of the company or its assets

The acquisition fees paid to the Advisor and management and leasing fees paid to its affiliate Wells Management are

paid irrespective of the quality of their acquisition or property-management services during the term of the related

agreement Moreover the Advisor and Wells Management have considerable discretion with respect to the terms and

timing of acquisition disposition
and leasing transactions Considerations relating to their compensation from other

programs could result in decisions that are not in your best interest which could hurt our ability to pay you distributions

or result in decline in the value of your investment

Two of our officers have loyalties to other Wells-sponsored programs which loyalties could influence theirjudgment

resulting in actions that are not in our stockholders best interest or that disproportionately benefit another Wells-

sponsored program at our expense

Two of our officers and one of our directors are also directors and/or officers of Wells Timberland REIT Inc REIT

currently sponsored by WREF and Columbia REIT previously sponsored by WREF Their loyalties to other Wells-

sponsored programs may influence their judgment when making recommendations to our board of directors with

respect to matters that may affect other Wells-sponsored programs such as the following

We could enter into transactions with other Wells-sponsored programs such as property sales or acquisitions

joint ventures or financing arrangements Recommendations to the board regarding the terms of those

transactions may be influenced by an officers loyalties to other Wells-sponsored programs

recommendation to the board regarding the timing of debt or equity offering could be influenced by an

officers concern that the offering would compete with an offering of other Wells-sponsored programs

recommendation to the board regarding the timing of property sales could be influenced by an officers

concern that the sales would compete with those of other Wells-sponsored programs
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Risks Related to the Initial Offering and Our Corporate Structure

No investor may own more than 9.8% of our stock unless exempted by our board of directors which may discourage

takeover that could otherwise result in premium price to our stockholders

Our charter with certain exceptions authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to

preserve our qualification as REIT Unless exempted by our board of directors no person may own more than 9.8%

of our outstanding common stock This restriction may have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing change

in control of us including an extraordinary transaction such as merger tender offer or sale of all or substantially

all of our assets that might provide premium price for holders of our common stock

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock with terms that may subordinate the rights of our common

stockholders or discourage third party from acquiring us in manner that could result in premiumprice to our

stockholders

Our board of directors may classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred stock and establish the

preferences conversion or other rights voting powers restrictions and limitations as to distributions qualifications

and terms or conditions of redemption of any such stock Thus our board of directors could authorize the issuance of

preferred stock with terms and conditions that could have priority as to distributions and amounts payable upon

liquidation over the rights of the holders of our common stock Such preferred stock could also have the effect of

delaying deferring or preventing change in control of us including an extraordinary transaction such as merger
tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets that might provide premiumprice to holders of our common

stock

You will have limited control over changes in our policies and operations which increases the uncertainty and risks

you face as stockholder

Our board of directors determines our major policies including our policies regarding investment strategies financing

REIT qualification and distributions Our board of directors may amend or revise these and other policies without

your vote Under Maryland General Corporation Law and our charter you have right to vote only on limited matters

Our boards broad discretion in setting policies and your inability to exert control over those policies increase the

uncertainty and risks you face as stockholder

You may not be able to sell your shares under the share redemption program as amended and fyou are able to sell

your shares under the program you may not be able to recover the amount ofyour investment in our shares

Our board of directors has adopted share redemption program as amended but there are significant conditions and

limitations that limit your ability to sell your shares under the program In addition our board of directors may amend

suspend or terminate our share redemption program upon 30 days notice and without stockholder approval

Only shares held by the original purchaser from the company or shares transferred other than for value by the original

purchaser and all subsequent holders may participate in the share redemption program In other words once

stockholder sells his or her shares all subsequent transferees of those shares are excluded from participating in the

share redemption program Except with respect to redemptions sought within two years
of stockholders death or

qualifying disability you would have to hold your shares for at least one year in order to participate in our share

redemption program The share redemption program limits the number of shares that we may redeem under the program

as follows

We may not redeem shares on any redemption date to the extent that such redemptions would cause the amount

paid for Ordinary Redemptions redemptions not sought within two years of an investors death or qualifying

disability during the 12-month period ending on such redemption date to exceed 50% of the net proceeds

from the sale of shares under our distribution reinvestment plan during such 2-month period
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We will limit all redemptions so that the aggregate of such redemptions during the 12-month period ending

on such redemption date does not exceed

100% of the net proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan during such 12-month period or

5% of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in such 12-month period

These limits may prevent us from accommodating all redemption requests made in any year The initial price at which

we will repurchase share under the share redemption program is 91% of the price at which we sold the share or

$22.75 per share for share issued at $25.00 These restrictions would severely limit your ability to sell your shares

should you require liquidity and could limit your ability to recover the value you invested

The offering price of our shares was not established in reliance on valuation of our assets and liabilities the current

value of your investment may be less than the net proceeds we receive from the sale of shares We intend to use the

most recent price paid to acquire share in our Initial Offering or follow-on public offering as the estimated value

of our shares until we have completed our offering stage Even when our advisor begins to use other valuation methods

to estimate the value of our shares the value of our shares will be based upon number of assumptions that may not

be accurate or complete

We established the offering price of our shares on an arbitrary basis The selling price of our shares bears no relationship

to our book or asset values or to any other established criteria for valuing shares If we were to sell our assets at this

time in an orderly liquidation you would receive substantially less than $25.00 per share and may receive less than

our net offering proceeds of $21.63 per share for the following reasons we pay high up front fees in connection

with the issuance of our shares ii material portion of our leases are due to expire in 2017 and 2019 iii we have

paid distributions to stockholders in excess of our cash flow from operations and iv we have raised fewer offering

proceeds than expected resulting in higher fixed operating expenses as percentage of our revenue

To assist members of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA and their associated persons that

participate in this offering pursuant to FINRA Rule 2310 we disclose in each annual report distributed to stockholders

per share estimated value of our shares the method by which it was developed and the date of the data used to

develop the estimated value For this purpose the Advisor estimated the value of our common shares as $25.00 per

share as of December 31 2012 The basis for this valuation is the fact that the offering price of our shares of common

stock in this offering is $25.00 per share ignoring purchase price discounts for certain categories of purchasers The

Advisor has indicated that it intends to use the most recent price paid to acquire share in this offering ignoring

purchase price discounts for certain categories of purchasers or follow-on public offering as its estimated per share

value of our shares until we have completed our offering stage We will consider our offering stage complete when

we are no longer publicly offering equity securities whether through this offering or follow-on public offerings and

have not done so for up to 18 months If our board of directors determines that it is in our best interest we may conduct

follow-on offerings upon the termination of this offering Our charter does not restrict our ability to conduct offerings

in the future For purposes of this definition we do not consider public equity offering to include offerings on

behalf of selling stockholders or offerings related to dividend reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the

redemption of interests in Wells Core OP

Although this initial estimated value represents the most recent price at which most investors are willing to purchase

shares in this offering this reported value is likely to differ from the price that stockholder would receive in the near

term upon resale of his or her shares or upon liquidation of the our assets because there is no public trading

market for the shares at this time ii the $25.00 primary offering price involves the payment of underwriting

compensation and other directed selling efforts which payments and efforts are likely to produce higher sale price

than could otherwise be obtained iii estimated value does not reflect and is not derived from the fair market value

of our assets because the amount of proceeds available for investment from the primary portion of our Initial Offering

is net of selling commissions dealer manager fees other organization and offering costs and acquisition and origination

fees and expenses iv the estimated value does not take into account how market fluctuations affect the value of our

investments including how the recent disruptions in the financial and real estate markets may affect the values of our
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investments and the estimated value does not take into account how developments related to individual assets may

have increased or decreased the value of our portfolio

When determining the estimated value of our shares by methods other than the last price paid to acquire share in an

offering the Advisor or another firm we choose for that purpose will estimate the value of our shares based upon

number of assumptions that may not be accurate or complete Accordingly these estimates may or may not be an

accurate reflection of the fair market value of our investments and will not likely represent the amount of net proceeds

that would result from an immediate sale of our assets

The actual value of shares that we repurchase under our share redemption program may be substantially less than

what we pay

Under our share redemption program shares may be repurchased at varying prices depending on the purchase price

paid for the shares The maximum price that may currently be paid under the program is $22.75 per share which is

91% of the offering price of our shares of common stock in the primary portion of the Initial Offering ignoring purchase

price discounts for certain categories of purchasers is likely to be greater than from the price at which stockholder

could resell his or her shares for the reasons discussed in the risk factor above Thus when we repurchase shares of

our common stock at $22.75 per share the actual value of the shares that we repurchase maybe less and the repurchase

is likely to be dilutive to our remaining stockholders Even at lower repurchase prices the actual value of the shares

may be substantially less than what we pay and the repurchase may be dilutive to our remaining stockholders

Because the dealer-manager is one of our affiliates you will not have the benefit of an independent due diligence

review of us which is customarily performed in underwritten offerings the absence of an independent due diligence

review increases the risks and uncertainty you face

The dealer-manager WIS is one of our affiliates and will not make an independent review of us or the Initial Offering

Accordingly you do not have the benefit of an independent review of the terms of the Initial Offering Further the

due diligence investigation ofus by the dealer-manager cannot be considered to be an independent review and therefore

may not be as meaningful as review conducted by an unaffiliated broker/dealer

Your interest in us will be diluted we issue additional shares which could reduce the overall value ofyour investment

Existing stockholders and potential investors in the Initial Offering do not have preemptive rights to any shares we

issue in the future Our charter authorizes us to issue 1010000000 shares of capital stock of which

1000000000 shares are designated as common stock and 10000000 are designated as preferred stock Our board

of directors may increase the number of authorized shares of capital stock without stockholder approval After your

purchase in the Initial Offering our board may elect to sell additional shares in the Initial Offering or future public

offerings issue equity interests in private offerings issue shares of our common stock under an incentive

compensation equity award plan to our independent directors or to employees of the Advisor or its affiliates issue

shares to the Advisor its successors or assigns in payment of an outstanding fee obligation or as consideration in

related-party transaction or issue shares of our common stock to sellers of properties we acquire in connection

with an exchange of limited partnership interests of Wells Core OP To the extent we issue additional equity interests

after your purchase in the Initial Offering your percentage ownership interest in us will be diluted Further depending

upon the terms of such transactions most notably the offering price per share which may be less than the price paid

per share in the Initial Offering and the value of our properties existing stockholders may also experience dilution

in the book value of their investment in us

We pay substantial fees and expenses to the Advisor its affiliates and participating broker/dealers which payments

increase the risk that you will not earn profit on your investment

The Advisor its affiliates and participating broker/dealers perform services for us in connection with the offer and

sale of our shares The Advisor and its affiliates also perform services for us in connection with the selection and

acquisition of our investments the management and leasing of our properties and the administration of our other
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investments We pay them substantial up-front fees for some of these services which will result in immediate dilution

to the value of your investment and will reduce the amount of cash available for investment in properties or distribution

to you Largely as result of these substantial fees we expect that for each share sold in the primary offering of the

Initial Offering other than pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan assuming we sell the maximum offering

no more than $22.0 15 will be available for the purchase of real estate depending primarily upon the number of shares

we sell

We also pay significant fees to the Advisor and its affiliates during our operational stage Those fees include asset

management fees and obligations to reimburse the Advisor and its affiliates for expenses they incur in connection with

their providing services to us including certain personnel services We may also pay significant fees during our listing

liquidation stage Although most of the fees payable during our listing/liquidation stage are contingent on our investors

first enjoying agreed-upon investment returns affiliates of the Advisor could also receive significant payments even

without our reaching the investment-return thresholds should we seek to become self-managed Due to the apparent

preference of the public markets for self-managed companies decision to list our shares on national securities

exchange might well be preceded by decision to become self-managed And given the Advisors familiarity with our

assets and operations we might prefer to become self-managed by acquiring the Advisor Such an internalization

transaction could result in significant payments to affiliates of the Advisor irrespective of whether you enjoyed the

returns on which we have conditioned other back-end compensation and we will not be required to seek stockholder

vote to become self-managed

These fees and other potential payments increase the risk that the amount available for distribution to common

stockholders upon liquidatiOn of our portfolio would be less than the purchase price of the shares in the Initial Offering

Substantial consideration paid to the Advisor and its affiliates also increases the risk that you will not be able to resell

your shares at profit even if our shares are listed on national securities exchange

If we are unable to obtain fundingforfuture capital needs cash distributions to you and the value of our investments

could decline

When tenants do not renew their leases or otherwise vacate their space we will often need to expend substantial funds

for tenant improvements to the vacated space in order to attract replacement tenants Even when tenants do renew their

leases we may agree to make improvements to their space as part of our negotiation In addition although we expect

that our leases with tenants will require tenants to pay routine property maintenance costs we will likely be responsible

for any major structural repairs such as repairs to the foundation exterior walls and rooftops

We will use substantially all of the Initial Offerings gross proceeds to buy properties and pay various fees and expenses

We do not intend to reserve significant proceeds from the Initial Offering for future capital needs Accordingly if we

need significant capital in the future to improve or maintain our properties or for any other reason we will have to

obtain financing from other sources such as cash flow from operations borrowings property sales or future equity

offerings These sources of funding may not be available on attractive terms or at all If we cannot procure additional

funding for capital improvements our investments may generate lower cash flows or decline in value or both which

would limit our ability to make distributions to you and could reduce the value of your investment

You may be more likely to sustain loss on your investment because our sponsor does not have as strong an economic

incentive to avoid losses as do sponsors who have made signIcant equity investments in their company

Our sponsor has invested only approximately $200000 in us primarily by purchasing 8000 shares of common stock

in us at $25.00 per share before our initial public offering Therefore if we are successful in raising enough proceeds

to be able to reimburse our sponsors for the significant organization and offering expenses of the Initial Offering our

sponsors have little exposure to loss Without this exposure our investors may be at greater risk of loss because our

sponsors do not have as much to lose from decrease in the value of our shares as do those sponsors who make more

significant equity investments in their companies
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Our board of directors has opted out of certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law relating to

deterring or defending hostile takeovers Although we will not currently be afforded this protection our board of

directors could opt into these provisions of Maryland law in the future which may discourage others from trying to

acquire control of us and may prevent you from receiving premium price for their stock in connection with business

combination

Under Maryland law business combinations between Maryland corporation and certain interested stockholders

or affiliates of interested stockholders are prohibited for five years
after the most recent date on which the interested

stockholder becomes an interested stockholder These business combinations include merger consolidation share

exchange or in circumstances specified in the statute an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities

Also under Maryland law control shares of Maryland corporation acquired in control share acquisition have no

voting rights except to the extent approved by vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter Shares

owned by the acquirer an officer of the corporation or an employee of the corporation who is also director of the

corporation are excluded from the vote on whether to accord voting rights to the control shares Should our board opt

into these provisions of Maryland law it may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the

difficulty of consummating any offer

Similarly provisions of Title Subtitle of the Maryland General Corporation Law could provide similar anti-

takeover protection

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Economic market and regulatory changes that impact the real estate market generally may cause our operating

results to suffer and decrease the value of our properties

Our operating results will be subject to risks generally incident to the ownership of real estate including

changes in general or local economic conditions

changes in the supply of or demand for similar or competing properties in an area

changes in interest rates and the availability of permanent mortgage financing which may render the sale of

property or loan difficult or unattractive

changes in tax real estate environmental and zoning laws and

periods of high interest rates and tight money supply

Any of the above factors or combination thereof could result in decrease in the value of our properties which would

have an adverse effect on our operations on our ability to pay distributions to you and on the value of your investment

Properties that have sign tficant vacancies could be dfJIcult to sell which could diminish the return on your investment

property may incur vacancies either by the continued default of tenants under their leases or the expiration of tenant

leases If vacancies continue for long period of time we may suffer reduced revenues resulting in less cash available

to distribute to you In addition because the value of propertys lease has significant impact on that propertys

market value the resale value of propertywith high or prolonged vacancies could suffer which could further reduce

your return

We depend on tenants for our revenue and lease defaults or terminations by sign flcant tenants could reduce our net

income and limit our ability to make distributions to you

The success of our investments materially depends on the financial stability of our tenants default or termination

by significant tenant on its lease payments to us would cause us to lose the revenue associated with such lease and
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require us to find an alternative source of revenue to meet mortgage payments and prevent foreclosure if the property

is subject to mortgage In the event of tenant default or bankruptcy we may experience delays in enforcing our

rights as landlord and may incur substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing our property particularly

in the event the asset is an industrial property which may not have efficient alternative uses If tenant defaults on or

terminates significant lease we may be unable to lease the property for the rent previously received or sell the property

without incurring loss These events could cause us to reduce the amount of distributions to you

If we enter into long-term leases with office tenants those leases may not result in fair value over time

Long-term leases do not allow for significant changes in rental payments and do not expire in the near-term If we do

not accuratelyjudge the potential for increases inmarket rental rates when negotiating these long-termleases significant

increases in future property operating costs could result in receiving less than fair value from these leases Such

circumstances would adversely affect our revenues and funds available for distribution

Our inability to sell property when we want could limit our ability to pay cash distributions to you

General economic conditions availability of financing interest rates and other factors including supply and demand

all of which are beyond our control affect the real estate market We may be unable to sell property for the price on

the terms or within the time frame we want That inability could reduce our cash flow and cause our results of operations

to suffer limiting our ability to pay distributions to you

Uninsured losses relating to real property or excessively expensive premiumsfor insurance coverage could reduce

our net income and the return on your investment

There are types of losses generally catastrophic in nature such as losses due to wars acts of terrorism earthquakes

floods hurricanes pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or not economically insurable or may be

insured subject to limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments Insurance risks associated with potential

terrorist acts could sharply increase the premiums we pay for coverage against property and casualty claims

Additionally mortgage lenders in some cases have begun to insist that commercial property owners purchase coverage

against terrorism as condition of providing mortgage loans Such insurance policies may not be available at

reasonable cost if at all which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our properties In such instances we

may be required to provide other financial support either through financial assurances or self-insurance to cover

potential losses We may not have adequate coverage for such losses If any of our properties incur casualty loss that

is not fully insured the value of that asset will be reduced by such uninsured loss In addition other than any working

capital reserve or other reserves we may establish or our existing line of credit we do not have any sources of funding

specifically designated for funding repairs or reconstruction of any uninsured damaged property Also to the extent

we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance we could suffer reduced earnings that would resultin lower

distributions to you

Our operating results may suffer because of potential development and construction delays that result in increased

costs and risks

We mayuse proceeds from the Initial Offering to acquire and develop properties including unimproved real properties

upon which we will construct improvements We will be subject to uncertainties associated with re-zoning for

development environmental concerns of governmental entities or community groups and our builders ability to build

in conformity with plans specifications budgeted costs and timetables If builder fails to perform we may resort

to legal action to rescind the purchase or the construction contract or to compel performance builders performance

may also be affected or delayed by conditions beyond the builders control Delays in completing construction could

also give tenants the right to terminate preconstruction leases We may incur additional risks when we make periodic

progress payments or other advances to builders before they complete construction These and other factors can result

in increased costs of project or loss of our investment In addition we will be subject to normal lease-up risks relating

to newly constructed projects We also must rely on rental income and expense projections and estimates of the fair

market value of property upon completion of construction when agreeing upon purchase price at the time we acquire
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the property If our projections are inaccurate we may pay too much for property and our return on our investment

could suffer

Actions of our potential future joint venture partners could reduce the returns on our future joint venture investments

and decrease your overall return

We may enter into joint ventures to acquire develop or improve properties with some of the proceeds of the Initial

Offering Such joint venture arrangements may involve risks not otherwise present with other methods of investment

in real estate including for example the following risks

the possibility of disputes with our joint venture partners

reduced control over our assets such as an inability to sell an asset when doing so would have been in our

best interests and

that such co-venturer co-tenant or partner may be in position to take action contrary to our instructions or

requests or contrary to our policies or objectives

Any of the above might subject property to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and thus reduce our returns

on that investment and the value of your investment

Costs imposed pursuant to governmental laws and regulations may reduce our net income and the cash available for

distributions to you

Real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal state and local laws and regulations

relating to protection of the environment and human health We could be subject to liability in the form of fines

penalties or damages for noncompliance with these laws and regulations These laws and regulations generally govern

wastewater discharges air emissions the operation and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks the

use storage treatment transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous materials the remediation of contamination

associated with the release or disposal of solid and hazardous materials the presence of toxic building materials and

other health and safety-related concerns

Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on the tenants owners or operators of real

property for the costs to investigate or remediate contaminated properties regardless of fault whether the contamination

occurred prior to purchase or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal Our tenants operations the

condition of properties at the time we buy them operations in the vicinity of our properties such as the presence of

underground storage tanks or activities of unrelated third parties may affect our properties

The presence of hazardous substances or the failure to properly manage or remediate these substances may hinder

our ability to sell rent or pledge such property as collateral for future borrowings Any material expenditures fines

penalties or damages we must pay will reduce our ability to make distributions and may reduce the value of your

investment

The costs of defending against
claims of environmental liability of complying with environmental regulatory

requirements ofremediating any contaminatedproperty or ofpayingpersonal injury claims could reduce the amounts

available for distribution to you

Under various federal state and local environmental laws ordinances and regulations current or previous real

property owner or operator may be liable for the cost of removing or remediating hazardous or toxic substances on

under or in such property These costs could be substantial Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner

or operator knew of or was responsible for the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances Environmental laws

also may impose liens on property or restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be

operated and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures or prevent us from entering into leases with

prospective tenants that may be impacted by such laws Environmental laws provide for sanctions for noncompliance
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and may be enforced by governmental agencies or in certain circumstances by private parties Certain environmental

laws and common law principles could be used to impose liability for the release of and exposure to hazardous

substances including asbestos-containing materials and lead-based paint Third parties may seek recovery from real

property owners or operators for personal injury or propetty damage associated with exposure to released hazardous

substances The costs of defending against claims of environmental liability of complying with environmental

regulatory requirements of remediating any contaminated property or of paying personal injury claims could reduce

the amounts available for distribution to you We intend for all of our properties to be subject to Phase environmental

assessments at the time they are acquired

Costs associated with complying with theAmericans with DisabilitiesAct may decrease cash availablefor distributions

Our properties may be subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 as amended Under the Disabilities Act

all places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by

disabled persons The Disabilities Act has separate compliance requirements for public accommodations

and commercial facilities that generally require that buildings and services be made accessible and available to people

with disabilities The Disabilities Acts requirements could require removal of access barriers and could result in the

imposition of injunctive relief monetary penalties or in some cases an award of damages Any funds used for

Disabilities Act compliance will reduce our net income and the amount of cash available for distributions to you

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may affect the markets in which we plan to operate which could

delay or hinder our ability to meet our investment objectives and reduce your overall return

Terrorist attacks or armed conflicts may directly impact the value of our properties through damage destruction loss

or increased security costs Wells-sponsored programs have historically owned properties in major metropolitan areas

We expect that we will also invest in such markets We maynot be able to obtain insurance against the risk of terrorism

because it may not be available or may not be available on terms that are economically feasible The terrorism insurance

that we obtain may not be sufficient to cover loss for damages to our properties as result of terrorist attacks The

inability to obtain sufficient terrorism insurance or any terrorism insurance at all could limit our investment options

as some mortgage lenders have begun to insist that specific coverage against terrorism be purchased by commercial

owners as condition of providing loans

Risks Associated with Debt Financing

We have incurred and are likely to continue to incur mortgage and other indebtedness which may increase our

business risks

We have incurred indebtedness and are likely to incur additional indebtedness even if we raise significant proceeds in

the Initial Offering We may incur indebtedness to acquire properties to fund property improvements and other capital

expenditures to redeem shares under our share redemption program to pay distributions and for other purposes

Significant borrowings by us increase the risks of your investment If there is shortfall between the cash flow from

properties and the cash flow needed to service our indebtedness then the amount available for distributions to you

may be reduced In addition incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured

by property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions In that case we could lose the property securing the

loan that is in default thus reducing the value of your investment For tax purposes foreclosure of any of our properties

would be treated as sale of the property for purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by

the mortgage If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property we

would recognize taxable income on foreclosure but we would not receive any cash proceeds We may give full or

partial guarantees to lenders of mortgage debt on behalf of the entities that own our properties When we give guaranty

on behalf of an entity that owns one of our properties we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt

if it is not paid by such entity
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If any mortgages or other indebtedness contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions default on single

loan could affect multiple properties Our credit facility includes cross-default provision that provides that payment

default under any recourse obligation above negotiated dollar amount or any non-recourse obligation above another

negotiated dollar amount by us Wells Core OP or any of our subsidiaries will constitute default under the credit

facility

High mortgage rates may make it dffIcult for us to finance or refinance properties which could reduce the number

ofproperties we can acquire our net income and the amount of cash distributions we can make

If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates we may not be able to finance the purchase of properties If we

place mortgage debt on properties we nrn the risk of being unable to refinance the properties when the loans become

due or of being unable to refinance on favorable terms If interest rates are higher when we refinance the properties

our income could be reduced If any of these events occur our cash flow would be reduced This in turn would reduce

cash available for distribution to you and may hinder our ability to raise more capital by issuing more stock or by

borrowing more money

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations which could limit our ability to

make distributions to you

When providing financing lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies

and our ability to incur additional debt Loan documents we enter into may contain covenants that limit our ability to

further mortgage the property discontinue insurance coverage or replace the Advisor These or other limitations may

limit our flexibility and our ability to achieve our operating plans

Increases in interest rates or the use of longer-term debt to finance or refinance our properties would increase our

costs and decrease the amount ofcash availablefor distributions and couldreduce the overall returns ofyour investment

To date we have financed significant portion of our acquisitions through short-term debt Interest rates on short-

term debt have been at historic lows and are lower than the rates available on longer-term debt In the short term such

low-cost financing increases the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders If short-term interest

rates increase or if we determine that it is prudent to use greater proportion of longer-termdebt to finance or refinance

our properties then our costs would increase in comparison to current levels the overall returns on our stockholders

investments would be lower and we could have difficulty maintaining the current rate of our stockholder distributions

We have broad authority to incur debt and high debt levels could hinder our ability to make distributions and could

decrease the value ofyour investment

Our charter limits us from incurring debt in relation to our net assets in excess of 100% valued at cost before depreciation

and other noncash reserves However upon showing that higher level of debt is appropriate majority of our

Conflicts Committee after determining that substantial justification exists may approve such excess in borrowings

over the 100% level High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges would result in higher debt

service payments and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants These factors could limit the amount of cash

we have available to distribute and could result in decline in the value of your investment

Federal Income Tax Risks

Our failure to qual as REITfor federal income tax purposes would reduce the amount of income we have available

for distribution and limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders

Our qualification as REIT depends upon our ability to meet requirements regarding our organization and ownership

distributions of our income the nature and diversification of our income and assets and other tests imposed by the

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code If we fail to qualify as REIT for any taxable year after

electing REIT status we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at corporate rates In addition

we would generally be disqualified from treatment as REIT for the four taxable years following the year of losing
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our REIT status Losing our REIT status would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to

stockholders because of the additional tax liability In addition distributions to stockholders would no longer qualify

for the dividends-paid deduction and we would no longer be required to make distributions If this occurs we might
be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax

Additionally we may from time to time form or acquire interests in subsidiary entities taxable as REITs If one or

more such entities were to fail to qualify as REIT our own compliance with the REIT qualification tests may be

threatened

Recharacterization ofsale-leaseback transactions may cause us to lose our RElTstatus which would reduce the return

on your investment

We may purchase properties and lease them back to the sellers of such properties While we will use our best efforts

to structure any such sale-leaseback transaction such that the lease will be characterized as true lease thereby

allowing us to be treated as the owner of the property for federal income tax purposes we can give you no assurance

that the Internal Revenue Service IRS will not challenge such characterization In the event that any such sale

leaseback transaction is challenged and recharacterized as financing transaction or loan for federal income tax

purposes deductions for depreciation and cost recovery relating to such
property would be disallowed If sale

leaseback transaction was so recharacterized we might fail to satisfy the REIT qualification asset tests or income tests

and consequently lose our REIT status Alternatively the amount of our REIT taxable income could be recalculated

which might also cause us to fail to meet the distribution requirement for taxable year

You may have current tax liability on distributions you elect to reinvest in our common stock

If you participate in our distribution reinvestment plan you will be deemed to have received and for income tax

purposes will be taxed on the amount reinvested in shares of our common stock to the extent the amount reinvested

was not tax-free return of capital In addition you will be treated for tax purposes as having received an additional

distribution to the extent the shares are purchased at discount to fair market value As result unless you are tax-

exempt entity you may have to use funds from other sources to pay your tax liability on the value of the shares of

common stock received

Even jf we qual as REIT for federal income tax purposes we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce

our cash flow and our ability to make distributions to you

Even if we qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes we may be subject to some federal state and local taxes

on our income or property For example

In order to qualify as REIT we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our

stockholders which is determined without regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain To the

extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income
we will be subject to federal and state corporate income tax on the undistributed income

We will be subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount if any by which distributions we pay in

any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income 95% of our capital gain net income
and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years

If we have net income from the sale of foreclosure property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in

the ordinary course of business or other nonqualifying income from foreclosure property we must pay tax

on that income at the highest corporate income tax rate

If we sell property other than foreclosure property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary

course of business our gain would be subject to the 100% prohibited transaction tax
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We may perform additional noncustomary services for tenants of our buildings through our taxable REIT

subsidiary including real estate or non-real-estate-related services however any earnings related to such

services are subject to federal and state income taxes

To maintain our REIT status we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions to make

distributions to our stockholders which could increase our operating costs and decrease the value ofyour investment

To qualify as REIT we must distribute to our stockholders each year 90% of our REIT taxable income which is

determined without regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain At times we may not have sufficient

funds to satisfy these distribution requirements and may need to borrow funds to maintain our REIT status and avoid

the payment of income and excise taxes These borrowing needs could result from differences in timing between

the actual receipt of cash and inclusion of income for federal income tax purposes ii the effect of nondeductible

capital expenditures iii the creation of reserves or iv required debt or amortization payments We may need to

borrow funds at timeswhen market conditions are unfavorable Such borrowings could increase our costs and reduce

the value of our common stock

To maintain our REIT status we may be forced to forego otherwise attractive opportunities
which could delay or

hinder our ability to meet our investment objectives and lower the return on your investment

To qualify as REIT we must satisfy tests on an ongoing basis concerning among other things the sources of our

income nature of our assets and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders We maybe required to make distributions

to stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have

funds readily available for distribution Compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate

solely on the basis of maximizing profits and the value of our stockholders investments

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments

To qualify as REIT we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter at least 75.0% of the value of our assets

consists of cash cash items government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets including certain mortgage

loans and mortgage-backed securities The remainder of our investment in securities other than government securities

and qualified real estate assets generally cannot include more than 10.0% of the outstanding voting securities of any

one issuer or more than 10.0% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer In addition in general

no more than 5.0% of the value of our assets other than government securities and qualified real estate assets can

consist of the securities of any one issuer and no more than 25.0% of the value of our total assets can be represented

by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any

calendar quarter we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain

statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences As result

we may be required to liquidate from our portfolio
otherwise attractive investments These actions could have the

effect of reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to our stockholders

Complying with REIT requirements maylimit our ability to hedge effectively

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our assets and operations Under these provisions

any income that we generate from transactions intended to hedge our interest rate inflation and/or currency risks will

be excluded from gross income for purposes of the REIT 75% and 95% gross
income tests if the instrument hedges

interest rate risk on liabilities incurred to carry or acquire real estate or ii risk of currency fluctuations with respect

to any item of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the REIT 75% or 95% gross
income tests and

such instrument is properly identified under applicable Treasury Regulations Income from hedging transactions that

does not meet these requirements will generally constitute nonqualifying income for purposes of both the REIT 75%

and 95% gross
income tests As result of these rules we may have to limit our use of hedging techniques that might

otherwise be advantageous which could result in greater risks associated with interest rate or other changes than we

would otherwise incur
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Legislative or regulatory tax changes could adversely affect you

At any time the federal income tax laws governing REITs or the administrative interpretations of those laws or

regulations may be amended Any of those new laws regulations or interpretations may take effect retroactively and

could adversely affect the taxation of us or of you as stockholder Therefore changes in tax laws regulations or

administrative interpretations or any amendments thereto could diminish the value of an investment in our common
stock or the value or the resale potential of our properties We recommend you consult with your own tax advisor with

respect to the impact of any relevant legislation on your investment in our common stock and the status of legislative

regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our common
stock

The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability to engage in transactions including certain methods of

securitizing mortgage loans that would be treated as sales for federal income tax purposes

REITs net income from prohibited transactions is subject to 100% tax In general prohibited transactions are sales

or other dispositions of assets other than foreclosure property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary

course of business Therefore in order to avoid the prohibited transactions tax we maychoose not to engage in certain

sales at the REIT level and maylimit the structures we utilize for our securitization transactions even though the sales

or structures might otherwise be beneficial to us

There is prohibited transaction safe harbor available under the Code when property has been held for at least two

years and certain other requirements are met It cannot be assured however that any property sales would qualify for

the safe harbor It may also be possible to reduce the impact of the prohibited transaction tax by conducting certain

activities through taxable REIT subsidiaries However to the extent that we engage in such activities through taxable

REIT subsidiaries the income associated with such activities may be subject to full corporate income tax

The taxation of distributions to our stockholders can be complex however distributions that we make to our

stockholders generally will be taxable as ordinary income

Distributions that we make to our taxable stockholders out of current and accumulated earnings and profits and not

designated as capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income generally will be taxable as ordinary income

However portion of our distributions may be designated by us as capital gain dividends generally taxable as

long-term capital gain to the extent that they are attributable to net capital gain recognized by us be designated by

us as qualified dividend income generally to the extent they are attributable to dividends we receive from our taxable

REIT subsidiaries or constitute return of capital generally to the extent that they exceed our accumulated earnings

and profits as determined for U.S federal income tax purposes return of capital is not taxable but has the effect of

reducing the basis of stockholders investment in our common stock

If we were considered to actually or constructively pay preferential dividend to certain of our stockholders our

status as REIT could be adversely affected

In order to qualify as REIT we must distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income

which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP determined without regard to the deduction

for dividends paid and excluding net capital gain In order for distributions to be counted as satisfying the annual

distribution requirements for REITs and to provide us with REIT-level tax deduction the distributions must not be

preferential dividends dividend is not preferential dividend if the distribution is pro rata among all outstanding

shares of stock within particular class and in accordance with the preferences among different classes of stock as

set forth in our organizational documents Currently there is uncertainty as to the position of the IRS regarding whether

certain arrangements that REITs have with their stockholders could give rise to the inadvertent payment of preferential

dividend e.g the pricing methodology for stockpurchased under distribution reinvestmentplan inadvertently causing

greater than 5% discount on the price of such stock purchased There is no de minimis exception with respect to

preferential dividends therefore if the IRS were to take the position that we inadvertently paid preferential dividend

we may be deemed to have failed the 90% distribution test and our status as REIT could be terminated for the year
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in which such determination is made if we were unable to cure such failure While we believe that our operations have

been structured in such manner that we will not be treated as inadvertently paying preferential dividends we can

provide no assurance to this effect

The ability of our board of directors to revoke our REIT qualification without stockholder approval may subject us to

U.S federal income tax and reduce distributions to our stockholders

Our charter provides that our board of directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election without the

approval of our stockholders if it determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify as REIT

While we intend to elect and qualify to be taxed as REIT we may not elect to be treated as REIT or may terminate

our REIT election if we determine that qualifying as REIT is no longer
in the best interest of our stockholders If we

cease to be REIT we would become subject to U.S federal income tax on our taxable income and would no longer

be required to distribute most of our taxable income to our stockholders which may have adverse consequences on

our total return to our stockholders and on the market price of our common stock

The share ownership restrictions of the Code for REITs and the 9.8% share ownership limit in our charter may inhibit

market activity in our shares of stock and restrict our business combination opportunities

In order to qualify as REIT for each taxable year ending on or after December 31 2011 five or fewer individuals

as defined in the Code may not own actually or constructively more than 50% in value of our issued and outstanding

shares of stock at any time during the last half of taxable year Attribution rules in the Code determine if any individual

or entity actually or constructively owns our shares of stock under this requirement Additionally at least 100 persons

must beneficially own our shares of stock during at least 335 days of taxable year for each taxable year ending on

or after December 31 2011 To help ensure that we meet these tests among other purposes our charter restricts the

acquisition and ownership of our shares of stock

Our charter with certain exceptions authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to

preserve our qualification as REIT while we so qualify Unless exempted by our board of directors for so long as

we qualify as REIT our charter prohibits among other limitations on ownership and transfer of shares of our stock

any person from beneficially or constructively owning applying certain attribution rules under the Code more than

9.8% in value of the aggregate of our outstanding shares of stock and not more than 9.8% in value or in number of

shares whichever is more restrictive of any class or series of our shares of stock Our board of directors maynot grant

an exemption from these restrictions to any proposed transferee whose ownership in excess of the 9.8% ownership

limit would result in the termination of our qualification as REIT These restrictions on transferability and ownership

will not apply however if our board of directors determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify

as REIT

These ownership limits could delay or prevent transaction or change in control that might involve premium price

for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders

Potential characterization of distributions or gain on sale may be treated as unrelated business taxable income to tax

exempt investors

If we are pension-held REIT tax-exempt stockholder has incurred debt to purchase or hold our common

stock or holder of common stock is certain type of tax-exempt stockholder dividends on and gains recognized

on the sale of common stock by such tax-exempt stockholder may be subject to U.S federal income tax as unrelated

business taxable income under the Code
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Retirement Plan Risks

If thefiduciary ofan employee pension benefit plan subject to ERISA such as profit-sharing Section 401k orpension

plan or any other retirement plan or account fails to meet the fiduciary and other standards under ERISA or the Code

as result of an investment in our stock the fiduciary could be subject to criminal and civil penalties

There are special considerations that apply to employee benefit plans subject to ERISA such as profit-sharing

Section 401k or pension plans and other retirement plans or accounts subject to Section 4975 of the Code such as

an individual retirement account or IRA that are investing in our shares Fiduciaries investing the assets of such

plan or account in our common stock should satisfy themselves that

the investment is consistent with their fiduciary and other obligations under ERISA and the Code

the investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing your plan or IRA
including your plans or accounts investment policy

the investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404a1B and

404a1C of ERISA and other applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code

the investment in our shares for which no trading market may exist is consistent with the liquidity needs of

the plan or IRA

the investment will not produce an unacceptable amount of unrelated business taxable income for the plan

or IRA

the investment will be able to comply with the requirements under ERISA and the Code to value the assets of

the plan or IRA annually and

the investment will not constitute prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the

Code

With respect to the annual valuation requirements described above we expect to provide an estimated value for our

shares annually Until 18 months have passed without sale in public offering of our common stock not including

any offerings on behalf of selling stockholders or offerings related to any distribution reinvestment plan employee

benefit plan or the issuance of shares upon redemption of interests in Wells Core OP we expect to use the gross offering

price of share of common stock in our most recent offering as the per-share estimated value thereof

This estimated value is not likely to reflect the proceeds you would receive upon our liquidation or upon the sale of

your shares Accordingly we can make no assurances that such estimated value will satisfy the applicable annual

valuation requirements under ERISA and the Code The Department of Labor or the IRS may determine that plan

fiduciary or an IRA custodian is required to take further steps to determine the value of our common shares In the

absence of an appropriate determination of value plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian may be subject to damages

penalties or other sanctions

Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA and the Code may
result in the imposition of civil and criminal penalties and can subject the fiduciary to claims for damages or for

equitable remedies In addition if an investment in our shares constitutes prohibited transaction under ERISA or the

Code the fiduciary or IRA owner who authorized or directed the investment may be subject to the imposition of excise

taxes with
respect to the amount invested In the case of prohibited transaction involving an IRA owner the IRA

may be disqualified and all of the assets of the IRA may be deemed distributed and subjected to tax ERISA plan

fiduciaries and IRA custodians should consult with counsel before making an investment in our common shares
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If you invest in our shares through an IRA or other retirement plan you may be limited in your ability to withdraw

required minimum distributions

If you establish an IRA or other retirement plan through which you invest in our shares federal law may require you

to withdraw required minimum distributions RMDs from such plan in the future Any share redemptions requested

to satisfy these RMD requirements will be considered requests
for Ordinary Redemptions as defined in our share

redemption program Our share redemption program limits the amount of Ordinary Redemptions that can be made in

given year Additionally you will not be eligible to receive Ordinary Redemptions until you have held your shares

for at least one year As result you may not be able to redeem your shares at time in which you need liquidity to

satisfy the RMD requirements under your IRA or other retirement plan Even if you are able to redeem your shares

such redemptions will be at price less than the price at which the shares were initially purchased If you fail to

withdraw RMDs from your IRA or other retirement plan you may be subject to certain tax penalties

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable
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ITEM

Overview

PROPERTIES

As of December 31 2012 we owned 13 office properties located in eight states At December 31 2012 our office

properties were approximately 99.5% leased with an average lease term remaining of approximately seven years The

table set forth below shows information relating to the properties we owned as of December 31 2012

Average
Leased as of Total of Annualized

December 31 Rentable Purchase Total Annualized Base Rent per

Properties Location 2012 Square Feet Price Assets Base Rent2 Square Foot

333 East Lake Street Bloomingdale

Building IL 100.0% 71053 11710764 1.7% 1966084 27.67

Tamg utbnTX I% I496 O00R3 4% 41719
Duke Bridges II

Buildings Frisco TX 100.0% 284198 49000000 7.0% 6274355 22.08

9ç4 o93I13
7601 Technology Way
Building Denver CO 100.0% 182875 41500000 5.9% 4698646 25.69

esvay1Bulldn %I 3LO.0 Z14 X3 113$ $it48
Franklin Center Columbia

Building MD 100.0% 200593 65000000 9.3% 6127246 30.55

Step

Purchase price is presented net of adjustments and exclusive of closing costs and acquisition fees and has been allocated

to tangible assets consisting of land building and site improvements and identified intangible assets and liabilities

including the value of in-place leases based in each case on estimates of their fair values

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 312012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent before rent abatements

Four Parkway North

Building Deerfield IL 100.0% 171524 41144691 5.9% 5122883 29.87

9.5% 1643665
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Property Statistics

The following table show the tenant di ersification of our office properties as of December 31 2012

Percentage of

2012 Annualized 2012 Annualized

Tenant Base Rent Base Rent

State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co 10262309 15%

Time Warner Cable 9072.894 13%

GE Oil Gas Inc 6781028 10%

Science Applications International Corporation 6086446 9%

T-Mobile West 5668181 8%

Jackson National Life Insurance Co 4698646 7%

Qwest Communications ompany LLC 3235.020 5%

Cameron International 3023182 4%

Humana Medical Plan Inc 2951292 4%

CF Industries 2599282 4%

JP Morgan Chase Bank 2461531 3%

McCain Foods USA Inc 2.40996 3%

Lundbeck 2112549 3%

Other2 8193438 12%

69555759 100%

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 31 2012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent before rent abatements

No more than 3% is attributable to any individual tenant

The following table shows the tenant industry di ersification of our office properties as of December 31 2012

Percentage of

2012 Annualized Rentable 2012 Annualized

Industry Base Rent Square Feet Base Rent

omrnunication 17976095 688310 26%

Insurance Carriers 17912.247 780970 26%

Business Services 7700093 255009 11%

Electronic And Other Electric Equipment 6781 028 84082 0/o

Chemicals And Allied Products 4922503 164839 7%

Industrial Machinery And Equipment 3023182 104967 4%

Depository Institutions 2722973 126.730 4%

Food And Kindred Products 2409.961 94375 3%

Othert2 6107677 210111 9%

Vacant 14.134

69555759 2623527 100%

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 31 2012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent betbre rent abatements

No more than 3% is attributable to any individual industry
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The following table shows lease expirations of our office properties as of December 31 2012 and during each of the

next 10 years
and thereafter This table assumes no exercise of renewal options or termination rights

Percentage of

2012 Annualized Rentable Square 2012 Annualized

Year of Lease Expiration Base Rent Feet Expiring Base Rent

Vaeartt 14134

2013 201103 5849 0%

2014 248409 IU72 0%

2015 2178782 67855 3%

2016 459066 i53L6 1%

2017 16448283 649151 24%

201S 5185226 180S19

2019 21598807 644926 31%

2020 268101 1276S 4%

2021 3592770 1265065%
2022 626L93 259503 9%

Thereafter 10805676 519928 16%

____________ 2623$27 i00%

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 312012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent before rent abatements

The following table shows the geographic diversification by metropolitan statistical area MSAu of our office

properties as of December 31 2012

Percentage of

2012 Annualized Rentable 2012 Annualized

MSA Base RentW Square Feet Base Rent

Honston 12944037 36i5
Atlanta 12267891 583690 18%

Cbicao 948928 336952

Northern Virginia 9096813 268240 13%

Dallas R73$86 4038O9 12%

Baltimore 6127246 200593 9%

Denver 46946 18Z875

Columbus 3235020 164639 5%

Port Laudrdaie Z95L292 96394 4%

69555759 2623527 100%

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 31 2012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent before rent abatements

Other Property-Specific Information

Certain of our properties are held as collateral for debt Refer to Schedule III listed in the index of Item 15a of this

report which details such properties as of December 31 2012
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ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are party to legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of our business We are not

currently involved in any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have material adverse effect

on our results of operations or financial condition nor are we aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by

governmental authorities

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

As of February 28 2013 we had approximately 18.6 million shares of common stock outstanding held of record by

total of approximately 10321 Stockholders The number of stockholders is based on the records of DST Systems

Inc who serves as our registrar and transfer agent There is no established public trading market for our common

stock Under our charter certain restrictions are imposed on the ownership and transfer of shares

To facilitate the participation of FINRA members in our ongoing public offering of our common stock we disclose in

each annual report distributed to stockholders the Advisors per-share estimated value of our common stock the method

by which it was developed and the date of the data used to develop the estimated value In addition the Advisor

prepares annual statements of estimated share values to assist both fiduciaries of retirement plans subject to the annual

reporting requirements of ERISA and custodians of IRAs in the preparation of their reports relating to an investment

in our shares For these purposes our Advisors estimated value of share of our common stock is $25.00 per share

as of December 31 2012 The basis for this valuation is the fact that the current public offering price for our shares is

$25.00 per share ignoring purchase price discounts for certain categories of purchasers This estimated value is likely

to be higher than the price at which you could resellyour shares because the Initial Offering involves the payment

of underwriting compensation and other directed selling efforts which payments and efforts are likely to produce

higher sales price than could otherwise be obtained and there is no public market for our shares Moreover this

estimated value is likely to be higher than the amount you would receive per share if we were to liquidate at this time

because of the up-front fees that we pay in connection with the issuance of our shares as well as the transaction fees

that are incurred in connection with the acquisition and disposition of real estate properties There can be no assurance

that the valuation we have provided will satisf the valuation requirements applicable to ERISA plans and IRAs

The Advisor expects to continue to use the most recent public offering price per share of our common stock $25.00

as the publicly reported estimated per-share value of our common stock until such time as per-share value of our

common stock has been estimated based on the current value of our portfolio and reported publicly We expect that

such an estimated per-share value will be determined within 18 months of the close of our final public offering Such

estimated per-share value is expected to be determined based on estimates of the current values of our assets net of

current values of our liabilities thus the estimate should not be viewed as an estimate of the amount of net proceeds

per share that would result from sale of our properties at that time

Distributions

We intend to make distributions each taxable year equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable income One of our primary

goals is to pay regular quarterly distributions to our stockholders We have declared and paid distributions quarterly

based on daily record dates The amount of distributions paid and the taxable portion in prior periods are not necessarily

indicative of amounts anticipated in future periods

Our board of directors typically declares distributionsto common stockholders in advance of period spanning

approximately one quarter using daily record dates In determining the rate of stockholder distributions we consider

number of factors including the future level of cash projected to be available to fund stockholder distributions which

is currently principally dependent upon the operations of properties that we already own and the rate at which we are

able to raise equity proceeds under the Initial Offering and invest those proceeds in combination with borrowings

into new properties

When projecting the amount of cash to be available to fund distributions to stockholders in the future we consider net

cash projected to be provided by operating activities as measured in the accompanying consolidated statements of

cash flows adjusted to exclude certain costs that were incurred for the purpose of generating future earnings and

appreciation in value over the long term including acquisition-related costs As provided in the prospectuses for the
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Initial Offering acquisition-related costs have been and will continue to be funded with cash generated from the sale

of common stock in the Initial Offering and therefore will not be funded with cash generated from operations

Quarterly distributions paid to the stockholders during 2012 and 2011 were as follows

2012

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Per-Share Investment IncomeW 0.121 0.121 0.122 0.122 0.486

Per-Share Return of CapitaI2 0.253 0.253 0.256 0.256 1.018

Total Per-Share Distribution 0.374 0.374 0.378 0.378 1.504

2011

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Total Cash Distributed 378005 1070785 1887209 2794748 6130747

Per-Share Investment 1ncome 0.074 0.085 0.086 0.086 0.331

Per-Share Return of Capital2 0.253 0.289 0.293 0.293 1.128

Total Per-Share Distribution 0.327 0.374 0.379 0.379 1.459

Approximately 32% and 23% of the distributions paid during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

were taxable to the investor as ordinary income

Approximately 68% and 77% of the distributions paid during the years ended December 312012 and 2011 respectively

were characterized as tax-deferred

Distributions paid in the fourth quarter of 2012 were paid to stockholders of record for the period from September 16

2012 through December 15 2012 Our board of directors has declared distributions for stockholders of record from

December 16 2012 through March 15 2013 in an amount equal to $0.004110 0.4110 cents per day per share or

6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original share price We expect to pay these distributions in March2013 Our board

of directors also has declared distributions for stockholders of record from March 16 2013 through June 15 2013 in

an amount equal to $0.004 110 0.4110 cents per day per share or 6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original share

price We expect to pay this distribution in June 2013

Redemption of Common Stock

We maintain share redemption program as amended the Amended SRP that allows stockholders who have held

their shares for more than one year to redeem those shares subject to certain limitations and penalties Shares redeemed

pursuant to the Amended SRP are accounted for as common stock The program contains different rules for redemptions

sought within two years of stockholders death qualifing disability or qualification for federal assistance in

connection with the payment of the costs of confinement to long-term care facility We refer to redemptions that do

not occur within two years of stockholders death qualifying disability or qualification for federal assistance in

connection with the payment of the costs of confinement to long-term care facility as Ordinary Redemptions

Redemptions sought within two years of stockholders death qualifying disability or qualification for federal

assistance in connection with the payment of the costs of confinement to long-term care facility do not require one-

year holding period

Effective October 2012 the Amended SRP provides that the redemption price for all redemptions including

redemptions sought within two years of stockholders death qualifying disability or qualification for federal assistance

in connection with the payment of the costs of confinement to long-term care facility will be calculated in the same

manner Specifically until we complete our offering stage the redemption price per share will be 91% of the price at
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which we sold the share or $22.75 per share for share issued at $25.00 After we complete our offering stage the

redemption price will be 95% ofx the estimated per-share value as determined by the Advisor or another firm chosen

for that purpose less the aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of assets or other

special distributions so designated by our board of directors distributed to stockholders after the estimated per-share

value is determined the Valuation Adjustment We define the completion of our offering stage to be 18 months

after the termination of public offering of shares by us if no other public offering of shares commenced within such

8-month period An offering referred to in the foregoing sentence shall not include offerings on behalf of selling

stockholders or offerings related to any distribution reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the redemption of

interests in Wells Core OP

Prior to October 2012 the redemption price for redemptions sought within two years of the stockholders death

qualifing disability or qualification for federal assistance in connection with the payment of the costs of confinement

to long-term care facility was the amount paid for the shares until completion of the above-mentioned offering stage

at which time the redemption price would have been the estimated per-share value as determined by the Advisor or

another firm chosen for that purpose less the Valuation Adjustment

In addition to the one-year holding period for Ordinary Redemptions redemptions under the Amended SRP are currently

subject to the following limits

We will not redeem shares on any redemption date to the extent that such redemptions would cause the amount

paid for Ordinary Redemptions during the 12-month period ending on such redemption date to exceed 50%

of the net proceeds from the sale of shares under our DRP during such 12-month period

We will limit all redemptions so that the aggregate of such redemptions during the 12-month period ending

on such redemption date does not exceed

100% of the net proceeds from our DRP during such 12-month period or

5% of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in such 12-month period

We will not redeem any share that has been transferred for value by stockholder After transfer for value the

transferee and all subsequent holders of the share are not eligible to participate in the Amended SRP with respect to

the shares so transferred

All of the shares that we redeemed pursuant to our Amended SRP during the quarter ended December 31 2012 are

provided below

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Shares Purchased as Value of Shares

Total Number Part of Publicly Available That May Yet

of Shares Average Price Announced Plan Be Redeemed Under the

Period RedeemedW Paid per Share or Program2 Program

October2012 10070 $23.54 10070

November 2012 4591 $22.32 4591

December2012 12.353 $22.72 12353

All purchases of our equity securities by us in the three months ended December 31 2012 were made pursuant to our

Amended SRP

We armounced the commencement of the share redemption plan on June 10 2010 and it was subsequently amended on

November 2011 and August 13 2012

We currently limit the dollar value and number of shares that may yet be redeemed under the Amended SRP as described

above

During the year ended December 31 2012 approximately 165819 shares of common stock were redeemed under the

Amended SRP for approximately $4.0 millionAs of December 31 2012 approximately $81800 or 3596 shares of
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our common stock had been tendered for redemption but had yet to be redeemed and is included in accounts payable

and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balances sheets

Use of Initial Public Offering Proceeds

On June 10 2010 our Registration Statement on Form S-il File No 333-163411 covering public offering of up

to 230000000 shares of common stock was declared effective under the Securities Act We commenced operations

on September 29 2010 We are offering 200000000 shares of common stock in our primary offering at an aggregate

offering price of up to $5.0 billion or $25.00 per share with discounts available to certain categories of purchasers

The 30000000 shares offered under the DRP are initially being offered at an aggregate offering price of$7 12.5 million

or $23.75 per share On September 19 2012 our board of directors determined that it is in our best interest not to

conduct follow-on public offering of shares of our common stock Therefore the Initial Offering is expected to

terminate on June 10 2013 pursuant to its terms We may offer shares under the DRP beyond the termination of the

Initial Offering until we have sold all the shares under the plan

Through December 31 2012 we had sold approximately 17.7 million shares for gross offering proceeds of

approximately $441.6 million including shares sold through the DRP As of December 31 2012 we had incurred

selling commissions dealer-manager fees and organization and other offering costs in the amounts set forth below

The dealer-manager reallowed all of the selling commissions and portion of the dealer-manager fees to participating

broker/dealers

Seiiing commissions net of discounts 29.4 14957

Deakrmanager lees net of discounts 10.71 3.53

Other offering costs 8.83 1660

Total lees and costs 4.960 153

From the commencement of the Initial Offering through December 31 2012 the net offering proceeds to us after

deducting the total expenses incurred as described above and acquisition fees of approximately $8.8 million were

approximately $383.9 million including net offering proceeds from the DRP of approximately $11.8 million The net

proceeds from the DRP from each calendar year are used to calculate the maximum dollar value of shares redeemable

under our Amended SRP As of December 312012 we have used the net proceeds from our Initial Offering to partially

fund approximately $578.3 million in real estate and real-estate-related investments service acquisition-related debt

fund approximately $13.4 million of acquisition fees and expenses fund approximately $7.1 million in deferred

financing costs and redeem approximately $4.2 million of our common stock

Unregistered Issuance of Securities

During 2012 we did not issue any securities that were not registered under the Securities Act

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information regarding our 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan as of December 31 2012

Number of securities

to be issued upon
exercise of

outstanding options

warrants and rights

Weighted-average

exercise price of

outstanding

options warrants
and rights

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders

Number of securities

remaining available

for future issuance

under equity

compensation plans

To date no awards have been granted under the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan For more information regarding our

2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan please see Item 11 Executive Compensation
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data for the years ended December 31 201220112010 and 2009 should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes in Item hereof

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009

$j V79
Total stockholders equity 335842389 179334927 16500755 200000

12O9OO0OO U09$4A5 kY4011O

Outstanding long-term debt 220900000 109900000 11100000

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009

4OUfl5 I8519397 7553$9

Net cash provided by used in operating

activities 16042583 2288530 696120

1eal nvtig ctwities S21O8144 2ThD43529 1.26144
Net cash provided by financing activities 266037111 276012857 34355272

Dtfriktins paid IS4I 6130747 8667
Adjusted funds from operations1 20066456 5638038 397273

Iroed rais4thiug1 lssance 4f our

U597i91i 2Q8
Net debt proceeds2 99945105 103679895 17275000

Net loss basic and diluted 0.63 2.26 13.48

See Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Funds From Operations

Modified Funds From Operations and Adjusted Funds From Operations for the definition and information regarding

why we present Adjusted Funds from Operations and for reconciliation of this non-GAAP financial measure to net loss

Activity is presented on cash basis Please refer to our accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data in Item and

our accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto See also Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-

Looking Statements preceding Part

Overview

We operate diversified portfolio of commercial real estate primarily consisting of high-quality income-producing

office properties leased to creditworthy entities located in major metropolitan areas throughout the United States As
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of December 31 2012 we owned 13 real estate properties consisting of approximately 2.6 million square
feet These

office properties were approximately 99.5% leased as of December 31 2012

We have no paid employees and are externally advised and managed by the Advisor and Wells Management wholly

owned subsidiaries of WREF We have elected to be taxed as REIT for federal income tax purposes and have operated

as such beginning with our taxable year ended December 31 2010

We began receiving investor proceeds from the sale of common stock under our Initial Offering in July 2010 On

September 29 2010 we raised our minimum offering of $2.5 million and commenced active operations We acquired

our first real estate asset in October2010 We continued receiving investor proceeds under our Initial Offering through

December 31 2012 Thus the results of our operations for the year ended December 31 2012 are indicative of an

early-stage enterprise with growing revenues and expenses associated with the acquisition of real estate assets interest

expense associated with debt financing on the acquisition of real estate assets and general and administrative expenses

that represent high percentage of total revenues but are decreasing as the enterprise grows As of December 31 2012

we have raised gross offering proceeds of approximately $441.6 million through the issuance of common stock in our

Initial Offering and we have used those proceeds net of fees to invest in real estate and repay borrowings used to

acquire real estate properties in advance of raising equity proceeds under our Initial Offering These activities impact

fluctuations in the results of our property operations and in interest expense In addition as required under GAAP we

expense costs incurred in connection with the acquisition of real estate assets including acquisition fees of 2.0% of

gross offering proceeds raised under our Initial Offering On September 19 2012 our board of directors determined

that it is currently in our best interest not to conduct follow-on public offering of shares of our common stock

Therefore our Initial Offering is expected to terminate on June 10 2013 pursuant to its terms

Our operating strategy entails actively managing our portfolio to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to meet

our required obligations and to provide current income through cash distributions to our investors further diversifying

our portfolio while maintaining moderate leverage profile considering appropriate actions for future lease expirations

resulting in receipt of increased rents over longer terms and controlling administrative operating expenses as

percentage of revenues With our goals of providing current income to our stockholders and preserving their capital

we view our most significant challenge as continuing to raise sufficient amounts of capital to further diversify our

portfolio especially related to the diversity of lease expiration dates while maintaining moderate leverage ratio and

ii repay or refinance our outstanding borrowings as they become due To the extent that significant capital is not

raised we may not be able to repay our outstanding borrowings or achieve sufficient economies of scale and portfolio

diversification to guard against general economic industry-specific financing and operational risks

General Economic Conditions and Real Estate Market Commentary

Management reviews number of economic forecasts and market commentaries in order to evaluate general economic

conditions and to formulate view of the current environments effect on the real estate markets in which we operate

As measured by the U.S gross domestic product GDP the U.S economy increased by 2.2% in 2012 according to

estimates compared with an increase of 1.8% in 2011 The increase in real GDP in 2012 primarily reflected positive

contributions from personal consumption expenditures nonresidential fixed investment exports residential fixed

investment and private inventory investment that were partly offset by negative contributions from federal state and

local government spending While management believes the U.S economy is likely to continue its recovery we believe

the recovery will maintain moderate pace with fiscal policy presenting the biggest variable in this outlook Given

the ongoing uncertainty surrounding the debt ceiling the U.S economy is expected to start 2013 at slow pace Real

GDP is projected to remain below 2% in the first half of the year and business growth is expected to remain below

potential But assuming U.S lawmakers can agree to deal or at least provide framework by the middle of 2013

the U.S economy is expected to accelerate in the second half with real GDP averaging closer to 3% growth rate

Real estate market fundamentals underlying the U.S office markets improved modestly in the major indicators in

2012 The U.S office market ended the fourth quarter of 2012 with vacancy rate of 12.5% an improvement from

13.0% vacancy rate at the end of 2011 During the fourth quarter of 2012 demand for office space strengthened
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despite the uncertainty surrounding the fiscal cliff Net absorption was 20 million square feet in the fourth quarter

which is the highest level since the third quarter of 2007 However annual absorption is 20% below the long-term

trend Of 80 metropolitan statistical areas monitored 66 areas 82% reported positive absorption in 2012 Of the

total net absorption in 2012 two-thirds was in Class space which is well above its 35% share of the office stock

indicating flight to quality by tenants Most major markets had year-over-year gains in both net absorption and

office jobs indicating broad level of recovery Net absorption is expected to average 10 million square feet to 25

million square feet per quarter through 2017 The average quoted rental rates of the total office market experienced

slight increase from $22.95 per square foot in the fourth quarter of2O 11 to $23.12 per square foot in the fourth quarter

of 2012 Early 2013 economic indicators are suggesting another year of at least modest growth

Transaction activity for the fourth quarter of 2012 was the highest seen in any quarter since the end of 2007 with

volume of $29.1 billion Sellers motivated to close deals prior to the rise in applicable tax rates contributed to the

increase but office prices increased over the quarter and capitalization rates declined slightly indicating that buyers

were perhaps even more motivated The year-end increase in closings contributed to 2012 total volume of $77.6

billion 19% increase from 2011 In addition shift in momentum from trophy central business district towers to

suburban properties and secondary markets began in 2012 Non-major metropolitan areas saw volume increase of

over 40% which is more than double the national average Additionally cap rates in secondary markets have started

to decline with sharp decrease observed in the fourth quarter of 2012 Overall average cap rates decreased from

7.6% in October of 2012 to 7.4% in November of 2012

Despite elevated unemployment and below-average consumer confidence in the overall economy annual office job

growth is projected to range between 1% to 3% through 2017 With this projected job growth future years should see

solid office net absorption rates With the expected decline in office vacancy rates nationally rent growth is projected

to expand to more markets in 2013 and more significantly in 2014 Office market rents are expected to have more

upside than any other property type with cumulative increase of 30% expected by 2017 Due to low vacancy levels

and little to no new product many of the more supply-constrained metropolitan areas should see the strongest growth

by 2017 These metropolitan areas include New York Boston Denver and Orange County California Technology-

exposed markets should also have strong rent growth due to above-average demand prospects Examples of these

markets include San Jose and San Francisco

Impact of Economic Conditions on our Portfolio

As of December 31 2012 our portfolio had debt-to-real-estate-asset ratio of approximately 38% which is lower

than the average ratio for our industry and sector We believe that our moderate leverage coupled with ample borrowing

capacity under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility $48.4 million available as of February 28 2013 provides

considerable financial flexibility which enables us to respond quickly to unanticipated funding needs and opportunities

combination of low interest rates and investor demand for stable properties continued to put upward pressure on

acquisition pricing for high-quality commercial real estate properties that met our investment objectives in 2012

Continued increases in acquisition pricing could impact our ability to further diversify our portfolio of high-quality

commercial real estate properties and ii impair our ability to continue to pay distributions at or near current rates

With modest growth forecasted in the U.S economy office marketplace fundamentals are expected to improve and

landlord concessions such as reduced rents should abate over time as vacancy rates compress As of December 31

2012 our portfolio was 99.5% leased in eight states and nine metropolitan statistical areas Although we believe that

our portfolio is well-positioned to weather current market conditions we are not immune to the adverse effects of

another downturn in the economy weak real estate fundamentals or disruption in the credit markets Ifthese conditions

return they would likely adversely affect the value of our portfolio our results of operations and our liquidity
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

During the year ended December 31 2012 we raised proceeds under our Initial Offering net of payments for

commissions dealer-manager fees other offering costs and redemptions of approximately $188.4 million substantially

all of which was invested in real estate properties either directly approximately $24.7 million or through the repayment

of debt approximately $147.9 million used to acquire real estate properties in advance of raising equity proceeds

under our Initial Offering During the year ended December 31 2012 we acquired the following properties using

combination of equity and debt proceeds

Funded with

Acquisition Purchase Equity

Date Price Proceeds

Debt

Proceeds2
Property Name Location

South Lake Building llerndon VA 3/22/2012 90900000 3868016 87.031984

Four Parkway North Building Deerfield IL 7/2/2012 41144691 1144691 40.000000

2275 Cabot Drive Buikiing Lisle XL 9/5/2012 17993.058 993.058 17000000

4650 Lakehurst Court Building Columbus OH 12/7/20 12 24727.760 18.727.760 6000.000

64 66 Perimeter center Buildings Atlanta GA 12/28/2012 95297762 95297762

Total 270063271 24733525 245329746

Purchase price is presented net of adjustments and exclusive of closing costs and acquisition fees and has been allocated

to tangible assets consisting of land building and site improvements and identified intangible assets and liabilities

including the value of in-place leases based in each case on estimates of their fair values

Represents proceeds from the Amended Regions Credit Facility defined below or the Wells Core Unsecured Debt

Facility defined below used to fund the respective property at the time of acquisition The Amended Regions Credit

Facility was replaced by the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility on September 26 2012 The outstanding balance on

the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility was $196.0 million as of December 31 2012

We entered into an unsecured credit facility the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility on September 26 2012 which

replaced the credit facility dated as of June 29 2011 the Amended Regions Credit Facility Under the Wells Core

Unsecured Debt Facility we may borrow up to total of $300 million subject to availability The Wells Core Unsecured

Debt Facility is comprised of revolving credit facility in an amount up to $200 million the Wells Core Revolving

Facility and term loan facility in an amount up to $100 million the Wells Core Term Loan which mature on

September 26 2015 and September26 2017 respectively We have the option to extend the Wells Core Revolving

Facility for two periods of 12 months each subject to satisfaction of certain conditions and payment of an extension

fee equal to 0.25% of the amount committed under the Wells Core Revolving Facility We may borrow under the Wells

Core Unsecured Debt Facility at rates equal to LIBOR plus the applicable LIBOR margin or the greater of

the prime rate announced by Regions Bank Regions the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.50% or the

one-month LIBOR adjusted daily plus 1.00% plus the applicable base rate margin The applicable LIBOR margin

under the Wells Core Revolving Facility and Wells Core Term Loan may vary from 1.75% to 2.50% and from 1.65%

to 2.40% respectively and the applicable base rate margin under the Wells Core Revolving Facility and Wells Core

Term Loan mayvary from 0.75% to 1.50% and 0.65% to 1.40% respectively based on our then current leverage ratio

Beginning September 26 2013 we will effectively fix the interest rate on $75 million of the Wells Core Term Loan

at 0.89 1% plus margin of 1.65% to 2.40% based on our then current leverage ratio with an interest rate swap

executed contemporaneously with the Wells Core Term Loan Under the terms of the Wells Core Unsecured Debt

Facility we generally are required to make interest-only payments We may prepay the Wells Core Unsecured Debt

Facility in whole or in part at any time subject to reimbursement of breakage and redeployment costs incurred in

connection with LIBOR borrowings however amounts repaid on the Wells Core Term Loan maynot be reborrowed
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We anticipate that our primary sources of future capital will be derived from the sale of our common stock under the

Initial Offering through its expected expiration on June 10 2013 and from net rental revenues generated from the

properties we have acquired and anticipate acquiring in future periods Stockholder distributions will be largely

dependent upon among other things the amount of cash generated from our operating activities our determination

of near-term cash needs for capital expenditures at our properties and debt repayments and our expectations of future

operating cash flow generated from our properties

Short-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $266.0 million

During the year ended December 31 2012 we generated net proceeds from the sale of common stock under the Initial

Offering net of payments for commissions dealer-manager fees other offering costs and share redemptions of

approximately $188.4 million the majority of which was used to pay down debt fund acquisition fees and partially

fund the acquisitions of the South Lake Building the Four Parkway North Building the 2275 Cabot Drive Building

the 4650 Lakehurst Court Building and the 64 66 Perimeter Center Buildings collectively the 2012

Acquisitions During the year ended December 31 2012 we received gross debt proceeds of approximately $373.9

million from the Amended Regions Credit Facility and the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility The debt proceeds

received from both the Amended Regions Credit Facility and the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility were used to

partially fund the 2012 Acquisitions The debt proceeds received from the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility were

also used to repay the Amended Regions Credit Facility and mortgage loan secured by the Royal Ridge Building

in September 2012 We repaid approximately $274.0 million on our debt facilities and notes payable during the year

ended December 31 2012 We intend to generate additional equity proceeds from the sale of common stock under the

Initial Offering through its expected expiration on June 10 2013 and to use those proceeds along with additional

borrowings to invest in additional capital expenditures including improvements to our existing properties as well as

potential future real estate investments either directly or through investments in joint ventures and to satisfy our near-

term debt requirements If sufficient equity capital is not available our future investments in office and industrial

properties will be lower and/or our debt outstanding will be higher

During the year ended December 312012 net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $16.0 million

which consisted primarily of rental receipts and tenant reimbursements in excess of payments for property operating

costs acquisition-related costs asset and property management fees and general and administrative costs such as

legal accounting and other professional fees During thç year ended December 31 2012 acquisition-related costs

paid which were funded with cash generated from the sale of common stock under the Initial Offering but which under

GAAP reduced net cash from operating activities were approximately $5.8 million During the year ended

December 31 2012 we paid total distributions to stockholders including amounts reinvested in our common stock

pursuant to the DRP of approximately $19.9 million We expect to use the majority of our future net cash flow from

operating activities to fund distributions to stockholders please refer to the Distributions section below for additional

information

During the year ended December 312012 net cash used in investing activities was approximately $270.8 million and

was primarily related to the 2012 Acquisitions We expect to utilize the residual cash balance of approximately $16.0

million as of December 31 2012 to satisfy current liabilities and pay down the outstanding balance of the Wells Core

Revolving Facility

Our board of directors has declared distributions for stockholders of record from December 16 2012 through March 15

2013 in an amount equal to $0.004 1100.4110 cents per day per share or 6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original

share price We expect to pay these distributions in March 2013 Our board of directors also has declared distributions

for stockholders of record from March 162013 through June 152013 in an amount equal to $0.004110 0.4110 cents

per day per share or 6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original share price we expect to pay this distribution in

June 2013 We intend to utilize operating cash flow to fund these stockholder distributions however if necessary we

mayalso utilize other sources of cash to fund portion of these distributions as our initial real estate operations stabilize

over the short term
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As of December 31 2012 the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility contained among others the following restrictive

covenants as defined by the credit agreement

Actual Performance

December 31 2012Covenant Level

Fixed-charge coverage ratio Greater than .75x 16

Total debt to total asset value ratio Less than 55% 37%

Secured debt to consolidated tangible assets Less than 40% 7%

Secured recourse debt to consolidated tangible assets Less than 15% 0%

from operations

Effective September 26 2012 our tangible net worth must be greater than $233.8 million plus 72.25% of the gross cash

proceeds net of redemptions paid of all of our equity issuances consummated after September 26 2012

Effective December 31 2012 total distributions for each fiscal year less amounts reinvested pursuant to the DRP cannot

exceed the greater of 90% of funds from operations as defined in the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility as long as total

distributions less amounts reinvested pursuant to the DRP for any two consecutive quarters do not exceed 100% of funds

from operations as defined or the minimum amount required to continue to qualif as REIT

As of December 31 2012 we believe we were in compliance and expect to remain in compliance with these and all

other restrictive covenants of the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility We also believe that we have adequate liquidity

and capital resources to meet our current obligations as they come due As of February 28 2013 we had access to the

borrowing capacity under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility of $48.4 million The amount available under the

Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility is reduced by $18.7 million for letters of credit related to tenant improvement

obligations at the 64 66 Perimeter Center Buildings

Long-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

Upon the expiration of our Initial Offering we expect that our primary source of capital will include proceeds from

secured or unsecured financings from banks and other lenders and net cash flows from operations We anticipate

funding distributions to our stockholders from net cash flows from operations however we may periodically borrow

funds on short-term basis to fund distributions as well

We expect that our principal demands for capital will include capital improvements for our properties repayment of

debt operating expenses including interest expense on any outstanding indebtedness distributions and redemptions

of shares of our common stock under our share redemption plan

In determining how and when to allocate cash resources in the future we will initially consider the source of the cash

Substantially all cash raised from operations after payments of periodic operating expenses and certain capital

expenditures required for our office and industrial properties is anticipated to be used to pay distributions to

stockholders Therefore to the extent that cash flows from operations are lower distributions are anticipated to be

lower as well Substantially all net proceeds generated from the sale of shares under our distribution reinvestment plan

or from debt financing will be available to fund capital expenditures and to pay down outstanding borrowings

We have policy of keeping our debt at no more than 50% of the cost of our assets before depreciation referred to

as the debt-to-real-estate-asset ratio however we may borrow in excess of this threshold under some circumstances

Over the short term we expect to temporarily draw on the Wells Core Revolving Facility to bridge timing differences

that may arise between our ability to raise equity under the Initial Offering and to fund suitable acquisition prospects

Additionally we may place long-term debt on our existing properties and those properties acquired in the future The

percentage of short-term and 1ongterm debt used in our capital structure will depend on various factors to be considered

in the sole discretion of our board of directors including but not limited to our ability to raise equity proceeds under

dividends paid to Less than 9%2
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our Initial Offering the availability of properties meeting our investment criteria the availability of debt and changes

in the cost of debt financing Over the long term we intend to maintain debt levels less than the 50% debt-to-real-

estate-asset ratio As of December 31 2012 our debt-to-real-estate-asset ratio was approximately 38% Our charter

limits us from incurring debt in relation to our net assets in excess of 100% however we may temporarily exceed this

limit upon the approval of majority of our Conflicts Committee Our board of directors may determine that it is in

our best interest to pursue leveraged acquisitions in order to enable us to more quickly acquire diversified portfolio

of office and industrial properties As result we are not able to anticipate with any degree of certainty what our debt

levels will be in the short term In accordance with our charter if our board of directors and our Conflicts Committee

approves any borrowing in excess of our leverage limitation we will disclose such approval to our stockholders in our

next quarterly report along with an explanation fOr such excess

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As of December 31 2012 our contractual obligations were as follows

Payments Due By Period

2014-2015 2016-2017 ThereafterContractual Obligations Total 2013

Debt obligations 220900000 $120900000 $100000000

Estimated interest on debt ob1igations 16882133 4428823 306715 4.146595

Capital lease obligations42 115000000 115000000

Tenant allowances 13666106 13666106

Total 366448239 18094929 $129206715 $104146595 $115000000

Interest obligations on variable-rate debt are measured at the rate at which they are effectively fixed with interest rate

swaps where applicable Interest obligations on all other debt are measured at the contractual rate We elected to accrue

interest based on the LIBOR Rate on January 22013 under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility and expect to continue

to elect the LIBOR Rate Therefore future interest obligations are calculated based on the LIBOR Rate

Amounts include principal obligations only We will incur an additional $98.3 million in interest
expense on these

obligations over the term of the leases The principal obligation and related interest expense will be completely offset by

our investments in development authority bonds and their corresponding interest income see Note and Note to the

accompanying consolidated financial statements

Distributions

Our board of directors typically declares distributions to common stockholders in advance of period spanning

approximately one quarter using daily record dates In determining the rate of stockholder distributions our board

considers number of factors including the current and future levels of cash available to fund stockholder distributions

which is dependent upon the operations of our properties the rate at which we are able to raise equity proceeds under

the Initial Offering and the rate at which we invest these proceeds in combination with borrowings in new properties

In making this determination our board of directors also considers our current and future projected financial condition

our capital expenditure requirements our expectations of future sources of liquidity and the annual distribution

requirements necessary to maintain our status as REIT under the Code

When evaluating the amount of current and future cash available to fund distributions to stockholders we consider

net cash provided by operating activities as measured in the accompanying GAAP-basis consolidated statements of

cash flows We also consider certain costs that were incurred for the purpose of generating future earnings and

appreciation in value over the long term including acquisition-related costs In accordance with Accounting Standards

Codification Topic 805 Business Combinations ASC 805 we expense all acquisition-related costs as incurred

Acquisition-related costs include acquisition fees payable to the Advisor see Note 10 to our accompanying consolidated

financial statements customary third-party costs such as legal fees and expenses costs of appraisals accounting fees

and expenses title insurance premiums and other closing costs As provided in the prospectus for the Initial Offering
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acquisition-related costs are funded with cash generated from the sale of common stock in the initial Offering and

therefore are not funded with cash generated from operations

Generally our policy is to pay distributions based on current and projected cash flow from operations after giving

consideration to amounts excluded from cash flow from operations under GAAP but paid for out of proceeds from

our Initial Offering such as acquisition-related expenses Over the long term we expect to fund stockholder distributions

principally with cash flow from operations reflecting the impact of ASC 805 however in the short term we may

also temporarily use borrowings to fund stockholder distributions during our fundraising and property acquisition

stages to bridge the gap between timing differences that may arise between the rate at which we are able to raise

equity proceeds under the Initial Offering and the rate at which we are able to deploy equity into income-producing

properties and iito the extent we declare distributions in anticipation of cash flow that we expect to receive during

later period and we pay these distributions in advance of our actual receipt of these funds

Our board of directors elected to maintain the previously established stockholder distribution rate in an amount equal

to $0.004 1100.4110 cents per day per share 6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original share price for stockholders

of record from December 16 2011 through and including December 15 2012 These quarterly distributions were paid

in March June September and December of 2012

For the year ended December 31 2012 we paid total distributions to stockholders including amounts reinvested in

our common stock pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan of approximately $19.9 million During the same

period net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $16.0 millionincluding approximately $5.8 million

of acquisition-related costs paid with proceeds from our Initial Offering but which under GAAP reduced net cash

from operating activities As result the distributions paid to common stockholders for the year ended December 31

2012 as described above were funded with approximately $16.0 million reflecting the impact ofASC 805 as described

above from cash provided by operating activities and the remaining amount of approximately $3.9 million was funded

from our borrowings Borrowings have been used to fund distributions to the extent that acquisition-related costs have

reduced net cash flows from operating
activities

Our board of directors has declared distributions for stockholders of record from December 162012 through March 15

2013 in an amount equal to $0.004 110 0.4 110 cents per day per share or 6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original

share price we expect to pay these distributions in March2013 Our board of directors also has declared distributions

for stockholders of record from March 162013 through June 152013 in an amount equal to $0.004 1100.4110 cents

per day per share or 6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original share price we expect to pay this distribution in

June 2013

Results of Operations

Overview

We commenced active operations on September 292010 and acquired two properties during the year ended December

31 2010 and six properties during the year ended December 31 2011 During the year ended December 31 2012 we

acquired five additional properties bringing our total portfolio to 13 properties as of December 312012 Accordingly

the results of operations presented for the years
ended December 3120122011 and 2010 are not directly comparable

Our results of operations are not indicative of those expected in future periods as we expect that rental revenue tenant

reimbursements property operating costs asset and property management fees depreciation amortization and general

and administrative expenses will increase in future periods as result of owning the assets acquired during 2012 for

an entire year

Comparison of the year ended December 31 2012 versus the year ended December 31 2011

Rental income and tenant reimbursements increased to $38.2 million and $9.8 million respectively for the year ended

December 312012 from approximately $13.5 million and $5.0 millionrespectively for the year ended December 31
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2011 primarily as result of the growth in the portfolio during 2012 and owning the properties acquired in 2011 for

full year Rental income and tenant reimbursements are expected to continue to increase in future periods as compared

to historical periods as result of owning the assets acquired during 2012 for an entire year

Property operating costs and asset and property management fees increased to approximately $14.9 million and $4.0

million respectively for the year ended December 31 2012 from approximately $6.6 million and $1.4 million

respectively for the year ended December 31 2011 primarily as result of the growth in the portfolio during 2012

and owning the properties acquired in 2011 for full year Property operating costs and management fees represent

approximately 39% and 43% of total revenues for the years
ended December 312012 and 2011 respectively Property

operating costs and management fees measured in
gross dollars are expected to continue to increase in future periods

as compared to historical periods as result of owning the assets acquired during 2012 for an entire year

Depreciation of real estate and amortization of lease costs increased to approximately $12.4 million and $7.7 million

respectively for the year ended December 31 2012 from approximately $4.5 million and $2.5 million respectively

for the year ended December 31 2011 primarily as result of the growth in the portfolio during 2012 and owning the

properties acquired in 2011 for full year Amortization increased at higher rate than depreciation primarily because

the period of amortization for lease assets is the respective lease term which is generally shorter than the useful life

over which buildings and improvements are depreciated Depreciation and amortization are expected to continue to

increase in future periods as compared to historical periods due to owning the assets acquired during 2012 for an

entire year

General and administrative expenses increased to approximately $4.8 million for the year ended December 31 2012

from approximately $2.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 primarily due to increases in salary expense

reimbursements payable to the Advisor as result of acquiring additional properties during 2011 and 2012 General

and administrative expenses as percentage of total revenues decreased to approximately 10% for the year ended

December 31 2012 from approximately 16% for the year December 31 2011 We anticipate future general and

administrative expenses to continue to increase as measured in
gross

dollars and to decrease as percentage of total

revenues as compared to historical periods as result of owning the assets acquired during 2012 for an entire year

Acquisition fees and expenses decreased to approximately $5.9 million for the year ended December 31 2012 from

approximately $6.8 million for the year ended December 31 2011 primarily due to reduction in costs paid to third

parties including transfer taxes in connection with the closing of five properties acquired in 2012 as compared to six

properties acquired in 2011 partially offset by an increase in the amount of equity proceeds raised under our Initial

Offering during 2012 We incur acquisition fees equal to 2% of gross offering proceeds raised Please refer to Note 10

of our accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional details We expect future acquisition fees and

expenses to decrease as result of the expected termination of our Initial Offering on June 10 2013 pursuant to its

terms

Interest expense increased to approximately $6.7 million for the year ended December 31 2012 from approximately

$3.8 million for the year ended December 31 2011 primarily due to an increase in our average outstanding

borrowings in connection with the acquisition of properties during 2011 and 2012 ii incurring non-cash interest

related to the Amended Regions Credit Facility and the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility and iii and the write

off of approximately $408000 of deferred financing costs related to the extinguishment of debt in connection with the

closing of the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility in September 2012 We anticipate interest expense will increase in

future periods as result of incurring interest expense on capital lease obligations for full period The increase in

interest expense related to capital lease obligations will be offset by an increase in interest and other income from

related investments in development authority bonds

Our net loss decreased to approximately $8.5 million for the year ended December 312012 from approximately $10.1

million for the year ended December 31 2011 primarily due to decrease in our real estate operating loss of $4.5

million as result of the growth in the portfolio during 2011 and 2012 offset by an increase in our interest expense

of approximately $2.9 million We sustained net loss for the year ended December 31 2012 as result of incurring
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real estate operating loss of approximately $1.7 million and interest expense of approximately $6.7 million Our real

estate operating loss was primarily due to incurring acquisition fees and expenses of approximately $5.9 millionwhich

were funded with proceeds raised from the sale of our common stock under the Initial Offering Interest expense was

incurred in connection with borrowings used to finance the purchase of real estate properties in 2011 and 2012 We

leveraged our real estate acquisitions with substantial short-term and medium-term borrowings as result of

consummating the acquisitions in advance of raising investor proceeds under our Initial Offering Our net loss per

share improved to $0.63 for the year ended December 31 2012 from approximately $2.26 for the year ended

December 312011 due to an approximate decrease in net loss of$ 1.6 million and an approximate increase inweighted-

average shares outstanding of 9.1 million shares During our offering stage we anticipate that future net income loss

and net income loss per share will vary primarily based on the level of equity proceeds raised and the rate at which

we are able to invest such proceeds in income-generating real estate assets or repay our outstanding debt obligations

Comparison of the year ended December 31 2011 versus the year ended December 31 2010

Rental income and tenant reimbursements increased to approximately $13.5 million and $5.0 million respectively

for the year ended December 31 2011 from approximately $0.7 million and $0.1 million respectively for the year

ended December 31 2010 primarily as result of the growth in the portfolio during 2011 and owning the properties

acquired in 2010 for full year

Property operating costs and asset and property management fees increased to approximately $6.6 million and $1.4

millionrespectively for the year ended December 312011 from approximately $0.2 million and $44123 respectively

for the year ended December 31 2010 primarily as result of the growth in the portfolio during 2011 and owning the

properties acquired in 2010 for full year Property operating costs and management fees represented approximately

43% and 36% of total revenues for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Depreciation of real estate and amortization of lease costs increased to approximately $4.5 million and $2.5 million

respectively for the year ended December 31 2011 from approximately $0.3 million and $0.1 million respectively

for the year ended December 31 2010 primarily as result of the growth in the portfolio during 2011 and owning the

properties acquired in 2010 for full year Amortization increased at higher rate than depreciation primarily because

the period of amortization for lease assets is the respective lease term which is generally shorter than the useful life

over which buildings and improvements are depreciated

General and administrative expenses increased to approximately $2.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011

from approximately $0.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010 primarily due to increases in salary expense

reimbursements payable to the Advisor as result of acquiring additional properties during 2011 and owning the

properties acquired in 2010 for full year General and administrative expenses as percentage of total revenues

decreased to approximately 16% for the year ended December 31 2011 from approximately 92% for the year ended

December 31 2010

Acquisition fees and expenses increased to approximately $6.8 million for the year ended December 31 2011 from

approximately $0.7 million for the year ended December 312010 primarily due to an increase in the amount of equity

proceeds raised under our Initial Offering We incur acquisition fees equal to 2% of gross offering proceeds raised

Please refer to Note 10 of our accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional details

Interest expense increased to approximately $3.8 million for the year ended December 31 2011 from approximately

$0.3 million for the year ended December 312010 primarily due to an increase in our average outstanding borrowings

in connection with the acquisition of properties during 2011

Our net loss increased to approximately $10.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011 from approximately $1.5

million for the year ended December 31 2010 primarily due to an approximately $5.0 million increase in our real

estate operating loss and an increase in our interest expense of approximately $3.5 million We sustained net loss for

the year ended December 31 2011 as result of incurring real estate operating loss of approximately $6.2 million

and interest expense of approximately $3.8 million Our real estate operating loss was primarily due to incurring
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acquisition fees and expenses of approximately $6.8 million which were funded with proceeds raised from the sale

of our common stock under the Initial Offering Interest expense was incurred in connection with borrowings used to

finance the purchase of real estate properties in 2010 and 2011 We leveraged our real estate acquisitions with substantial

short-term and medium-term borrowings as result of consummating the acquisitions in advance of raising investor

proceeds under our Initial Offering Our net loss per share improved to $2.26 for the year ended December 31 2011

from approximately $13.48 for the year ended December 312010 due to an approximate increase in weighted-average

shares outstanding of 4.3 million shares offset by the increase in our net loss

Funds From Operations Modified Funds From Operations and Adjusted Funds From Operations

Funds from Operations FF0as defined by NAREIT is non-GAAP financial measure considered by some equity

REITs in evaluating operating performance FF0 is computed as GAAP net income loss adjusted to exclude

extraordinary items gains or losses from property sales including deemed sales and settlements of pre-existing

relationships depreciation and amortization of real estate assets impairment write-downs for depreciable real estate

and adjustments for earnings allocated to noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships We believe it is useful

to consider GAAP net income adjusted to exclude the above-mentioned items when assessing our performance because

excluding the above-described adjustments highlights the impact on our operations from trends in occupancy rates

rental rates operating costs general and administrative expenses and interest costs which may not be readily apparent

from GAAP net income alone

We do not however believe that FF0 is the best measure of the sustainability of our operating performance Changes

in GAAP accounting and reporting rules that were put into effect after the establishment of NAREITs definition of

FF0 in 1999 result in the inclusion of number of items in FF0 that do not correlate with the sustainability of our

operating performance e.g acquisition expenses and amortization of certain in-place lease intangible assets and

liabilities among others Therefore in addition to FF0 we present the additional supplemental measures described

below

The Investment Program Association IPA an industry trade group has standardized measure known as modified

funds from operations MFFO which the IPA has recommended as supplemental measure for publicly registered

non-listed REITs Because MFFO excludes costs that are considered more reflective of investing activities and other

non-operating items included in FF0 and also excludes acquisition fees and expenses that affect operations only in

periods in which properties are acquired MFFO can provide on going-forward basis an indication of the sustainability

of operating performance after the period in which properties are acquired By providing MFFO we believe we are

presenting useful information that assists investors and analysts to better assess the sustainability of our operating

performance after our Initial Offering has been completed and our properties have been acquired We also believe that

MFFO is recognized measure of sustainable operating performance by the non-listed REIT industry Further we

believe MFFO is useful in comparing the sustainability of our operating performance after our offering and acquisition

stages are completed with the sustainability of the operating performance of other real estate companies that are not

as involved in acquisition activities

We define MFFO non-GAAP measure consistent with the IPAs Guideline 2010-01 Supplemental Performance

MeasureforPubliclyRegistered Non-ListedRElTs ModfiedFundsfrom Operations or the Practice Guideline issued

by the IPA in November 2010 Our MFFO calculation complies with the IPAs Practice Guideline and excludes the

following income and expenses

Additional amortization of lease assets liabilities GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of intangible lease

assets liabilities diminishes predictably over time and thus requires these charges to be recognized ratably

over the respective lease terms Like real estate values market lease rates in aggregate have historically risen

or fallen with local market conditions As result management believes that by excluding these charges

MFFO provides useful supplemental information that is reflective of the performance of our real estate

investments and that is useful in assessing the sustainability of our operations
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Straight-line rental income In accordance with GAAP rental payments are recognized as income on straight-

line basis over the terms of the respective leases Thus for any given period straight-line rental income

represents the difference between the contractual rental billings for that period and the average rental billings

over the lease term for the same length of time This application results in income recognition that can differ

significantly from the current contract terms By adjusting for this item we believe MFFO provides useful

supplemental information reflective of the realized economic impact of our leases which is useful in assessing

the sustainability of our operating performance

Real estate acquisition-related costs Acquisition expenses are incurred for investment purposes i.e to

promote portfolio appreciation and generation of future earnings over the long term and therefore do not

correlate with the ongoing operations of our portfolio We believe that excluding these items from MFFO

provides supplemental information indicative of the sustainability of our operations This exclusion also

improves comparability of our reporting periods and of our company with other real estate operators

Publicly registered non-listed REITs typically have significant amount of acquisition activity and are substantially

more dynamic during their initial years of investment and operation than they are during the period after their capital

raising activities have ceased As disclosed in our offering prospectus we will use the proceeds raised under the Initial

Offering to acquire properties repay indebtedness used to acquire properties and increase our borrowing capacity

We have opted to use substantial short-term and medium-term borrowings to acquire properties in advance of raising

equity proceeds under the Initial Offering in order to more quickly build larger and more diversified portfolio In

conjunction with certain acquisitions we may enter into master lease agreement with the seller whereby the seller

is obligated to pay us rent pertaining to certain spaces impacted by existing rental abatements As such in addition to

the above items prescribed by IPAs Practice Guideline we also adjust for noncash interest expense and master lease

proceeds Noncash interest expense represents amortization of financing costs paid to secure short-term and medium-

term borrowings GAAP requires these items to be recognized over the remaining term of the respective debt instrument

which may not correlate with the ongoing operations of our real estate portfolio In accordance with GAAP master

lease proceeds are recorded as an adjustment to the basis of real estate assets at the time of acquisition and accordingly

are not included in revenues net income or FF0 This application results in income recognition that can differ

significantly from current contract terms Management believes that the measure resulting from an adjustment to MFFO

for noncash interest expense and master lease proceeds which we refer to as adjusted funds from operations AFFO
provides supplemental information that allows for better comparability of reporting periods and ii is reflective of

the realized economic impact of our leases including master leases that is useful in assessing the sustainability of

our operating performance We also believe that AFFO is useful in comparing the sustainability of our operating

performance after our offering and acquisition stages are completed with the sustainability of the operating performance

of other real estate companies that are not as involved in significant acquisition and short-term borrowing activities

Presentation of this information is intended to provide useful information to investors as they compare the operating

performance of different REITs although it should be noted that not all REITs calculate FF0 MFFO and AFFO the

same way so comparisons with other REITs may not be meaningful FF0 MFFO and AFFO should be reviewed in

conjunction with other GAAP measurements as an indication of our performance

52



Reconciliations of our net loss to FF0 MFFO and AFFO for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 are

provided below

Years ended December 31

Reconciliation of Net Loss to FF0 MFFO and AFFO

2012 2011 2010

Adjustments

Depreciation of real estate assets 12422906 44845 18 252225

Amortization of lease-related costs 7695172 2480.235 88.795

Total Funds From Operations adjustments 20118078 6964753 341020

Funds From Operations 11633555 3106915 1.202603

Other income expenses included in net loss that do not correlate with

our operations

Additional amortization of lease assets 2159349 1019736 22000

Straight-line rental income 3056134 793750 38515

Real estate acquisition-related costs 5912302 6784605 668855

Total Modified Funds From Operations adjustments 5015517 7010591 652340

Modified Funds From Operations 16649072 3903676 550263

Noncash interest expense 2092435 1199324 152990

Master lease proceeds 1324949 535038

Adjusted Funds From Operations 20066456 5638038 397273

Portfolio Information

As of December 31 2012 we owned 13 office properties located in eight states As of December 31 2012 our office

properties were approximately 99.5% leased with an average lease term remaining of approximately seven years

As of December 31 2012 our highest tenant concentrations were as follows

Tenant
2012 Annualized

Base Rent1

Percentage of

2012 Annualized

Base Rent

State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co 10262309 15%

Time Warner Cable 9072894 13%

GE Oil Gas Inc 6781028 10%

Science Applications International Corporation 6086446 9%

T-Mobile West 5668181 8%

37870858 55%

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 312012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent before rent abatements

53



As of December 31 2012 our highest tenant industry concentrations were as follows

Percentage of

2012 Annualized Rentable 2012 Annualized

industry Base Rent Square Feet Base Rent

Communication 17976095 688310 26%

Insurance Carriers 17912247 780970 26%

Business Services 7700093 255009 11%

Electronic And Other Electric Equipment 6781028 184082 10%

Chemicals And Allied Products 4922503 164839 7%

55291966 2073210 80%

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 31 2012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent before rent abatements

As of December 31 2012 our highest geographic concentrations by MSA were as follows

Percentage of

2012 Annualized Rentable 2012 Annualized

MSA Base Rent Square Feet Base Rent

Houston 12944037 386335 19%

Atlanta 12.267891 583.690 18%

Chicago 9498928 336952 13%

Northern Virginia 9096813 268240 13%

Dallas 8735886 403809 12%

52543555 1979026 75%

Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 312012

multiplied by 12 months The amount reflects total rent before rent abatements

For more information on our portfolio see Item

Election as REIT

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under the Code and have operated as such beginning with our taxable year

ended December 31 2010 To qualify as REIT we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements

including requirement to distribute at least 90% of our adjusted taxable income as defined in the Code to our

stockholders computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and by excluding our net capital gain As

REIT we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on income that we distribute to our stockholders If we

fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will then be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income

for that year and for the four years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the IRS grants us relief

under certain statutory provisions Such an event could materially adversely affect our net income and net cash available

for distribution to our stockholders However we believe that we are organized and operate in such manner as to

qualify for treatment as REIT for federal income tax purposes

Wells Core TRS is wholly owned subsidiary of Wells Core Office Income REIT that is organized as Delaware

limited liability company We have elected to treat Wells Core TRS as taxable REIT subsidiary We may perform

additional noncustomaiy services for tenants of buildings that we own through Wells Core TRS including any real

estate or non-real-estate-related services however any earnings related to such services are subject to federal and state

income taxes In addition for us to continue to qualify as REIT we must limit our investments in taxable REIT

subsidiaries to 25% of the value of our total assets
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and

the tax basis of assets and liabilities at the enacted rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse

Deferred tax expense or benefits are recognized in the financial statements according to the changes in deferred tax

assets or liabilities between years Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets when it becomes

more likely than not that such assets or portions thereof will not be realized No provision for federal income taxes

has been made in our accompanying consolidated financial statements other than the provision relating to Wells Core

TRS as we made distributions in excess of taxable income for the periods presented

We are subject to certain state and local taxes related to property operations in certain locations which have been

provided for in our accompanying consolidated financial statements We record interest and penalties related to

uncertain tax positions if any as general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of

operations

Inflation

We are exposed to inflation risk as income from long-term leases is intended to be the primary source of our cash

flows from operations As is true for our current leases we anticipate that there will be provisions in the majority of

our future tenant leases that are intended to protect us from and mitigate the risk of the impact of inflation These

provisions could include rent steps reimbursement billings for operating expense pass-through charges real estate tax

and insurance reimbursements on per-square-foot basis or in some cases annual reimbursement of operating expenses

above certain per-square-foot allowance However due to the long-term nature of the leases the leases may not reset

frequently enough to fully cover inflation

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies have been established to conform with GAAP The preparation of financial statements in

conformity with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies including

making estimates and assumptions These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure

of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and

expenses during the reporting periods If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to

various transactions had been different it is possible that different accounting policies would have been applied thus

resulting in different presentation of the financial statements Additionally other companies may utilize different

estimates that may impact the comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses

The critical accounting policies outlined below have been discussed with members of the audit committee of the board

of directors

Investment in Real Estate Assets

We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable assets We consider the period

of future benefit of the assets to determine the appropriate useful lives These assessments have direct impact on net

income The estimated useful lives of our assets by class are as follows

Buildings 40
years

Building improvements 5-25 years

Site improvements 15 years

Tenant improvements Shorter of lease term or economic life

Intangible lease assets Lease term
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Evaluating the Recoverability of Real Estate Assets

We continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of the real

estate and related intangible assets of both operating properties and properties under construction in which we have

an ownership interest either directly or through investments in joint ventures may not be recoverable

When indicators of potential impairment are present that suggest that the carrying amounts of real estate assets and

related intangible assets may not be recoverable we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether

the respective carrying values will be recovered through the estimated undiscounted future operating cash flows

expected from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition In the event that such expected undiscounted future

cash flows do not exceed the carrying values we adjust the carrying value of the real estate assets and related intangible

assets to the estimated fair values pursuant to the property plant and equipment accounting standard for the impairment

or disposal of long-lived assets and recognize an impairment loss Estimated fair values are calculated based on the

following information in order of preference depending upon availability recently quoted market prices for the

subject property or highly comparable properties under sufficiently active and normal market conditions or ii the

present
value of future cash flows including estimated residual value We have determined that there has been no

impairment in the carrying value of our real estate assets and related intangible assets to date

Projections of expected future operating cash flows require that we estimate future market rental income amounts

subsequent to the expiration of current lease agreements property operating expenses the number of months it takes

to re-lease the property and the number of years the property is held for investment among other factors The subjectivity

of assumptions used in the future cash flow analysis including discount rates could result in an incorrect assessment

of the propertys fair value and could result in the misstatement of the carrying value of our real estate assets and related

intangible assets and net income loss

Allocation of Purchase Price ofAcquired Assets

Upon the acquisition of real properties we allocate the purchase price of properties to tangible assets consisting of

land and building site improvements and identified intangible assets and liabilities including the value of in-place

leases based in each case on our estimate of their fair values

The fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property which includes land and building are determined by

valuing the property as if it were vacant and the as-if-vacant value is then allocated to land and building based on

our determination of the relative fair value of these assets We determine the as-if-vacant fair value of property using

methods similar to those used by independent appraisers Factors we consider in performing these analyses include

an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and costs to

execute similar leases including leasing commissions and other related costs In estimating carrying costs we include

real estate taxes insurance and other operating expenses during the expected lease-up periods based on current market

demand

Intangible Assets and Liabilities Arising from In-Place Leases Where We Are the Lessor

As further described below in-place leases where we are the lessor may have values related to direct costs associated

with obtaining new tenant opportunity costs associated with lost rentals that are avoided by acquiring an in-place

lease tenant relationships and effective contractual rental rates that are above or below market rates

Direct costs associated with obtaining new tenant including commissions tenant improvements and other

direct costs are estimated based on managements consideration of current market costs to execute similar

lease Such direct costs are included in intangible lease origination costs in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases

The value of opportunity costs associated with lost rentals avoided by acquiring an in-place lease is calculated

based on the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases over market absorption period
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for similar lease Such opportunity costs are included in intangible lease assets in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases

The value of tenant relationships is calculated based on the expected renewal of lease or the likelihood of

obtaining particular tenant for other locations Values associated with tenant relationships are included in

intangible lease assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over

the remaining terms of the respective leases

The value of effective rental rates of in-place leases that are above or below the market rates of comparable

leases is calculated based on the present value using discount rate that reflects the risks associated with the

leases acquired of the difference between the contractual amounts to be received pursuant to the in-place

leases and iimanagements estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases measured

over period equal to the remaining terms of the leases The capitalized above-market and below-market lease

values are recorded as intangible lease assets or liabilities and are amortized as an adjustment to rental income

over the remaining terms of the respective leases

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we had the following gross intangible in-place lease assets and liabilities

As of December 31 2012

Intangible Lease Assets

Intangible Intangible

Above-Market Lease Below-Market

In-Place Absorption Origination In-Place Lease

Lease Assets Period Costs Costs Liabilities

Gross 14046354 52657411 27081019 1798374

Accumulated Amortization 3010440 6901920 3176459 147370

Net 11035914 45755491 23904560 1651004

As of December 31 2011

Intangible Lease Assets

Intangible Intangible

Above-Market Lease Below-Market

In-Place Absorption Origination In-Place Lease

Lease Assets Period Costs Costs Liabilities

Gross 12272836 25957852 1603740 1l05083

Accumulated Amortization 970181 1690655 876.870 29746

Net 11302655 24267197 10726870 1075337

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized the following amortization of intangible lease

assets and liabilities

Intangible Intangible

Above-Market Absorption Lease Below-Market

In-Place Period Origination In-Place Lease

Lease Assets Costs Costs Liabilities

Intangible Lease Assets

2012 2ç 5333188 23

-- 4$ 21
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The remaining net intangible lease assets and liabilities as of December 31 2012 will be amortized as follows

Intangible Lease Assets
Intangible Intangible

Above-Market Absorption Lease Below-Market

In-Place Period Origination In-Place Lease

Lease Assets Costs Costs Liabilities

For the year ending December 31

2013 2334650 7518.960 3489793 346.243

014 315385 7383644 3486073 346243

2015 2.196.627 7.143411 3367226 343.758

2016 2149989 6708133 3.249.563 115146

2017 106016 5.288.517 2.782250 115146

Thereafter 933247 11.712826 7529655 384.468

Total 1035.91 45755491 23904560 1.651.004

Weighted-Average Amortization Period years years years years

Evaluating the Recoverability of Intangible Assets and Liabilities

The values of intangible lease assets and liabilities are determined based on assumptions made at the time of acquisition

and have defined useful lives which correspond with the lease terms There maybe instances in which intangible lease

assets and liabilities become impaired and we are required to expense the remaining asset or liability immediately or

over shorter period of time Lease restructurings including but not limited to lease terminations and lease

extensions may impact the value and useful life of in-place leases In-place leases that are terminated partially

terminated or modified will be evaluated for impairment if the original in-place lease terms have been modified In

situations where the discounted cash flows of the modified in-place lease stream are less than the discounted cash

flows of the original in-place lease stream we reduce the carrying value of the intangible lease assets to reflect the

modified lease terms and recognize an impairment loss For lease extensions of in-place leases that are executed more

than one year prior to the original lease expiration date the useful life of the intangible lease assets and liabilities will

be extended over the new lease term with the exception of those components such as lease commissions and tenant

allowances which have been renegotiated for the extended term Renegotiated in-place lease components such as

lease commissions and tenant allowances will be amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the new

lease term

Related-Party Transactions and Agreements

We have entered into agreements with the Advisor WIS and Wells Management whereby we pay certain fees and

reimbursements to the Advisor WIS and Wells Management for acquisition fees selling commissions dealer-manager

fees property management fees asset management fees reimbursement of other offering costs and reimbursement

of operating costs See Note 10 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein for discussion

of the various related-party agreements and the related transactions fees and reimbursements For the year ended

December 31 2012 the aggregate amount of fees and expense reimbursements incurred by us pursuant to related-

party transactions and agreements with the Advisor WIS Wells Management and their affiliates including fees or

changes paid to the Advisor WIS Wells Management and their affiliates by third parties doing business with us was

approximately $35.1 million of which approximately $17.0 million was re-allowed to participating broker/dealers by

WIS

See Item Assertion of Legal Action Against Related-Parties for information regarding pending litigation against

among others Piedmont RUT Leo Wells III our President and director Wells Capital an affiliate of the Advisor

Wells Management our property manager certain affiliates of WREF the directors of Piedmont REIT and certain

individuals who formerly served as officers or directors of Piedmont REIT prior to the closing of the internalization

transaction of Piedmont REIT on April 16 2007
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Commitments and Contingencies

We are subject to certain commitments and contingencies with regard to certain transactions Refer to Note Note

and Note 10 of our accompanying consolidated financial statements for further explanation Examples of such

commitments and contingencies include

obligations under capital leases

commitments under existing lease agreements

the Advisory Agreement

the Dealer-Manager Agreement and

the Master Property Management Leasing and Construction Agreement

Subsequent Events

Sale of Shares of Common Stock

From January 2013 to February 28 2013 we raised approximately $25.4 million through the issuance of

approximately 1.0 million shares of our common stock under the Initial Offering As of February 28 2013
approximately 181.8 million shares remained available for sale to the public under the Initial Offering exclusive of
shares available under the DRP

Declaration ofDistributions

On February 28 2013 our board of directors declared distributions for stockholders of record from March 16 2013

through June 15 2013 in an amount equal to $0.004110 0.4110 cents per day per share We expect to pay this

distribution in June 2013

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 305e

ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and supplementary data filed as part of this
report are set forth beginning on page F-i of this

report

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There were no disagreements with our independent registered public accountants during the years ended December 31
2012 2011 or 2010

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Managements Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of management including the Principal

Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure

controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 3a- 15e under the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by
this report Based upon that evaluation the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that

our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report in

providing reasonable level of assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods in SEC rules and

59



forms including providing reasonable level of assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in such

reports is accumulated and communicated to our management including our Principal Executive Officer and our

Principal
Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required

disclosure

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Rules 3a- 5f and 5d- 15f under the Exchange Act as process designed by or under the supervision

of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer and effected by our management and other personnel

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

disposition of our assets

provide reasonable assurance that the transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with GAAP and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and/or members of the board of directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of our assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of human error

and the circumvention or overriding of controls material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on timely

basis In addition projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls

maybecome inadequate because of changes and conditions or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures

may deteriorate Accordingly even internal controls determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance

that the information required to be disclosed in reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized

and represented
within the time periods required

Our management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting at December 31 2012

To make this assessment we used the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting
described in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

Based on this assessment our management believes that our system of internal control over financial reporting met

those criteria and therefore our management has concluded that we maintained effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2012

This report
does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control

over financial reporting Managements report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm

pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only managements

report in this report

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter
ended

December 31 2012 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over

financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

For the quarter ended December 31 2012 all items required to be disclosed under Form 8-K were reported under

Form 8-K

On March 11 2013 our board of directors appointed Brian Davis to serve as our Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer See Part III Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance for more information

about Mr Davis
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Nomination of Directors

General

We do not have standing nominating committee However our Conflicts Committee which is composed of all of

our independent directors is responsible for identifying and nominating replacements for vacancies among our

independent director positions Our board of directors believes that the primary reason for creating standing

nominating committee is to ensure that candidates for independent director positions can be identified and their

qualifications assessed under process free from conflicts of interest with us Because nominations for vacancies in

independent director positions are handled exclusively by committee composed only of independent directors our

board of directors has determined that the creation of standing nominating committee is not necessary Nominations

for replacements for vacancies among non-independent director positions are considered and made by the full board

We do not have charter that governs the director nomination process

Board Membership Criteria

The board of directors annually reviews the appropriate experience skills and characteristics required of board

members in the context of the then-current membershipof the board This assessment includes in the context of the

perceived needs of the board at that time issues ofknowledge experiencejudgment and skills such as an understanding

of commercial real estate capital markets the securities brokerage industry commercial banking insurance business

leadership accounting and financial management No one person is likely to possess deep experience in all of these

areas Therefore the board of directors has sought diverse board of directors whose members collectively possess

these skills and experiences Other considerations include the candidates independence from conflict with us and the

ability of the candidate to attend board meetings regularly and to devote an appropriate amount of effort in preparation

for those meetings It also is expected that independent directors nominated by the board of directors shall be individuals

who possess reputation and hold or have held positions or affiliations befitting director of large publicly held

company and are or have been actively engaged in their occupations or professions or are otherwise regularly involved

in the business professional or academic community Moreover as required by our charter at least one of our

independent directors must have at least three
years

of relevant real estate experience and each director who is not an

independent director must have at least three years of relevant experience demonstrating the knowledge and experience

required to successfully acquire and manage the type of assets we acquire and manage

Selection ofDirectors

The board of directors and Conflicts Committee are responsible for selecting their own nominees and recommending
them for election by the stockholders Pursuant to our charter however the independent directors through the Conflicts

Committee must nominate replacements for any vacancies among the independent director positions All director

nominees then stand for election by the stockholders annually

In order to be considered by the board of directors or the Conflicts Committee recommendations made by stockholders

must be submitted within the timeframe required to request proposal to be included in the proxy materials In evaluating

the persons recommended as potential directors the board of directors and the Conflicts Committee will consider each

candidate without regard to the source of the recommendation and take into account those factors that the board of

directors and the Conflicts Committee determine are relevant Stockholders may directly nominate potential directors

without the recommendation of the board of directors or the Conflicts Committee by satisfying the procedural

requirements for such nomination as provided in Article II Section 2.12 of our Bylaws Any stockholder mayrequest

copy of our Bylaws free of charge by calling our Client Services department at 1-800-557-4830
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Executive Officers and Directors

We have provided below certain information about our executive officers and directors Each director will serve until

the next annual meeting of our stockholders or until his successor has been duly elected and qualified The next election

of our board members is anticipated to be held at our annual meeting in 2013

Year First

Became

DirectorName Positions Age

Leo Wells 111 President chairman of the Board and Director 69 2010

Douglas Williams Executive Vice President Secretary and Treasurer 62 N/A

Brian Davis Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 43 N/A

Frank Bishop Director 69 2010

Harvey Tarpley Director 72 2010

Brian Davis was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer on March 11 2013

Effective February 272013 Randall Fretz resigned as our Senior Vice President Mr Fretz had served as our Senior

Vice President since July 2007 Mr Fretz did not have any disagreements with management on any matters related to

our operations polices or practices

Leo Wells III has served as our President since our inception in July 2007 and as the chairman of the board of

directors since July 2010 Mr Wells previously served as one of our directors from July 2007 to June 2010 as well

He has also served as director of Columbia since July 2003 and as President of Wells Timberland REIT Inc Wells

Timber since September 2005 Mr Wells served as President of Columbia from July 2003 to July 2010 Mr Wells

served as director of Wells Timber since March 2012 and from September 2005 to June 2007 He is also the sole

stockholder sole director and Treasurer of WREF which he founded in 1984 and served as WREFs President from

1984 to February 2012 WREF directly or indirectly owns Wells Capital the Advisor Wells Management WIS Wells

Associates Inc Wells Development Corporation and Wells Asset Management Inc He is also the sole director

President and Treasurer of Wells Management Wells Capital Wells Development Corporation company organized

in 1997 to develop real estate properties and Wells Asset Management Inc company organized in 1997 which

serves as an investment adviser to the Wells Family of Real Estate Funds Since 1997 to October 2010 Mr Wells

served as the President and trustee of the Wells Family of Real Estate Funds an open-end management company

organized as an Ohio business trust which sponsored two publicly offered mutual funds He is the President Treasurer

and director of Wells Associates Inc real estate brokerage and investment company formed in 1976 and

incorporated
in 1978 From 1998 to May 2007 Mr Wells served as President and Chairman of the Board of Piedmont

REIT formerly known as Wells Real Estate Investment Trust Inc public REIT sponsored by WREF until April 16

2007 when Piedmont REIT acquired entities affiliated with WREF and became self-advised REIT From July 2006

to March 2008 Mr Wells was the President and director of Institutional REIT Inc Institutional REIT prior

public program sponsored by WREF

Mr Wells was real estate salesman and property manager from 1970 to 1973 for Roy Warren Company an

Atlanta-based real estate company and he was associated from 1973 to 1976 with Sax Gaskin Real Estate Company

during which time he became Life Member of the Atlanta Board of Realtors Million Dollar Club From 1980 to

February 1985 he served as Vice President of Hill-Johnson Inc Georgia corporation engaged in the construction

business Mr Wells holds Bachelor of Business Administration degree in economics from the University of Georgia

Mr Wells is member of the Financial Planning Association FPA

On August 26 2003 Mr Wells and WIS entered into Letter of Acceptance Waiver and Consent AWC with the

National Association of Securities Dealers Inc NASD relating to alleged rule violations The AWC set forth the

NASDs findings that WIS and Mr Wells had violated conduct rules relating to the provision of noncash compensation

of more than $100 to associated persons of NASD member firms in connection with their attendance at the annual

educational and due diligence conferences sponsored by WIS in 2001 and 2002 Without admitting or denying the
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allegations and findings against them WIS and Mr Wells consented in the AWC to various findings by the NASD
which are summarized in the following paragraph

In 2001 and 2002 WIS sponsored conferences attended by registered representatives who sold its real

estate investment products WIS also paid for certain expenses of guests of the registered representatives

who attended the conferences In 2001 WIS paid the costs of travel to the conference and meals for

many of the guests and paid the costs of playing golf for some of the registered representatives and

their guests WIS later invoiced registered representatives for the cost of golf and for travel expenses
of guests but was not fully reimbursed for such In 2002 WIS paid for meals for the guests WIS also

conditioned most of the 2001 conference invitations on attainment by the registered representatives of

predetermined sales goal for WIS products This conduct violated the prohibitions against payment
and receipt ofnoncash compensation in connection with the sales of these products contained inNASDs
Conduct Rules 2710 2810 and 3060 In addition WIS and Mr Wells failed to adhere to all of the

terms of their written undertaking made in March 2001 not to engage in the conduct described above
thereby failing to observe high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of

trade in violation of NASD Conduct Rule 2110

WIS consented to censure and Mr Wells consented to suspension from acting in principal capacity with an NASD
member firm for one year WIS and Mr Wells also agreed to the imposition of joint and several fine in the amount
of $150000 Mr Wells one-year suspension from acting in principal capacity ended on October 2004

Among the most important factors that led to the board of directors recommendation that Mr Wells serve as our

director are Mr Wells leadership skills integrity judgment knowledge of our company and the Advisor commercial

real estate expertise knowledge of the retail securities brokerage industry and public company director experience

Douglas Williams has served as our Executive Vice President Secretary and Treasurer since our inception in July

2007 He also served as one of our directors from July 2007 to June 2010 Mr Williams was the Executive Vice

President Secretary and Treasurer of Columbia from 2003 until February 28 2013 and has served as director of

Columbia since 2003 Mr Williams has served as the Executive Vice President Secretary and Treasurer of Wells

Timber since September 2005 Mr Williams served as director of Wells Timber from September 2005 to June 2007
He is also Senior Vice President of the Advisor Mr Williams has also served as Vice President of WREF and Vice

President and Secretary of Wells Asset Management Inc since 1999 Mr Williams is Vice President Chief Financial

Officer and Treasurer of WIS our dealer-manager He was director of WIS from 1999 to 2012 From 2000 to 2007
Mr Williams served as Executive Vice President Secretary and Treasurer and director of Piedmont REIT Mr
Williams also served as Executive Vice President Secretary Treasurer and director of Institutional REIT from 2006

to 2008

From 1996 until joining WREF in 1999 Mr Williams served as Vice President and Controller of OneSource Inc
leading supplier ofjanitorial and landscape services where he was responsible for corporate-wide accounting activities

and financial analysis Mr Williams was employed by ECC International Inc supplier to the paper industry and to

the paint rubber and plastic industries from 1982 to 1995 While at ECC Mr Williams served in number of key

accounting positions including Corporate Accounting Manager U.S Operations Division Controller Americas

Region and Corporate Controller America/Pacific Division Prior tojoining ECC and for one year after leaving ECC
Mr Williams was employed by Lithonia Lighting manufacturer of lighting fixtures as Cost and General Accounting

Manager and Director of Planning and Control Mr Williams started his professional career as an auditor for

predecessor firm of KPMG LLP Mr Williams is member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

and the Georgia Society of Certified Public Accountants and is licensed with F1INRA as Financial and Operations

Principal Series 27 and 63 Mr Williams received Bachelor of Arts degree from Dartmouth College and Masters

of Business Administration degree from Amos Tuck School of Graduate Business Administration at Dartmouth College

Brian Davis was appointed as our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer on March 11 2013 Mr
Davis has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Wells Timberland Management Organization
LLC since March 2009 and as Vice President from October 2007 through March 2009 Since February 2012 Mr
Davis has served as the Chief of Strategic Product Management for WREF with the responsibility for the strategic

63



planning development and leadership of the corporate finance organization In addition Mr Davis has served as Senior

Vice President of Wells Capital since February 2013

From 2000 until joining WREF in 2007 Mr Davis was client manager for the Asset Based Lending Group at Atlanta-

based SunTrust Bank where he was responsible for the origination and structuring of asset-based lending relationships

developed from SunTrusts existing client base and prospects Mr Davis previously held positions with CoBank ACB

of Denver Colorado as Capital Markets Officer from 1998 to 2000 and with SunTrust as Portfolio Manager for the

AgriFoods Specialty Lending Group from 1994 to 1998 Mr Davis received his Bachelor of Business Administration

and Master of Business Administration from Ohio University

Frank Bishop has served as one of our directors since June 2010 Since 2001 Mr Bishop has served as the General

Partner of AL III Management Co an investment partnership
with focus on venture funds From 1987 until 2001

Mr Bishop served as member of the senior management that built INVESCO into one of the largest publicly traded

global investment management companies with shareholder equity valued at approximately $4.5 billion at the time

of his retirement in 2001 During Mr Bishops tenure at 1NVESCO he served as the President and Chief Executive

Officer of both 1NVESCO Capital Management and INVESCO Inc the North American operating subsidiary of

AMVESCAP PLC which later became INVESCO Ltd NYSE IVZ In his role at 1NVESCO Mr Bishop served

as director to multiple INVESCO management and advisory companies including 1NVESCO Realty Advisors

INVESCO Management Research and PRIMCO Capital Management

Since June 2007 Mr Bishop has served as director of Factor Trust Inc global credit reporting agency company

Since February 2010 he has served as director of Neothermal Energy start-up energy venture company He also

currently serves on the advisory boards of several companies including the following since January 2005 iP2BIZ

an early-stage investment company focusing on proprietary
intellectual property since June 2005 the Quality Group

software training company since 2004 Engent Inc specialized hi-tech company and since July 2009 the Seraph

Group an angel fund investment company In addition to Mr Bishops extensive financial services experience from

2001 to June 2005 Mr Bishop served as an adjunct professor at Clemson University and the acting Chief Investment

Officer for the Clemson University Endowment Mr Bishop received his Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering

with honors from Clemson University and has completed the Financial Executive Program at the Darden Business

School of the University of Virginia

Among the most important factors that led to the board of directors recommendation that Mr Bishop serve as one of

our directors are Mr Bishops leadership skills integrity judgment investment expertise public company director

experience and independence from management and our sponsor and its affiliates

Harvey Tarpley has served as one of our directors since June 2010 From 1978 to 2010 Mr Tarpley was partner

at Tarpley Underwood an accounting firm that he co-founded in 1978 Mr Tarpley retired from Tarpley Underwood

in December 2010 At Tarpley Underwood he focused primarily on profit enhancement analysis consulting on

management matters and assisting with income and estate tax matters From 1978 to 1990 Mr Tarpley managed the

accounting and auditing practice where he was engaged by manufacturing distribution construction retail service

and nonprofit companies In 2011 Tarpley Underwood merged with Windham Brannon with the expanded firm

continuing as Windham Brannon P.C CPAs

Mr Tarpley was member of the Council of the American Institute for Certified Public Accountants from 1992 to

1995 From 1991 to 1992 he served as President of the Georgia Society of CPAs GSCPA Prior to that Mr Tarpley

served as the Treasurer Vice President Director-at-Large and President-Elect for the GSCPA from 1987 to 1991

From 1980 to 2006 he served on various task forces and committees of the GSCPA including the following the

Uniform Accountancy Act Task Force the Task Force on Restructuring the GSCPA the Accounting Career Awareness

committee the Accounting and Auditing Review committee the Insurance Advisory committee the Personnel

committee and the Meritorious Service Award committee In July 2009 he began his second term as member of

the Meritorious Service Award committee In June 2009 Mr Tarpley was awarded the GSCPAs Meritorious Service

Award the highest award given by the GSCPA Since June 2008 Mr Tarpley has served as member of the board

of directors of the GSCPA Educational Foundation and served as the President from June 2011 through May 2012

Additionally from 1992 to 2000 Mr Tarpley served as member of the board of directors of the Accountants

Professional Liability Insurance Group of Monterey California serving as President of that board from 1997 to 2000
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Mr Tarpley holds Bachelor of Business Administration degree concentration in accounting from The University

of Georgia

Among the most important factors that led to the board of directors recommendation that Mr Tarpley serve as one of

our directors are Mr Tarpleys leadership skills integrity judgment accounting and financial management expertise

and independence from management and our sponsor and its affiliates

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Under U.S securities laws directors executive officers and any persons beneficially owning more than 10% of our

common stock are required to report their initial ownership of the common stock and most changes in that ownership

to the SEC The SEC has designated specific due dates for these reports and we are required to identify in this annual

report on Form 10-K those persons who did not file these reports when due Based solely on our review of copies of

the reports filed with the SEC and written representations of our directors and executive officers we believe all persons

subject to these reporting requirements filed the reports on timely basis in 2012

Code of Ethics

We have adopted Code of Ethics that applies to all of our executive officers and directors including but not limited

to our principal executive officer and principal financial officer Our Code of Ethics may be found at http//

www weliscore re it corn

Audit Committee

Our board of directors has separately designated standing audit committee established in accordance with Section

a58A of the Exchange Act The Audit Committees primary function is to assist our board of directors in fulfilling

its responsibilities by selecting the independent auditors to audit our financial statements reviewing with the

independent auditors the plans and results of the audit engagement approving the audit and overseeing our independent

auditors reviewing the financial information to be provided to our stockholders and others reviewing the independence

of the independent public accountants considering the adequacy of fees and reviewing the system of internal control

over financial reporting which our management has established and our audit and financial reporting process The

Audit Committee also is responsible for overseeing our compliance with applicable laws and regulations and for

establishing procedures for the ethical conduct of our business Our audit committee currently consists of Harvey

Tarpley Chairman and Frank Bishop Each of the members of the Audit Committee is independent as defined

by the New York Stock Exchange NYSE The board has determined that Mr Tarpley qualifies as the Audit

Committee financial expert within the meaning of SEC rules

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation of Executive Officers

Our executive officers do not receive compensation directly from us for services rendered to us Our executive officers

are also officers of the Advisor and its affiliates and are compensated by these entities in part for their services to us

Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement the Advisor is responsible for providing our day-to-day management

subject to the authority of our board of directors See Item 13 for discussion of the fees paid and expenses reimbursed

to the Advisor and its affiliates in connection with managing our operations

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement we reimburse the Advisor for expenses incurred on our behalf including the

salaries of certain of our executive officers allocated to us based on time spent by such executive officers providing

services to us Messrs Williams and Fretzs efforts on our behalf are only part of their responsibilities as employees

of WREF and its affiliates and consequently their salaries are allocated among several programs for reimbursement

purposes However we are only requircd to reimburse the Advisor for organization and offering costs in an amount

up to 2.0% of gross offering proceeds under the advisory agreement When reimbursing the Advisor for organization

and offering expenses subject to the above-described limitation we first reimburse all costs incurred to third parties

65



to date once all third-party costs have been reimbursed we then reimburse the Advisor for personnel expenses

including expenses related to our allocable portion of the salaries of our executive officers incurred to date Prior to

2012 portions of Messrs Williams and Fretz salaries were allocated to us based only on time spent providing services

to us for offering-related activities which are classified as organizational
and offering expenses For the years

ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 no portion of Messrs Williams and Fretzs salaries related to offering-related

activities were reimbursed by us as we incurred significantly less organization and offering expenses than that incurred

by the Advisor during those years See Note 10 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for more

information on the amount of organizational and offering expenses incurred by us and the Advisor For the year ended

December 31 2012 portion of Mr Fretzs salary was allocated to us based on time spent providing services for

operating-related activities however the amount allocated to us was less than $100000 for Mr Fretz

Compensation of Directors

We have provided below certain information regarding compensation paid to or earned by our directors during the

2012 fiscal year

Fees Earned

or Paid in CashName Total

Leo Wells Iii

John A1exander2 54500 54500

Frank Bishop 63000 63000

Harvey Tarpley 68000 68000

Directors who are also our executive officers do not receive compensation for services rendered as director

Effective December 31 2012 John Alexander resigned from our board of directors Mr Alexander did not have any

disagreements with management on any matters related to our operations polices or practices

Cash Compensation

We pay each of our independent directors

an annual retainer of $32000

$2500 per each regularly scheduled board meeting attended

$2500 per
each regularly scheduled Audit Committee meeting attended the Audit Committee chairman

receives an additional $500 for each meeting attended in person

$1500 per
each regularly scheduled meeting of other committees attended the chairman of each committee

receives an additional $500 for each meeting attended in person

$250 per each special board meeting attended whether held in person or by telephone conference

In addition we have reserved 500000 shares of common stock for future issuance pursuant to awards that may be

granted under the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan described below All directors receive reimbursement of reasonable

out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings of the board of directors

2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan

We have adopted 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan which includes the 2010 Independent Directors Compensation

Plan The incentive plan is intended to attract and retain officers directors advisors and consultants considered

essential to our long-range success by offering these individuals an opportunity to participate in our growth through

awards in the form of or based on our common stock The incentive plan authorizes the granting of awards in the

following forms
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options to purchase shares of our common stock which may be nonstatutory stock options or incentive stock

options under the Code

stock appreciation rights or SARs which give the holder the right to receive the difference between the fair

market value per share of common stock on the date of exercise over the SAR grant price

performance awards which are payable in cash or stock upon the attainment of specified performance goals

restricted stock which is subject to restrictions on transferability and other restrictions set by the Conflicts

Committee

restricted stock units which give the holder the right to receive shares of stock or the equivalent value in cash

or other property in the future which right is subject to certain restrictions and to risk of forfeiture

deferred stock units which give the holder the right to receive shares of stock or the equivalent value in cash

or other property at future time

dividend equivalents which entitle the participant to payments equal to any dividends paid on the shares of

stock underlying an award and

other stock-based awards at the discretion of the Conflicts Committee including unrestricted stock grants

All awards must be evidenced by written agreement with the participant which will include the provisions specified

by the Conflicts Committee We may not issue options or warrants to purchase our capital stock to the Advisor our

directors or officers or any of their affiliates except on the same terms as such options or warrants are sold to the

general public We may not issue options or warrants at exercise prices less than the fair market value of the underlying

securities on the date of grant and not for consideration which may include services that in the judgment of the

Conflicts Committee has market value less than the value of such option or warrant on the date of grant Any options

or warrants we issue to the Advisor our directors or officers or any of their affiliates shall not exceed an amount equal

to 10% of our outstanding capital stock on the date of grant

The Conflicts Committee will administer the incentive plan with sole authority to select participants determine the

types of awards to be granted and all of the terms and conditions of the awards including whether the grant vesting

or settlement of awards may be subject to the attainment of one or more performance goals Awards will not be granted

under the incentive plan if the grant vesting or exercise of the awards would jeopardize our status as REIT under

the Code or otherwise violate the ownership and transfer restrictions imposed under our charter Unless otherwise

determined by the Conflicts Committee no award granted under the incentive plan will be transferable except through

the laws of descent and distribution or except in the case of an incentive stock option pursuant to qualified domestic

relations order

We have reserved an aggregate number of 500000 shares for issuance pursuant to awards that maybe granted under

the incentive plan In the event of transaction between us and our stockholders that causes the per-share value of

our common stock to change including without limitation any stock distribution stock split spin-off rights offering

or large nonrecurring cash dividend the share authorization limits under the incentive plan will be adjusted

proportionately and the Conflicts Committee must make such adjustments to the incentive plan and awards as it deems

necessary in its sole discretion to prevent dilution or enlargement of rights immediately resulting from such transaction

In the event of stock split stock dividend or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of common

stock into lesser number of shares the authorization limits under the incentive plan will automatically be adjusted

proportionately and the shares then subject to each award will automatically be adjusted proportionately without any

change in the aggregate purchase price

The term of the incentive plan is 10 years The board of directors or the Conflicts Committee may terminate the

incentive plan at any time but termination will have no adverse impact on any award that is outstanding at the time

of the termination The board of directors or the Conflicts Committee may amend the incentive plan at any time but

no amendment to the incentive plan will be effective without the approval of our stockholders if such approval is

required by any law regulation or rule applicable to the incentive plan No termination or amendment of the incentive
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plan may without the written consent of the participant reduce or diminish the value of an outstanding award The

Conflicts Committee may amend or terminate outstanding awards but such amendment or termination may require

consent of the participant Unless approved by our stockholders the original term of an option may not be extended

Unless permitted by the anti-dilution provisions of the incentive plan the exercise price of an outstanding option may

not be reduced directly or indirectly without approval by our stockholders

No awards have been issued under the incentive plan and we currently have no plans to issue any awards under the

incentive plan

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

We have adopted the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan which includes the 2010 Independent Directors Compensation

Plan and which collectively we refer to as the incentive plan The incentive plan is intended to attract and retain

officers directors advisors and consultants considered essential to our long-range success by offering these individuals

an opportunity to participate in our growth through awards in the form of or based on our common stock Although

we do not currently intend to hire any employees any employees we may hire in the future would also be eligible to

participate in our incentive plan We have reserved an aggregate number of 500000 shares for issuance pursuant to

awards that may be granted under the incentive plan The incentive plan was approved prior to commencement of the

Initial Offering by our board of directors and sole stockholder on June 2010 No awards have been issued under

the incentive plan and we currently have no plans to issue any awards under the incentive plan

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table shows as of Februaiy 28 2013 the amount of our common stock beneficially owned unless

otherwise indicated by any person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5%of the outstanding

shares of common stock our directors our executive officers and all of our directors and executive officers

as group

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Percentage

Leo Wells Hl 20306

Douglas Williams 221

FrankM Bishop 3355

Harvey Tarpley

All officers and directors as graup 23882

Less than 1% of the outstanding common stock

Address ofeach named beneficial owner is do Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc 6200 The Corners Parkway Norcross

Georgia 30092-3365

None of the shares are pledged as security

Includes 8000 shares of common stock purchased by WREF from us at $25.00 per share Mr Wells owns all of the

shares of the capital stock of WREF and therefore is deemed to be beneficial owner of WREFs 8000 shares of our

stock

Brian Davis was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer on March 11 2013 and does not own

any shares of our common stock

Amount and Nature of

Beneficial Ownership2
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ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Transactions with Related Persons

Our charter requires our Conflicts Committee to review and approve all transactions involving our affiliates and us

Prior to entering into transaction with an affiliate that is not covered by the Advisory Agreement with the Advisor

majority of the Conflicts Committee must conclude that the transaction is fair and reasonable to us and on terms and

conditions not less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties In addition our Code of Ethics

lists examples of types of transactions with affiliates that would create prohibited conflicts of interest Under the Code

of Ethics our officers and directors are required to bring potential conflicts of interest to the attention of the chairman

of our Audit Committee promptly The Conflicts Committee has reviewed the material transactions between our

affiliates and us since the beginning of 2012 as well as any such currently proposed transactions Set forth below is

description of such transactions and the committees report on their fairness

Our Relationship with WREF and the Advisor

Our executive officers Leo Wells III and Douglas Williams are also executive officers of WREF our sponsor

and the manager of our Advisor Mr Wells is the sole director of WREF and indirectly owns 100% of its equity The

Advisor provides our day-to-day management Among the services provided by the Advisor under the terms of the

Advisory Agreement are the following

real estate acquisition services

asset management services

real estate disposition services

property management oversight services and

administrative services

The Advisor is at all times subject to the supervision of our board of directors and has only such authority as we may

delegate to it as our agent The term of our Advisory Agreement runs through June 10 2013 From January 2012

through the most recent date practicable which was December 31 2012 we have compensated the Advisor as set

forth below

We have incurred acquisition fees payable to the Advisor equal to 2.0% of
gross proceeds from our public offerings

of common stock for services in connection with the selection purchase development or construction of real property

We incur such acquisition fees upon receipt of proceeds from the sale of shares Acquisition fees from January 12012

through December 31 2012 totaled approximately $4.3 million

Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement we are obligated to reimburse the Advisor for organization and offering

costs including legal accounting printing personnel expenses and other accountable offering costs equal to the

lesser of actual costs incurred or 2.0% of the total gross offering proceeds raised As of December 31 2012 the Advisor

had incurred aggregate organization and offering expenses on our behalf of approximately $18.5 million As of

December 31 2012 cumulative other offering costs of approximately $8.8 million have been incurred and charged to

additional paid-in capital related to the Initial Offering which represents approximately 2.0% of cumulative gross

proceeds raised under the Initial Offering The remaining approximately $9.7 million will be charged to additional

paid-in capital and will become payable to the Advisor as additional offering proceeds are raised under the Initial

Offering

For asset management services in 2012 we generally paid monthly asset management fees equal to one-twelfth of

0.75% of the cost of all of our properties and our investments in joint ventures Asset management fees incurred from

January 2012 through December 31 2012 totaled approximately $3.0 million
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Additionally we reimburse the Advisor for all costs and expenses it incurs in fulfilling its asset management and

administrative duties which may include wages salaries taxes insurance benefits information technology legal and

travel and other out-of-pocket expenses of employees engaged in ongoing management administration operations

and marketing functions on our behalf We do not however reimburse the Advisor for personnel costs in connection

with services for which the Advisor receives acquisition fees or real estate commissions Administrative reimbursements

from January 2012 through December 31 2012 totaled approximately $2.8 million

We pay the Advisor debt financing fee equal to 0.20% annually of the total capacity of all third-party financing

arrangements whether or not drawn originated obtained or otherwise assumed by or for us including mortgage

debt lines of credit and other term indebtedness provided that notwithstanding the annual nature of the fee in no

event will we pay an aggregate amount of more than 0.5 0% of the amount available under any particular financing

arrangement or refinancing of such arrangements Debt financing fees from January 2012 through December 31

2012 totaled approximately $0.7 million

The Conflicts Committee considers our relationship with the Advisor during 2012 to be fair The Conflicts Committee

evaluated the performance of the Advisor and the compensation paid to the Advisor in connection with its decision to

renew the Advisory Agreement through June 10 2013 The Conflicts Committee believes that the amounts payable

to the Advisor under the Advisory Agreement are similar to those paid by other publicly offered unlisted externally

advised REITs and that this compensation was appropriate in order for the Advisor to provide the desired level of

services to us and our stockholders The Conflicts Committee bases its evaluation of the Advisor on factors such as

the amount of the fees paid to the Advisor in relation to the size composition and performance of our portfolio

the success of the Advisor in generating opportunities that meet our investment objectives rates charged to

other REITs and to investors other than REITs by advisors performing the same or similar services additional

revenues realized by the Advisor and its affiliates through their relationship with us including loan administration

underwriting or broker commissions servicing engineering inspection and other fees the quality and extent of

service and advice furnished by the Advisor the performance of our portfolio including income conservation or

appreciation of capital frequency of problem investments and competence in dealing with distress situations and

the quality of our portfolio relative to the investments generated by the Advisor for its own account

Our Relationship with WIS

Mr Wells indirectly owns 100% of our dealer-manager WIS WIS is generally entitled to receive selling commissions

of 7% of aggregate gross offering proceeds except that no selling commissions are paid in connection with the sale

of our shares under the DRP WIS reallows 100% of these selling commissions to broker/dealers participating in the

Initial Offering From January 12012 through December 312012 we incurred selling commissions net of discounts

of approximately $14.2 million to WIS of which approximately 100% was reallowed to participating broker/dealers

WIS also generally earns dealer-manager fee of 2.5% of aggregate gross offering proceeds WIS may reallow to

participating broker/dealers up to 1.5% of aggregate gross offering proceeds There is no dealer-manager fee for shares

sold under the DRP WIS earned dealer-manager fees net of discounts from us of approximately $5.2 million from

January 2012 through December 31 2012 of which approximately $2.8 million was reallowed to participating

broker/dealers

The Conflicts Committee believes that this arrangement with WIS is fair The compensation payable to WIS reflects

our belief that such selling commissions and dealer-manager fees will maximize the likelihood that we will be able to

achieve our goal of acquiring large diversified portfolio of high-quality income-producing properties

Our Relationship with Wells Management

On August 11 2010 our property management leasing and construction management agreement with Wells

Management was executed The management agreement was renewed on August 11 2012 for an additional one-year

term Mr Wells indirectly owns 100% of Wells Management Inconsideration for supervising the management leasing

and construction activities of certain of our properties Wells Management may receive the following fees and

reimbursements
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property management fees negotiated for each property managed by Wells Management typically this fee is

equal to percentage of the
gross monthly income collected for that property for the preceding month

leasing commissions for new renewal or expansion leases entered into with respect to any property for which

Wells Management serves as leasing agent equal to percentage as negotiated for that property of the total

base rental and operating expenses to be paid to us during the applicable term of the lease provided however

that no commission shall be payable as to any portion of such term beyond 10 years

construction management fees for projects overseen by Wells Management such as capital projects new

construction and tenant improvements which fees are to be market-based and negotiated for each property

managed by Wells Management and

other fees as negotiated with the addition of each specific property covered under the agreement

The Conflicts Committee believes that these arrangements with Wells Management are fair and reasonable and on

terms and conditions no less favorable to us than those available from unaffihiated third parties Property management

leasing and construction fees incurred from January 2012 through December 31 2012 were approximately $0.6

million

Director Independence

Although our shares are not listed for trading on any national securities exchange majority of the members of our

board of directors and all of the members of the Audit Committee and our Conflicts Committee are independent as

defined by the NYSE The NYSE standards provide that to qualify as an independent director in addition to satisfying

certain bright-line criteria the board of directors must affirmatively determine that director has no material relationship

with us either directly or as partner stockholder or officer of an organization that has relationship with us The

board of directors has determined that Frank Bishop and Harvey Tarpley each satisfies the bright-line criteria

and that none of them has relationship with us that would interfere with such persons ability to exercise independent

judgment as member of the board

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Independent Auditors

During the year ended December 31 2012 Deloitte Touche LLP served as our independent auditor and Deloitte

Tax LLP provided certain domestic and other services Deloitte Touche LLP has served as our independent auditor

since our formation

Preapproval Policies

The Audit Committees charter imposes duty on the Audit Committee to preapprove all auditing services performed

for us by our independent auditors as well as all permitted nonaudit services including the fees and terms thereof in

order to ensure that the provision of such services does not impair the auditors independence Unless type of service

to be provided by the independent auditors has received general preapproval it will require specific preapproval

by the Audit Committee

All requests or applications for services to be provided by the independent auditor that do not require specific

preapproval by the Audit Committee will be submitted to management and must include detailed description of the

services to be rendered Management will determine whether such services are included within the list of services

that have received the general preapproval of the Audit Committee The Audit Committee will be informed on timely

basis of any such services rendered by the independent auditors

Requests or applications to provide services that require specific preapproval by the Audit Committee will be submitted

to the Audit Committee by both the independent auditors and the Principal Financial Officer and must include joint

statement as to whether in their view the request or application is consistent with the SECs rules on auditor

independence The Chairman of the Audit Committee has been delegated the authority to specifically preapprove all
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services not covered by the general preapproval guidelines up to an amount not to exceed $75000 per occurrence

Amounts requiring preapproval in excess of $75000 per occurrence require specific preapproval by all members of

the Audit Committee prior to engagement of our independent auditors All amounts specifically preapproved by the

Chairman of the Audit Committee in accordance with this policy are to be disclosed to the full Audit Committee at

the next regularly scheduled meeting

All services rendered by Deloitte Touche LLP and Deloitte Tax LLP for the year ended December 31 2012 were

preapproved in accordance with the policies and procedures described above

Principal Auditor Fees

The Audit Committee reviewed the audit and nonaudit services performed by our principal auditor as well as the fees

charged by the principal auditor for such services In its review of the nonaudit service fees the Audit Committee

considered whether the provision of such services is compatible with maintaining the independence of the principal

auditor The aggregate fees billed to us for professional accounting services including the audit of our annual financial

statements by our principal auditor for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 are set forth in the table below

2012 2011

Audit fees 360000 297000

Audit-related fees

Tax fees 38525 61425

All other fees
____________ ____________

Total fees 398525 358425

For purposes of the preceding table the principal auditors professional fees are classified as follows

Audit fees These are fees for professional services performed for the audit of our annual financial statements

and the required review of quarterly financial statements and other procedures performed by the principal

auditor in order for them to be able to form an opinion on our consolidated financial statements These fees

also cover services that are normally provided by independent auditors in connection with statutory
and

regulatory filings or engagements including reviews of our financial statements included in the registration

statements as amended related to our public offerings of common stock Audit fees are presented for the

period to which the audit work relates

Audit-related fees These are fees for assurance and related services that traditionally are performed by

independent auditors that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the financial

statements such as due diligence related to acquisitions and dispositions attestation services that are not

required by statute or regulation internal control reviews and consultation concerning financial accounting

and reporting standards

Tax fees These are fees for all professional services performed by professional staff in our independent

auditors tax division except those services related to the audit of our financial statements These include fees

for tax compliance tax planning and tax advice including federal state and local issues Services also may

include assistance with tax audits and appeals before the IRS and similar state and local agencies as well as

federal state and local tax issues related to due diligence Tax fees are presented for the period in which the

services were provided

All other fees These are fees for any services not included in the above-described categories including

assistance with internal audit plans and risk assessments
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

list of the financial statements contained herein is set forth on page F-i hereof

Schedule III Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation

Information with respect to this item begins on page S-i hereof Other schedules are omitted because of the

absence of conditions under which they are required or because the required information is given in the financial

statements or notes thereto

The Exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed on the Exhibit Index attached hereto

See above

See above
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Welts Core Office Income RIEIT Inc

Registrant

Dated March 11 2013 By Is Leo Wells III

Leo Wells III

President and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons

on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacity as and on the date indicated

Signature Title Date

Is Frank Bishop Independent Director

Frank Bishop March 112013

/5/ Harvey Tarpley Independent Director

Harvey Tarpley March 11 2013

Is Leo Wells
President and Director

Leo Wells III Principal Executive Officer March 11 2013

Is Douglas Williams
Executive Vice President Secretary and Treasurer

Douglas Williams Principal Financial and Accounting Officer March 11 2013
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EXHIBIT INDEX TO
2012 FORM 10-K OF

WELLS CORE OFFICE INCOME REIT INC

The following documents are filed as exhibits to this report Exhibits that are not required for this report are omitted

Exhibit No Description

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K dated July 20 2010 and filed July 26 2010

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Companys Current Report on
Form 8-K filed February 22 2011

3.3 Articles of Amendment incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Companys Post-Effective

Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-il No 333-16341 filed October 11 2011

4.1 Form of Subscription Agreement incorporated by reference to Appendix to the Companys prospectus filed

as part of the Companys Post-Effective Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-il

No 333-163411 filed August 10 2011

4.2 Statement regarding restrictions on transferability of shares of common stock to appear on stock certificate or

to be sent upon request and without charge to stockholders issued shares without certificates incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companys Pre-Effective Amendment No to the Registration Statement on

Form S-li No 333-163411filedJune4 2010

4.3 Distribution Reinvestment Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix to the Companys prospectus filed

as part of the Companys Post-Effective Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-li

No 333-163411 filed July 19 2011

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement between the Company and Wells Core Office Income

REIT Advisory Services LLC formerly Wells Real Estate Advisory Services III LLC dated June 2011

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Post-Effective Amendment No to the

Registration Statement on Form S-li No 333-163411 filed July 19 2011

10.2 Advisory Agreement between the Company and Wells Core Office Income REIT Advisory Services LLC
dated June 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Post-Effective Amendment
No to the Registration Statement on Form S-li No 333-163411 filed July 2012

10.3 Advisory Agreement between the Company and Wells Core Office Income REIT Advisory Services LLC
dated August 20 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form

0-Q filed with the Commission on August 13 2012
iO.4 Advisory Agreement between the Company and Wells Core Office Income REIT Advisory Services LLC

dated September 19 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 2012

0.5 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan adopted by the Company on June 2010 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 11 2010
10.6 Master Property Management Leasing and Construction Management Agreement between the Company and

Wells Management Company Inc dated August ii 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 2010

Letter Agreement dated August 12 2011 between Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc and Wells Core Office

Income Advisory Services LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Companys Post-Effective

AmendmentNo to the Registration Statement on Form S-il No 333-163411 filed October 112011

10.8 Agreement of Sale between Brandywine Acquisition Partners LP and Arep South Lake at Dulles Corner LLC
dated November 23 2011 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Companys Post-Effective

Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-li No 333-16341 filed April 2012
10.9 Seventh Amendment to Agreement of Sale by and between Brandywine Acquisition Partners LP and Wells

Core REIT South Lake at Dulles LLC dated February 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34

to the Companys Post-Effective Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-il

No 333-i63411 filed April 92012
10.10 Assignment and Assumption of Purchase Agreement by and between Arep South Lake at Dulles Corner LLC

and Wells Core REIT South Lake at Dulies LLC dated February 2012 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit iO.35 to the Companys Post-Effective Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-i

No 333-l634ii filed April 92012
10.11 Agreement of Sale between JBC Funds Parkway North LLC and Wells Core REIT Four Parkway North

LLC dated July 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit iO.36 to the Companys Post-Effective

Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-il No 333-i634i filed July 2012

75



10.12 Credit Agreement dated September 26 2012 by and among Wells Core Office Income Operating Partnership

L.P Regions Bank U.S Bank National Association JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A PNC Bank National

Association Union Bank N.A Fifth Third Bank Regions Capital Markets and J.P Morgan Securities LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q filed with the

Commission on November 2012

10.13 2002 Master Agreement dated September 26 2012 by and among Wells Core Office Income Operating

Partnership L.P and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 2012

10.14 Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between RB 64 PCE LLC RB 66 PCE LLC and Wells Core REIT 64

66 Perimeter Center LLC dated December 28 2012

10.15 Lease Agreements by and between RB 64 PCE LLC RB 66 PCE LLC and Dunwoody Development

Authority dated June 2012

10.16 Taxable Revenue Bonds by and between RB 64 PCE LLC RB 66 PCE LLC and Dunwoody Development

Authority dated June 15 2012

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act

Rules 3a-14a as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act

Rules 3a- 14a as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to

18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 Third Amended and Restated Share Redemption Program incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the

Companys Form 0-Q filed with the Commission on August 13 2012

101 .INS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

l01.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Filed herewith

Represents management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Furnished with this Form 10-K
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc and subsidiaries the

Company as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive income

loss stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 Our audits also

included the consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15a2 These financial statements and the

financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

the financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement The Company is not required to have nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal

control over financial reporting Our audits included consideration ofintemal control over financial reporting as basis for designing

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also includes

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation

We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Wells Core

Office Income REIT Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion such financial statement schedule when considered in relation to

the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

/5/ Deloitte Touche LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 112013
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WELLS CORE OFFICE INCOME REIT INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Assets

at ta1 assets at cost

Land 55733041 29662900

Intangible lease assets less accumulated amortization of $9912360 and $2660836 as

of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 56791405 35569852

instructkm dprores 2317 _________
Total real estate assets 527340923 291343325

Cash nnd da quiva1ents 195$% 4666
Tenant receivables net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $22890 and $0 as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 4184620 1793734

Prepat4xpensesatd other assets 678421 St4217

Deferred financing costs less accumulated amortization of $2279275 and $1299125 as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 3685305 3329017

Deferred lease costs less accumulated amortization of $352176 and $102806 as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 7067817 1472946

1nvstiens in ekent authorit bords 1150000410 ____________
Total assets 697817542 314170975

Liabilities

fredit 6p00O00 85OO0OOO

Notes payable 124900000 35954895

xspayable and acrud erpenses 5444O
Accrued capital expenditures and deferred lease costs 5385438 1457626

Pue iG ftllte 9153w 684914

Distributions payable 1075114 583537

Defedmeueie 3929626 2127t52

Intangible lease liabilities less accumulated amortization of $147370 and $29746 as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 1651004 1075337

Obhigaituis under capifal leases 1I5000O0O ____________
Total liabilities 356894845 132297881

Commitments and Contingencies Note

Redeemable Common Stock 5080308 2538167

Stockholders Equity

200198600Additional paid-in capital

Cuniulative disfrbutonsin xcss of earnms 4Z470 I4142
Redeemable common stock 5080308 2538167

Accuninlated other conprhnsive loas .15351

Total stockholders equity 335842389 179334927

Tota1Iabthties deemab1e comtan stock and stocichokiets elwty 697817542 3a411O975

See accompanying notes
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WELLS CORE OFFICE INCOME REIT INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31

Reveflues

Rental income

Tenant rembursents

Other property income

Expenses

2012 2011 2010

38199442 13520603 656991

.9771959 .4998794 98398

39714

48Oi1i15 18519397 755389

Loss before income tax expense

Income tax expense _______________ _______________ _______________

_________ _________ _________

Phar itet Jss -basic and ddued 26 48

Weighted-average common shares outstanding basic and diluted 13542837 4452157 114526

See accompanying notes

Property operating costs 14887050 226126

Asset and property management fees

R1ated-patty

Other

1epreçiation

Amortization

enerai and administrative

Acquisition fees and expenses

Real estate operating loss

tber hteouie expense

Interest expense

Other income

36OOO57 1280985 28664

354890 157122 15459

12422906 4484518 252225

7695172 2480235 88795

481414 .2943673

5912302 6784605 668855

49652 24697$95 197543

1675408 6178498 1220046

6708077 3804185 319956

73278 3289 18

6634799 3800896 319938

31O2O1 9793.94 539984

174316 92274 3639
84$423 IOOrl668 143623
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WELLS CORE OFFICE INCOME REIT INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSiVE INCOME LOSS

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net lss 484523 10071668 1543623

Other comprehensive loss

Market value adjustment to interest rate swap 353515
_____________ _____________

Comprehensive loss 8838038 10071668 1543623

See accompanying notes
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WELLS CORE OFFICE INCOME REIT INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012 2011 AND 2010

Ifmmonok 813995 8140 2039449 034589

Increase in redeemable common stock 42703 42703

Jtribtiona tt eonzn tckho1dor $0.26 per share 126910 126910

Commissions and discounts on stock sales and

related dealer-manager fees
928 877 928 877

Othffet 404721 404721

Net loss 1543623 1543623

Ballnce December 31 21110 821995 8220 18205771 1670533 42703 16500755

Issuaice of common stock 8233021 82330 205591435 205673765

Redemption of common stock 11427 114 285527 285641

1urese in cdeamab1e tomnidn stock 2495464 2495464

Distributions to common stockholders $1.46 per share 6673741 6673741

Commissions and discounts on stock sales and
19265055 19265.055

related dealer-manager fees

Other offering costs

Net loss

4048024

10071668

4048024

1007166

Balance December 31 2011 9043589 90436 200198600 18415942 2538167 179334927

Issuance of common stock 8671042 86710 216195320 216282030

Redemption of common stock 165819 1658 4012675 4014333

Increase iii redenlable conimon stock -- 2.542.141 2542.141

Ditrihution%tuconIrnon stockholders
--- 29.346.238 -- 29346.238

oniniission and dj.counts on stock sales and related

dealermaiiagvr lees
9.b54.IU3 9.654.J03

Other offering casts 437891$ 4378915

Net loss 8484523 8484523

Market value adjustment to interest rate swap .- 353S1 3$35i5

Balance December 31 2012 17548812 175488 388347427 47246703 5080308 353515 335842389

See accompanying notes

Cumulative Accumulated

Common Stock Additional

Paid-In

Capital

Distributions

in Excess of

Earnings

Redeemable

Common
Stock

Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total

Stockholders

EquityShares Amount
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WELLS CORE OFFICE INCOME REIT INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Cash Flows from Operating ActivIties

Net loss 8484523 10071668 1543623

Straight-line rental income 3056134 793750 38515

Depreciation 12422906 444S45f9 252225

Amortization 9854521 3499971 110795

Noncash interest expense Z092435 it993$ 152490

Changes in assets and liabilities net of acquisitions

Decrease increase in other tenant receivables net %524S 94t7l8

Decrease increase in prepaid expenses and other

assets 135796 445070 369147

Increase maccounts payable and aectued expenses 6$916S 3137b1

Decrease increase in due to affiliates 49305 242789 219481

Increase in deferred nicorge _____________
4fl76ol

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 16042583 2288530 696120

444 44 44

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

hwestnient in reaL estate 29yltkO488 2V%Z45jk4 442%I44
Deferred lease costs paid 1324176 797715

Cash flows from Financing Activities
44.4

Due to affiliates ç293543 293543

Deferred financing costs paid 244sa23 a45s4a t23O3S

Proceeds from lines of credit and notes payable 373931984 252250000 25625000

Repayments of lines of credit and notes payable 273986$79 i4$7j1o sooo$
Issuance of common stock 215977971 205282643 20322428

Redemptions of common stock 3$2o$14 2Mf
Distributions paid to stockholders 10466302 3249310 42746

Commissions on stock sales and related dealer-manager fees paid 19302306 18779979 1832253

Other offeringc0S paid ea411s 44go9ns
_____________

Net cash provided by financing activities 266037111 276012857 34355272

Net change ni cash and cash equivalents 1LZ6SMO 4.44 25j
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 4690866 4433008 200000

ç.ah iæd csh equiyalents d4pºS LS t896fl$j 46A$OO
See accompanying notes
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WELLS CORE OFFICE INCOME REIT INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2012 2011 AND 2010

Organization

Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc Wells Core Office Income REIT was formed on July 2007 as Maryland

corporation that has elected to be taxed as real estate investment trust REIT Substantially all of Wells Core Office

Income REITs business is conducted through Wells Core Office Income Operating Partnership L.P Wells Core

OP Delaware limited partnership formed on July 2007 Wells Core Office Income REIT is the sole general

partner of Wells Core OP Wells Core Office Income Holdings LLC Wells Core Holdings Delaware limited

liability company formed on November 2009 is the sole limited partner of Wells Core OP Wells Core Office Income

REIT owns 100% of the interests of Wells Core Holdings and possesses full legal control and authority over the

operations of Wells Core OP and Wells Core Holdings In addition Wells Core OP formed Wells Core REIT TRS LLC

Wells Core TRS wholly owned subsidiary organized as Delaware corporation on December 13 2011 see
Note References to Wells Core Office Income REIT herein shall include Wells Core Office Income REIT and all

subsidiaries of Wells Core Office Income REIT including Wells Core OP Wells Core Holdings and Wells Core TRS
unless stated otherwise

On June 10 2010 Wells Core Office Income REIT commenced its initial public offering of up to 230000000 shares

of common stock the Initial Offering pursuant to Registration Statement filed on Form S-il under the Securities

Act of 1933 as amended with 30000000 of those shares being offered through the Wells Core Office Income REIT

Distribution Reinvestment Plan DRP Under the Initial Offering the primary shares are offered at price of $25.00

per share with discounts available to certain categories of purchases and DRP shares are offered at price of $23.75

per share On September 29 2010 Wells Core Office Income REIT received and accepted subscriptions under the

Initial Offering equal to the minimum offering amount of $2.5 million at which point active operations commenced

On January 292012 the board of directors of Wells Core Office Income REIT approved an extension of the termination

date of the Initial Offering from June 10 2012 to June 10 2013 On September 19 2012 Wells Core Office Income

REITs board of directors determined that it is currently in Wells Core Office Income REITs best interest not to conduct

follow-on public offering of shares of Wells Core Office Income REITs common stock Therefore the Initial Offering

is expected to terminate on June 10 2013 pursuant to its terms

As of December 31 2012 Wells Core Office Income REIT had raised offering proceeds under the Initial Offering of

approximately $441.6 million from the sale of approximately 17.7 million shares of common stock After deductions

from such gross offering proceeds for selling commissions and dealer-manager fees of approximately $40.1 million

acquisition fees of $8.8 million and other offering expenses of approximately $8.8 million Wells Core Office Income

REIT had raised aggregate net offering proceeds of approximately $383.9 million including net offering proceeds

from the DRP of approximately $11.8 millionAs of December 312012 substantially all of Wells Core Office Income

REITs net offering proceeds have been invested in real properties and related assets and approximately 182.8 million

shares remain available for sale to the public under the Initial Offering exclusive of shares available under the DRP

Wells Core Office Income REIT operates diversified portfolio of commercial real estate consisting primarily of high-

quality income-generating office properties located in the United States and leased or pre-leased to creditworthy

companies Wells Core Office Income REIT may continue to invest in office and industrial properties at all stages of

development from those under construction to those with established operating histories As of December 31 2012
Wells Core Office Income REIT owned 13 office properties consisting of approximately 2.6 million

square feet As

of December 31 2012 these office properties were 99.5% leased

Wells Core Office Income REIT executed an agreement with Wells Core Office Income REIT Advisory Services LLC

the Advisor under which the Advisor will perform certain key functions on behalf of Wells Core Office Income

REIT including among others the investment of capital proceeds and management of day-to-day operations the

Advisory Agreement On September 19 2012 the Advisory Agreement was renewed through June 10 2013 The

Advisor is wholly owned subsidiary of Wells Real Estate Funds Inc WREF and has contracted with Wells
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Capital Inc Wells Capital and Wells Management Company Inc Wells Management also wholly owned

subsidiaries of WREF to engage their employees to carry out among others the key functions enumerated above on

behalf of Wells Core Office Income REIT

Wells Core Office Income REITs stock is not listed on national securities exchange However Wells Core Office

Income REITs charter requires that in the event that Wells Core Office Income REITs stock is not listed on national

securities exchange by July 31 2020 Wells Core Office Income REIT must either seek stockholder approval to extend

or amend this listing deadline or seek stockholder approval to begin liquidating investments and distributing the

resulting proceeds to the stockholders If Wells Core Office Income REIT seeks stockholder approval to extend or

amend this listing date and does not obtain it Wells Core Office Income REIT would then be required to seek stockholder

approval to liquidate In this circumstance if Wells Core Office Income REIT seeks and does not obtain approval to

liquidate Wells Core Office Income REIT would not be required to list or liquidate and could continue to operate

indefinitely as an unlisted company

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of Wells Core Office Income REIT have been prepared in accordance with

U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP and include the accounts of Wells Core Office Income REIT

Wells Core OP Wells Core Holdings Wells Core TRS and any variable interest entity VIE in which Wells Core

Office Income REIT Wells Core UP Wells Core Holdings or Wells Core TRS was deemed the primary beneficiary

With respect to entities that are not VIEs Wells Core Office Income REITs consolidated financial statements shall

also include the accounts of any entity in which Wells Core Office Income REIT Wells Core OP Wells Core Holdings

Wells Core TRS or its subsidiaries own controlling financial interest and any limited partnership in which Wells

Core Office Income REIT Wells Core OP Wells Core Holdings Wells Core TRS or its subsidiaries own controlling

general partnership interest In determining whether Wells Core Office Income REIT Wells Core OP Wells Core

Holdings or Wells Core TRS has controlling interest the following factors are considered among other things the

ownership of voting interests protective rights and participatory rights of the investors

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Board the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-04

Fair Value Measurement TopicAmendments toAchieve Common Fair Value Measurement andDisclosureRequirements

in U.S GAAP andIFRSs ASU 2011-04 ASU 2011-04 converges the GAAP and International Financial Reporting

Standards definition of fair value the requirements for measuring amounts at fair value and disclosures about these

measurements The update does not require additional fair value measurements and is not intended to establish valuation

standards or affect valuation practices outside of financial reporting The adoption of ASU 2011-04 was effective for

Wells Core Office Income REIT for the period beginning on January 2012 The adoption ofASU 2011-04 has not

had material impact on Wells Core Office Income REITs financial statements or disclosures

In June 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-05 Comprehensive Income Topic Presentation of

Comprehensive Income ASU 2011-05 ASU 2011-05 gives an entity the option to present the total of comprehensive

income the components of net income and the components of other comprehensive income either in single continuous

statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements In both choices an entity is required

to present each component of net income along with total net income each component of other comprehensive income

along with total for other comprehensive income and total amount for comprehensive income ASU 2011-05

eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes

in stockholders equity ASU 2011-05 was effective for Wells Core Office Income REIT for the period beginning

January 2012 In February 2013 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-02 Comprehensive Income

Topic Reporting ofAmounts Reclassified Out ofAccumulated Other Comprehensive Income ASU 20 13-02 ASU

2013-02 requires an entity to disclose information about the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other

comprehensive income by component In addition an entity is required to disclose significant amounts reclassified
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out of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income if the amount reclassified

to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period is required under GAAP For amounts that are not required

under GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net income an entity is required to cross-reference to other disclosures

required under GAAP that provide additional detail about those amounts ASU 2013-02 will be effective for Wells

Core Office Income REIT for the period beginning on January 12013 The adoption ofASU 2011-05 and ASU 2013-02

have not had material impact on Wells Core Office Income REITs financial statements or disclosures

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements inconformity with GAAP requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements and the accompanying notes Actual results could differ from those estimates

Fair Value Measurements

Wells Core Office Income REIT estimates the fair value of its assets and liabilities where currently required under

GAAP consistent with the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures Under

this guidance fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date While various techniques and assumptions

can be used to estimate fair value depending on the nature of the asset or liability the accounting standard for fair

value measurements and disclosures provides the following fair value technique parameters and hierarchy depending

upon availability

Level Assets or liabilities for which the identical term is traded on an active exchange such as publicly

traded instruments or futures contracts

Level Assets and liabilities valued based on observable market data for similar instruments

Level Assets or liabilities for which significant valuation assumptions are not readily observable in the

market instruments valued based on the best available data some of which is internally developed and

considers risk premiums that market participant would require

Real Estate Assets

Real estate assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Amounts capitalized to real estate

assets consist of the cost of acquisition or construction and any tenant improvements or major improvements and

betterments that extend the useful life of the related asset Additionally Wells Core Office Income REIT capitalizes

interest while the development of real estate asset is in progress There was no interest capitalized during the years

ended December 312012 and 2011 All costs incurred in connection with acquiring acquisitions including acquisition

fees payable to the Advisor see Note 10 and repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred

Wells Core Office Income REIT is required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable

assets Wells Core Office Income REIT considers the period of future benefit of the asset to determine the appropriate

useful lives These assessments have direct impact on net income Wells Core Office Income REITs real estate assets

are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method The estimated useful lives of our assets by class are as

follows

Building 40 years

Btii ldin improvements 525 ears

Site improvements years

Tenant impro\ ements Shorter of lease term or economic life

Intangible lease assets Lease terni
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Evaluating the Recoverability of Real Estate Assets

Wells Core Office Income REIT continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the

carrying amounts of the real estate and related intangible assets of both operating properties and properties under

construction in which Wells Core Office Income REIT has an ownership interest either directly or through investments

in joint ventures may not be recoverable When indicators of potential impairment are present that suggest that the

carrying amounts of real estate assets and related intangible assets may not be recoverable Wells Core Office Income

REIT assesses the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the respective carrying values will be recovered

through the estimated undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the assets and their eventual

disposition In the event that such expected undiscounted future cash flows do not exceed the carrying values Wells

Core Office Income REIT adjusts the carrying value of the real estate assets and related intangible assets to the estimated

fair values pursuant to the property plant and equipment accounting standard for the impairment or disposal of long-

lived assets and recognizes an impairment loss Estimated fair values are determined based on the following

information dependent upon availability recently quoted market prices for the subject property or highly

comparable properties under sufficiently active and normal market conditions or iithe present value of future cash

flows including estimated residual value Wells Core Office Income REIT has determined that there has been no

impairment in the carrying value of real estate assets and related intangible assets held by Wells Core Office Income

REIT to date

Proj ections of expected future operating cash flows require that management estimate future market rental income

amounts subsequent to the expiration of current lease agreements property operating expenses the number of months

it takes to re-lease the property and the number of years the property is held for investment among other factors The

subjectivity of assumptions used in the future cash flow analysis including discount rates could result in an incorrect

assessment of the propertys fair value and could result in the misstatement of the carrying value of Wells Core Office

Income REITs real estate assets and related intangible assets and net income loss

Allocation of Purchase Price ofAcquired Assets

Upon the acquisition of real properties Wells Core Office Income REIT allocates the purchase price of properties to

tangible assets consisting of land building and site improvements and identified intangible assets and liabilities

including the value of in-place leases based in each case on Wells Core Office Income REITs estimate of their fair

values Wells Core Office Income REIT applies the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements

and disclosures to the allocation of the purchase price of acquired properties to assets and liabilities based on Level

assumptions

The fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property which includes land building and site improvements

are determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant and the as-if-vacant value is then allocated to land

building and site improvements based on managements determination of the relative fair value of these assets

Management determines the as-if-vacant fair value of property using methods similar to those used by independent

appraisers Factors considered by management in performing these analyses include an estimate of carrying costs

during the expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases including

leasing commissions and other related costs In estimating carrying costs management includes real estate taxes

insurance and other operating expenses during the expected lease-up periods based on current market demand

Intangible Assets and Liabilities Arising from In-Place Leases where Wells Core Office Income REIT is the Lessor

As further described below in-place leases with Wells Core Office Income REIT as the lessor may have values related

to direct costs associated with obtaining new tenant opportunity costs associated with lost rentals that are avoided

by acquiring an in-place lease tenant relationships and effective contractual rental rates that are above or below market

rates

Direct costs associated with obtaining new tenant including commissions tenant improvements and other

direct costs are estimated based on managements consideration of current market costs to execute similar

lease Such direct costs are included in intangible lease origination costs in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases
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The value of opportunity costs associated with lost rentals avoided by acquiring an in-place lease is calculated

based on contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases over market absorption period for

similar lease Such opportunity costs are included in intangible lease assets in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases

The value of tenant relationships is calculated based on expected renewal of lease or the likelihood of obtaining

particular tenant for other locations Values associated with tenant relationships are included in intangible

lease assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining

terms of the respective leases

The value of effective rental rates of in-place leases that are above or below the market rates of comparable

leases is calculated based on the present value using discount rate that reflects the risks associated with the

leases acquired of the difference between the contractual amounts to be received pursuant to the in-place

leases and iimanagements estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases measured

over period equal to the remaining terms of the leases The capitalized above-market and below-market lease

values are recorded as intangible lease assets or liabilities and amortized as an adjustment to rental income

over the remaining terms of the respective leases

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 Wells Core Office Income REIT had the following gross intangible in-place lease

assets and liabilities

As of December 31 2012

Intangible Lease Assets

Intangible Intangible

Above-Market Absorption Lease Below-Market

In-Place Period Origination In-Place Lease

Lease Assets Costs Costs Liabilities

Gross 14.146.354 52.65741 27.081019 1798.374

AccumuIaid \JnurLi/ULifl 3.flIO440 6.901.920 76.459 147370

Net 1035914 45755.491 23904560 1.651004

.s of December 31 201

Inianuible .ease .ssets

Intangible Intangible

.hoveMarkeI .bsorption .ease BeIolarkct

luPlace Period Origination InPlace Lease

.ease ..sse1s Costs osts .iahilities

Gross I2.272.X36 25.57.S52 I.03.74J 1.1050X3

.\ccumulawd .\mrti/ation 7.7W 2.74i

Net 1302.655 24.267197 JO.72S70 1.075.337

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 Wells Core Office Income REIT recognized the following

amortization of intangible lease assets and liabilities

Intangible Lease Assets

Intangible Intangible

Above-Market Absorption Lease Below-Market

In-Place Period Origination In-Place Lease

Lease Assets Costs Costs Liabilities

For the year ended December 31

2012 2072402 5333188 2317185 117624

20fl 948181 1651581 827149 29746

2010 22000 39074 49721
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The remaining net intangible lease assets and liabilities as of December 31 2012 will be amortized as follows

Intangible Lease Assets

Intangible Intangible

Above-Market Lease Below-Market

In-Place Absorption Origination In-Place Lease

Lease Assets Period Costs Costs Liabilities

For the year ending December 31

2013 2334.650 7518960 3489793 346243

2014 2315385 7383644 3486073 346243

2015 2196.627 7143411 3367226 343758

2016 2149989 6708133 3249563 115146

2017 1106016 5288517 2782250 115146

Thereafter 933247 1712826 759655 384468

Total 11035914 45755.491 23904560 1.65 1004

Weighted-Average Amortization Period years years years years

Evaluating the Recoverability of Intangible Assets and Liabilities

The values of intangible lease assets and liabilities are determined based on assumptions made at the time of acquisition

and have defined useful lives which correspond with the lease terms There may be instances in which intangible lease

assets and liabilities become impaired and Wells Core Office Income REIT is required to expense the remaining asset

or liability immediately or over shorter period of time Lease restructurings including but not limited to lease

terminations and lease extensions may impact the value and useful life of in-place leases In-place leases that are

terminated partially terminated or modified will be evaluated for impairment if the original in-place lease terms

have been modified In situations where the discounted cash flows of the modified in-place lease stream are less than

the discoUnted cash flows of the original in-place lease stream Wells Core Office Income REIT reduces the carrying

value of the intangible lease assets to reflect the modified lease terms and recognize an impairment loss For lease

extensions of in-place leases that are executed more than one year prior to the original lease expiration date the useful

life of the intangible lease assets and liabilities will be extended over the new lease term with the exception of those

components such as lease commissions and tenant allowances which have been renegotiated for the extended term

Renegotiated in-place lease components such as lease commissions and tenant allowances will be amortized over the

shorter of the useful life of the asset or the new lease term

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Wells Core Office Income REIT considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three

months or less to be cash equivalents Cash equivalents may include cash and short-term investments Short-term

investments are stated at cost which approximates fair value and mayconsist of investments in money market accounts

There are no restrictions on the use of Wells Core Office Income REITs cash balances as of December 31 2012 and

2011

Tenant Receivables Net

Tenant receivables are comprised of rental and reimbursement billings due from tenants and the cumulative amount

of future adjustments necessary to present rental income on straight-line basis Tenant receivables are recorded at

the original amount earned less an allowance for any doubtful accounts which approximates fair value Management

assesses the realizability of tenant receivables on an ongoing basis and if necessary will provide allowances for such

balances or portions thereof as they become uncollectible in general and administrative expenses

Wells Core Office Income REIT adjusted the allowance for doubtful accounts by recording provision for doubtful

accounts net of recoveries in general and administrative expenses of $22890 and $0 for the years ended December

31 2012 and 2011 respectively

F-13



Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets are primarily comprised of escrowed cash which represents deposits paid in

connection with future acquisitions and borrowings escrow accounts held by lenders to pay future real estate taxes

insurance and tenant improvements prepaid taxes and insurance utility deposits and prepaid director fees Prepaid

expenses and other assets are expensed as incurred or reclassified to other asset accounts upon being put into service

in future periods

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are comprised of costs incurred in connection with securing financing from third-party lenders

and are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related financing arrangements Wells Core Office Income REIT

recognized amortization of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 of

approximately $2.1 million $1.2 million and $0.2 million respectively which is included in interest expense in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations

Deferred Lease Costs

Deferred lease costs include costs incurred to procure leases which are capitalized and recognized as amortization

expense on straight-line basis over the terms of the leases and iicommon area maintenance costs that are recoverable

from tenants under the terms of the existing leases such costs are capitalized and recognized as operating expenses

over the shorter of the lease term or the recovery period provided for in the lease Wells Core Office Income REIT

recognized amortization of deferred lease costs of $0.2 million $0.1 million and $0 for the years ended December 31

20122011 and 2010 respectively Upon receiving notification of tenants intention to terminate lease unamortized

deferred lease costs are amortized over the shortened lease period

Investments in Development Authority Bonds and Obligations Under Capital Leases

In connection with the acquisition of the 64 66 Perimeter Center Buildings Wells Core Office Income REIT has

assumed investments in development authority bonds and corresponding obligations under capital leases of land and

buildings totaling $115.0 millionThe local development authority issued bonds to developer to finance the renovation

of these buildings which was then leased back to the developer under capital lease This structure enabled the

developer to receive property tax abatements over the concurrent terms of the development authority bonds and capital

leases The remaining property tax abatement benefits transferred to Wells Core Office Income REIT upon assumption

of the bonds and corresponding capital leases at acquisition The development authority bonds and the obligations

under the capital leases are both recorded at their net present values which Wells Core Office Income REIT believes

approximate fair value The related amounts of interest income and expense are recognized as earned in equal amounts

and accordingly do not impact net income loss

Fair Value of Debt Instruments

Wells Core Office Income REIT applied the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and

disclosures in estimations of fair value of its debt instruments based on Level assumptions The fair values of its debt

instruments were based on discounted cash flow analysis using the current market borrowing rates for similar types

of borrowing arrangements as of the measurement dates see Note for additional information The discounted cash

flow method of assessing fair value results in general approximation of value and such value may never actually be

realized

Redeemable Common Stock

Under Wells Core Office Income REITs share redemption program as amended Amended SRP the decision to

honor redemptions subject to certain plan requirements and limitations falls outside the control of Wells Core Office

Income REIT As result Wells Core Office Income REIT records redeemable common stock in the temporary equity

section of its consolidated balance sheet Wells Core Office Income REITs Amended SRP currently requires Wells
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Core Office Income REIT to honor redemption requests made within two years following stockholders death

qualifying disability or qualification for federal assistance in connection with the payment of costs of confinement to

long-term care facility of stockholder subject to certain limitations Wells Core Office Income REITs capacity to

honor redemptions is limited to the lesser ofi the amount of net proceeds raised under the DRP during the immediately

preceding 12-month period or ii 5% of the weighted-average numbers of shares outstanding in the immediately

preceding 12-month period Accordingly as of December 31 2012 and 2011 redeemable common stock is measured

at an amount equal to the net proceeds raised under the DRP during the immediately preceding 12-month period

Preferred Stock

Wells Core Office Income REIT is authorized to issue up to 10.0 million shares of one or more classes or series of

preferred stock with par value of $0.01 per share Wells Core Office Income REITs board of directors may determine

the relative rights preferences and privileges of each class or series of preferred stock issued which may be more

beneficial than the rights preferences and privileges attributable to Wells Core Office Income REITs common stock

To date Wells Core Office Income REIT has not issued any shares of preferred stock

Common Stock

The par value of Wells Core Office Income REITs issued and outstanding shares of common stock is recorded as

common stock The remaining gross proceeds are recorded as additional paid-in capital See Note

Distributions

In order to qualify to be taxed as REIT Wells Core Office Income REIT is required by the Internal Revenue Code

of 1986 as amended the Code to make distributions to stockholders each taxable year equal to at least 90% of its

REIT taxable income computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and by excluding net capital gains

attributable to stockholders Distributions to the stockholders are determined by the board of directors of Wells Core

Office Income REIT and are dependent upon number of factors relating to Wells Core Office Income REIT including

funds available for payment of distributions financial condition the timing of property acquisitions capital expenditure

requirements and annual distribution requirements in order to maintain Wells Core Office Income REITs status as

REIT under the Code

Revenue Recognition

All leases on real estate assets held by Wells Core Office Income REIT are classified as operating leases and the related

base rental income is generally recognized on straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases Tenant

reimbursements are recognized as revenue in the period that the related operating cost is incurred and are billed to

tenants pursuant to the terms of the underlying leases Rental income and tenant reimbursements collected in advance

are recorded as deferred income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Lease termination fees are recorded

as other property income and recognized once the tenant has lost the right to lease the space and Wells Core Office

Income REIT has satisfied all obligations under the related lease or lease termination agreement

In conjunction with certain acquisitions Wells Core Office Income REIT has entered into master lease agreements

with various sellers whereby the sellers are obligated to pay rent pertaining to certain non-revenue-producing spaces

either at the time of or subsequent to the property acquisition These master leases were established at the time of

acquisition to mitigate the potential negative effects of lost rental revenues and tenant reimbursement income Wells

Core Office Income REIT records payments received under master lease agreements as reduction of the basis of the

underlying property at the time of acquisition rather than rental and tenant reimbursement income Wells Core Office

Income REIT received proceeds from master leases of $1.3 million $0.5 million and $0 during the
years

ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Interest Rate Swaps

Wells Core Office Income REIT has entered into an interest rate swap contract and may enter into future interest rate

swap contracts to hedge its exposure to changing interest rates on variable rate debt instruments see Note Wells
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Core Office Income REIT does not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes however

certain of its derivatives may not qualify for hedge accounting treatment Wells Core Office Income REIT records the

fair value of its interest rate swap either as prepaid expenses and other assets or as accounts payable and accrued

expenses Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of interest rate swaps that are designated as cash flow

hedges are recorded as other comprehensive income loss while changes in the fair value of the ineffective portion

of hedge if any is recognized in earnings Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps that do not qualify for

hedge accounting treatment if any are recorded as gain loss on interest rate swaps Amounts received or paid under

interest rate swap agreements are recorded as interest expense for contracts that qualify for hedge accounting treatment

and as gain loss on interest rate swaps for contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment

The following tables provide additional information related to Wells Core Office Income REITs interest rate swaps

as of December 31 2012 and 2011

Estimated Fair Value as of

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Wells Core Office Income REIT applied the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and

disclosures in recording its interest rate swap at fair value The fair value of the interest rate swap classified under

Level was determined using third-party proprietary model that is based on prevailing market data for contracts

with matching durations current and anticipated London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR information and

reasonable estimates about relevant future market conditions

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings loss per share is calculated as net income loss attributable to common stockholders divided by the

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period Diluted earnings loss per share equals basic

earnings loss per share adjusted to reflect the dilution that would occur if all outstanding securities convertible into

common shares or contracts to issue common shares were converted/exercised and the related proceeds were used to

repurchase common shares No shares have been granted or are outstanding under the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan

see Note therefore the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan does not currently impact diluted earnings loss per share

Therefore basic earnings loss per share equals diluted earnings loss per share for each of the periods presented

Income Taxes

Wells Core Office Income REIT has elected to be taxed as REIT under the Code and has operated as such beginning

with its taxable year ended December 31 2010 To qualify as REIT Wells Core Office Income REIT must meet

certain organizational and operational requirements including requirement to distribute at least 90% of its REIT

taxable income as defined by the Code to its stockholders As REIT Wells Core Office Income REIT generally will

not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income it distributes to stockholders If Wells Core Office Income

REIT fails to qualify as REIT in any taxable year it will then be subject to federal and state income taxes on its

taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT for federal income

tax purposes for four years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the IRS grants
Wells Core Office

Income REIT relief under certain statutory provisions

Wells Core Office Income REIT has elected to treat Wells Core TRS as taxable REIT subsidiary Wells Core Office

Income REIT may perform certain additional noncustomary services for tenants of its buildings through Wells Core

TRS however any earnings related to such services are subject to federal and state income taxes In addition for Wells

Core Office Income REIT to continue to qualify as REIT Wells Core Office Income REIT must limit its investments

in taxable REIT subsidiaries to 25% of the value of the total assets of Wells Core Office Income REIT

Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax

basis of assets and liabilities based on the enacted rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse

Interest rate swap

Balance Sheet Classification

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 353515
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Deferred tax expense or benefits are recognized in the financial statements according to the changes in deferred tax

assets or liabilities between years Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets when it becomes

more likely than not that such assets or portions thereof will not be realized No provision for federal income taxes

has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements other than the provision relating to Wells Core

TRS as Wells Core Office Income REIT has made distributions in excess of taxable income for the periods presented

Wells Core Office Income REIT is subject to certain state and local taxes related to property operations in certain

locations which have been provided for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements Wells Core Office

Income REIT records interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as general and administrative expense

in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

Operating Segments

Wells Core Office Income REIT operates in single reporting segment and the presentation of Wells Core Office

Income REITs financial condition and performance is consistent with the way in which Wells Core Office Income

REITs operations are managed

Real Estate Acquisitions

During the
years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 Wells Core Office

properties

Income REIT acquired the following

Intangibles

Buildings intangible

Acquisition and Lease

Date Land Improvements AssetsProperty Name Location

2li1

South Lake Building Herndon VA 3/22/2012 9008108 68789189 8701014 4401689 90900000

YrPtkttayl4brth Buitdsng Dgertjo IL 7/7/ZÜIZ M40 421 29fl33$ rnXsi 1tb9t4WJUjiqt$
2275 Caboi Drive Building Lisle IL 9/5/2012 2211437 13168104 1809358 804159 17993058

4650 Lakehurat court Thailding CoSmb OH 12/7/2012 2493556 17 241093 63435-

64 66 Perimeter Center

Buildings Atlanta GA 12/28/2012 8616613 71537699 8111502 7725239 693291 95297762

ZUfl

Wesiwsy Building Houston TX 1/27/2011 2300000 24645922 3106918 947160 31000000

Duke Brtdges III Busldngs Prtseo TIC 5/t2/2Q11 8$ 137 S19$1537 9$$ 4nE gsiqu
Miramar Centre II Building Miramar FL 5/27/2011 3204401 14719570 2230262 767403 20921636

76QkTtelsitology Way Bin1dm Dgnver CO 4/27/2011 $/93 955 19527IS U41$W

Westway II Building Houston TX 9/28/2011 2511552 58760267 7936504 2210166 1105083 70313406

FranlcslsCtslter Bwltbng Colwnbsa MD t2/280l 691847 4U14$08e s9$4542h

Total $53254633 406129461 $64652260 $25560333 1798374 $547798313

Purchase price is presented net of adjustments and exclusive of closing costs and acquisition fees and has been allocated

to tangible assets consisting of land building and site improvements and identified intangible assets and liabilities

including the value of in-place leases based in each case on estimates of their fair values

ten-story office building containing approximately 268200 rentable square feet that is 100% leased to two tenants with

weighted-average remaining lease term of seven years

five-story office building containing approximately 171500 rentable square feet that is 100% leased to four tenants

with weighted-average remaining lease term of six years

three-story office building containing approximately 94400 rentable square feet that is 100% leased to McCain Foods

USA Inc with lease expiration in May 2021

four-story office building containing approximately 164600 rentable square feet that is 100% leased to Qwest

Communications Company LLC with lease expiration in May 2022

15-story and an eight-story office building containing approximately 583700 rentable
square feet that are 97.6% leased

to eight tenants with weighted-average remaining lease term of 10 years

Intangible

Lease Intsngible

Origination Lease

Costs Liabilities

Total

Purchase

PricetO

Lesse

Details
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three-story office building containing approximately 144000 rentable square feet that is 100% leased to three tenants

with weighted-average remaining lease term of four years

Two three-story office buildings containing approximately 284200 rentable square
feet that are 100% leased to two

tenants with weighted-average remaining lease term of four years

four-story office building containing approximately 96400 rentable square
feet that is 100% leased to Humana Medical

Plan Inc with lease expiration in December 2017

10
six-story office building containing approximately 182900 rentable square feet that is 100% leased to Jackson National

Life Insurance Company with lease expiration in March 2017

11
ten-story office building containing approximately 242400 rentable square

feet that is 100% leased to four tenants

with weighted-average remaining lease term of seven years

12
seven-story office building containing approximately 200600 rentable square feet that is 100% leased to two tenants

with weighted-average remaining lease term of seven years

For the periods from the respective dates of acquisition through December 31 2012 Wells Core Office Income REIT

recognized the following amounts related to the properties acquired in 2012

RevenuesProperty Name

South Lake Building 3/22/2012 7579458 1161453 758327

Four Parkway North Building 7/2/2012 2.514911 96892 228.303

2275 Cabot Drive Building
9/512012 843.834 12975 62639

4650 Lakehurst Court Building 12/7/2012 255.947 34152 12.103

64 66 Perimeter Center Buildings 12/28/2012 99591 199.593 223441

Total 11293741 1137575 1384813

Acquisition-related expenses are recorded as acquisition fees and expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement

of operations

Pro Forma Financial Information for Real Estate Acquisitions Unaudited

The following unaudited pro forma information presented for the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

have been presented for Wells Core Office Income REIT to give effect to the acquisitions through December 31 2012

including the Royal Ridge Building and the 333 East Lake Street Building the 2010 Acquisitions the Westway

Building the Duke Bridges II Buildings the Miramar Centre II Building the 7601 Technology Way Building

the Westway II Building and the Franklin Center Building the 2011 Acquisitions and the South Lake Building

the Four Parkway North Building the 2275 Cabot Drive Building the 4650 Lakehurst Court Building and the 64

66 Perimeter Center Buildings the 2012 Acquisitions as if the acquisitions occurred on September 29 2010 the

date Wells Core Office Income REIT commenced active operations This unaudited pro forma financial information

assumes the current lease agreements that were in place at the time of acquisition were in place for all periods presented

This unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared for informational purposes only and is not necessarily

indicative of future results or of actual results that would have been achieved had the acquisitions been consummated

on September 29 2010

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Revenues 66957740 66684286 17192481

Net loss 7100.115 8733557 1125 686

Per-share net loss basic and diluted 0.40 0.50 0.06

Acquisition

Dates

Acquisition-

Net Income related

Loss ExpensesW

Weighted-average common shares outstanding basic and diluted 17548812 17548812 17548812
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The
following unaudjted pro forma

statements of
operations presented for the

years ended December 31 2011 and

2010 have been presented for Wells Core Office Income REIT to give effect to the 2010
Acquisitions and the 2011

Acquisitio as if the
acquisitions occurred Oil September 29 2010 This unaudited pro forina financial infonnation

has been
prepared for

infornlatiOnal pu1oses only and is not
necessarily indicative of future results or of actual results

that would have been achieved had the acquisitio5 been consumja on September 29 2010

9043

As of December 312012 and 2011 Wells Core Office Income REJT had the
following indebtedness

outstanding

Rate as of

December 31 2012

4.0O%

1.87%2

2.2l%

Amortizing Debt

or Interest
Only

Interest Only

Enterest
Only 9/26/2017

Interest
Only 6/27/2014

Interest
Only 11/19/2013

Weightedaverag common shares
Outstanding basic and diluted

Lines of Credit and Notes Payable

Years ended

Facility

Wells Core Term Loan

Technology Way Loan

Amended
Regions Credit

Facility

Royal Ridge Loan

Total
Indebtedness

andingalance$f

December 31 December 31Maturity 2012
2011

100000000

85000000

2209O09O
120 954 895

The Wells Core
Revolving Facility bears interest at rate based on at the

option of Wells Core Office Income REIT

LIBOR plus margin that varies from 1.75% to 2.50% based on our then cunent
leverage ratio or the

greater of

the
prime rate announced by Regions the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.50% or the one-month LIBOR

adjusted daily plus 1.00% plus margin that varies from 0.75% to 1.50% based on the then current
leverage ratio

The Wells Core Tenn Loan bears interest at rate based on at the
option of Wells Core Office Income REIT LIBOR

plus margin that varies from 1.65% to 2.40% based on our then current
leverage ratio or the

greater ofa the prime

rate announced by Regions the Federal Funds Effective Rate
plus 0.50% or the one-month LIBOR adjusted

daily plus 1.00% plus margin that varies from 0.65% to 1.40% based on the then current
leverage ratio

The
Technology Way Loan bears interest based on at the option of Wells Core Income Office REIT LIBOR plus 2.00%

or an alternate base rate plus 1.00%
The Amended Regions Credit

Facility was repaid in full on September 26 2012 in
connection with the

closing of the

Wells Core Unsecured Debt
Facility

The Royal Ridge Loan was repaid in full Ofl September 26 2012 in
connection with the

Closing of the Wells Core

Unsecured Debt
Facility

Wells Core Office Income REJT also had standby letters of credit
outstanding of $18.7 million and $0.0 million at

December 31 2012 and 2011
respectively which reduce the

availability of funds under the Wells Core Revolving

Facility The
outstanding letters of credit are for the benefit of State Farm Mutual Auto

Insurance Co related to tenant

improvement
obligations under its lease at the 64 66 Peiimeter Center

Buildings None of the letters of credit areimprovements

recorded as
liability on the

consolidated balance sheets and they will be released upon completion of the tenant
We//s Core Unsecured Debt Facj/j

Wells Core Office Income REJT through Wells Core OP entered into an unsecured credit
facility the Wells Core

Unsecured Debt
Facility on September 26 2012 with

syndicate of banics led by Regions Bank Regions u.s
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BankNati0 Association U.S Bank and JPMorgafl Chase Bank N.A JPMorgafl The Wells Core Unsecured

Debt Facility replaced
the credit facility dated as of June 29 2011 the Amended Regions

Credit Facility by and

between Wells Core oP Regions and U.S Bank and repaid
the 0standing balance on the mortgage loan with Jackson

National Life Insurance Company the Royal Ridge Loan

Under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility Wells Core Office Income REIT may borrow to total of $300

million the Facility
Amount subject

to availability
The Facility Amount is comprised of revolving credit facility

in an amount up to $200 million the Wells Core evolving Facility and term loan facility in an amount up to

$100 million the Wells Core Term Loan Wells Core Office Income REIT also has the right to increase the Facility

Amount by an aggregate
of$ 150 million to total facility

amount of $450 million provided that no defaulthas occurred

The Wells Core evo1Viflg Facility also includes standby letter of credit facility with an initial $20 million sublimit

and swinglifle
facility with an initial $20 million sublimit in each case subject

to availability Aggregate
advances

letters of credit or swingline loans 0utstanding
at any time under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility are subject

to availability equal
to the lesser of the Facility

Amount 55% multiplied by the value of the propertie5
as

defined in the agreement
used to support the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility 60% for up to two consecutive

quarters
immediately following major acquisition

as defined by the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility or an

amount that would produce
minimum ratio of the adjusted

net operating
income of the properties

used to support

the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility to the amount 0utstanding
under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility of

not less than 0.11 to 1.0 Draws under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility
will be supported by properties

directly

owned by the Wells Core Office Income REITs subsidiaries
that Wells Core Office Income REIT has elected to add

to the oowiflg base These borrowing base properties
are not available to be used as collateral for any other debt

arrangements
The proceeds

of the Wells Core Unsecired Debt Facility may be used by Wells Core Office Income

REIT to acquire properties
and for working capital capital expeflditU5

and other general corporate purposes

The entire unpaid principal
balance of all orrowiflg5 and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon under the Wells Core

Revolving Facility and the Wells Core Term Loan will be due and payable
in fill on September 26 2015 and September

262017 respectively
Wells Core Office Income REIT has the option

to extend the Wells Core Revolving Facility for

two periods
of 12 months each subject

to satisfaction
of certain conditions

and payment of an extension
fee equal to

0.25% of the amount committed under the Wells Core Revolving Facility Wells Core Office Income REIT mayborrow

under the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility at rates equal to LIBOR plus
the applicable

LIBOR margin the

LIBOR Rate or the greater
of the prime rate announced by Regions

the Federal Funds Effective Rate

plus
0.5 0% or

the one-month LIBOR adjusted daily plus
1.00% plus

the applicable
base rate margin the Base

Rate The applicable
LIBOR margin under the Wells Core Revolving Facility and Wells Core Term Loan may vary

from 1.75% to 2.50% and from 1.65% to 2.40% respectiVelY
and the applicable

base rate margin under the Wells

Core evolving Facility and Wells Core Term Loan may vary from 0.75% to 1.50% and 0.65% to 1.40% respeCtivelY

based on Wells Core Office Income REITS then current leverage
ratio All swingline loans issued under the Wells

Core Unsecured Debt Facility will bear interest at the Base Rate Wells Core Office Income REIT generally
will be

required
to make interest-OnlY payments Wells Core Office Income REIT also may prepay

the Wells Core Unsecured

Debt Facility in whole or in part
at any time jthout penalty subject to reimbur5e1ent

of any breakage

costs incurred by lenders in the case of prepayment
of LIBOR Rate orrowiflg5 however amounts repaid on the Wells

Core Term Loan may not be reborrowed

Wells Core Office Income REIT is required to pay
fee on the unused portion

of the Wells Core evolviflg Facility

in an amount equal to the daily
unused amount of the Wells Core Revolving Facility multiplied by rate per annum

equal
to 0.35% if 50% or less of the Wells Core Revolving Facility iS utilized or

0.25% if more than 50% of

the Wells Core evolviflg Facility iS utilized payable quarterly
in arrears

Wells Core Office Income REIT will also

pay
fee at rate per annum equal to the Wells Core evolviflg Facility applicable

margin for LIBORba5ed loans on

the maximum amount available to be drawn under each letter of credit that is issued and 0tstanding payable quarterly

in arrears
Additionally Wells Core Office Income REIT must pay Regions

one-time fronting
fee equal to the greater

ofl $1500 or 0.125% on the stated amount of each letter of credit issued pursuant
to the Wells Core Unsecured

Debt Facility payable at the time of issuance Wells Core OPs obligations
with respect

to the Wells Core Unsecured

Debt Facility are guaranteed by Wells Core Office Income REIT and by certain material subsidiaries
of Wells Core

OP as defined in the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility pursuant
to the terms of guaranty

dated as of September

26 2012
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The Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility contains among others the following restrictive covenants

The ratio of Wells Core Office Income REITs total indebtedness to the total value of our assets as

both are defined in the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility may not exceed 0.55 to 1.00 provided

that prior to the termination date of the Wells Core Revolving Facility such ratio may exceed 0.55

to 1.00 for up to two consecutive quarters immediately following major acquisition as defined in

the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility during the term of the Wells Core Revolving Facility so long

as such ratio does not exceed 0.60 to 1.00 during the same period

Wells Core Office Income REITs amount of secured debt may not exceed 40% of its consolidated

tangible assets

Wells Core Office Income REITs amount of secured recourse debt may not exceed 15% of its

consolidated tangible assets

The ratio of Wells Core Office Income REITs adjusted EBITDA to its fixed charges including

preferred dividends shall not be less than 1.75 to 1.00

Wells Core Office Income REITs tangible net worth may not be less than the sum ofi $233786150

plus ii 72.25% of the gross
cash proceeds from all equity issuances consummated after September

26 2012

Effective December31 2012 Wells Core Office Income REITs total distributions for each fiscal year

less amounts reinvested pursuant to the DRP cannot exceed the greater
of 90% of funds from

operations as defined in the Wells Core Unsecured Debt Facility as long as total distributions less

amounts reinvested pursuant to the DRP for any two consecutive quarters do not exceed 100% of

funds from operations as defined or the minimum amount required to continue to qualify as

REIT

As of December 31 2012 Wells Core Office Income REIT believes it was in compliance with all restrictive covenants

of its outstanding debt obligations

Technology Way Loan

On June 27 2011 Wells Core Office Income REIT entered into mortgage loan agreement with PNC Bank N.A

PNC to borrow $24.9 million the Technology Way Loan The amount advanced under the Technology Way

Loan was used to fund portion of the acquisition
and acquisition-related costs of the 7601 Technology Way Building

The Technology Way Loan matures on June 27 2014 with two extension options
of 12 months each upon payment

of an extension fee equal to 0.15% of the outstanding principal loan balance The Technology Way Loan provides for

interest to be incurred based on at our option LIBOR for one- two- three- or six-month periods plus 2.00% or at

an alternate base rate plus 1.00% The alternative base rate for any day is the greatest of1 the rate of interest publicly

announced by PNC as its prime rate in effect at its principal
office for such day the federal funds rate for such day

plus 0.75% or the one-month LIBOR Rate for such day plus 1.00% The Technology Way Loan is secured by

first mortgage lien on the assets of the 7601 Technology Way Building including the land fixtures improvements

leases rents and reserves The initial term of the Technology Way Loan requires monthly interest-only payments with

the entire balance due at maturity assuming no prior principal prepayment Wells Core Office Income REIT may

prepay in whole or in part the amounts outstanding under the Technology Way Loan at any time without penalty

Fair Value of Outstanding Debt

The estimated fair value of Wells Core Office Income REITs total indebtedness as of December 31 2012 and 2011

was approximately $226.6 million and $123.5 million respectively
Wells Core Office Income REIT estimated the

fair values of its debt instruments based on discounted cash flow analysis using the current incremental borrowing

rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements obtained from multiple market participants as of the respective

reporting dates The discounted cash flow method of assessing fair value results in general approximation of value

and such value may never actually be realized
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Weighted-Average Interest Rate and Interest Paid

As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the weighted-average interest rates on Wells Core Office Income REITs
lines of credit and notes payable were approximately 2.83% 3.99% and 4.09% respectively Wells Core Office Income
REIT made the following interest payments on its borrowings

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Wells Core Term Loan
477028

4708585 2162929 121944

No interest was capitalized during the
years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Debt Maturities

The following table summarizes the aggregate maturities of Wells Core REITs Office Income indebtedness as of
December 31 2012

2013

214
24.Q

2015
96000000

2016

17

100.000000

220.900.000

The debt maturities above are based on the stated maturity date of each loan which may differ from the anticipated

repayment date of the loan

Interest Rate Swap

On September 26 2012 Wells Core Office Income REIT entered into an interest rate swap agreement with JPMorgan
to hedge its exposure to changing interest rates on $75.0 million of the Wells Core Term Loan the Interest Rate
Swap The Interest Rate Swap has an effective date of September 26 2013 and matures on September 26 2017
Under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap Wells Core Office Income REIT pays interest at fixed rate of 0.891% per
annum and receives LIBOR-based interest payments from JPMorgan on notional amount of $75.0 millionBeginning
September 26 2013 the Interest Rate Swap effectively fixes the interest rate on $75.0 million of the Wells Core Term
Loan at 0.89 1% plus margin of 1.65% to 2.40% based on Wells Core Office Income REITs then current leverage
ratio

During the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 Wells Core Office Income REIT recorded the following
amounts related to the Interest Rate Swap

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
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During the periods presented there was no hedge ineffectiveness on the Interest Rate Swap required to be recognized

in earnings and no amounts were paid or received on the interest rate swap There were no derivative instruments that

did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment during the periods presented

Commitments and Contingencies

Obligations Under Capital Leases

The 64 66 Perimeter Center Buildings are subject to capital leases of land and buildings Each of these obligations

is completely offset by the principal balances and corresponding interest receivable from related investments in

development authority bonds which mature in 2027 The required payments under the terms of the leases are as follows

as of December 31 2012

2013 6900000

2014 6900000

2015 6900000

2016 6900000

2017 6900ca30

Thereafter 178825000

213325000

Amounts representing interest 98325000

Total 115000000

Commitments Under Existing Lease Agreements

Certain lease agreements include provisions that at the option of the tenant may obligate Wells Core Office Income

REIT to expend capital to expand an existing property or provide other expenditures for the benefit of the tenant

including the following

Building

Declaration of Distributions

Tenant

Wells Core Office Income REITs board of directors has declared distributions for stockholders of record from

December 16 2012 through March 15 2013 in an amount equal to $0.004110 0.4110 cents per day per share or

6.0% annualized yield on $25.00 original share price Wells Core Office Income REIT expects to pay these

distributions in March 2013

Litigation

From time to time Wells Core Office Income REIT is party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of

its business Management makes assumptions and estimates concerning the likelihood and amount of any reasonably

possible loss relating to these matters using the latest information available Wells Core Office Income REIT records

liability for litigation if an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of loss or range of loss can be reasonably

estimated If an unfavorable outcome is probable and reasonable estimate of the loss is range Wells Core Office

Income REIT accrues the best estimate within the range If no amount within the range is better estimate than any

other amount Wells Core Office Income REIT accrues the minimum amount within the range If an unfavorable

4650 Lakehurst Court ijuilding Qwest Communications Company
LLC

Tenant Allowance Obligations

as of December 31 20121

Represents tenant allowance obligations required by certain lease agreements that are not accrued as of December 31 2012
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outcome is probable but the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated Wells Core Office Income REIT

discloses the nature of the litigation and indicates that an estimate of the loss or range of loss cannot be made If an

unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible and the estimated loss is material Wells Core Office Income REIT discloses

the nature and estimate of the possible loss of the litigation Wells Core Office Income REIT does not disclose

information with respect to litigation where an unfavorable outcome is considered to be remote Wells Core Office

Income REIT is not currently involved in any legal proceedings for which the outcome is expected to have material

effect on the results of operations or financial condition of Wells Core Office Income REIT Wells Core Office Income

REIT is not aware of any legal proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities

Stockholders Equity

General

Wells Core Office Income REITs charter authorizes it to issue 1.01 billion shares of capital stock consisting of 1.0

billion common shares and 10.0 million preferred shares each as defined by the charter The common shares have

par value of $0.01 per share and entitle the holders to one vote per share on all matters upon which stockholders are

entitled to vote to receive dividends and other distributions subject to any preferential rights of any shares of preferred

stock that maybe issued in the future as authorized by the board of directors and to all rights of stockholder pursuant

to the Maryland General Corporation Law The common stock has no preferences or preemptive conversion or

exchange rights

On April 30 2010 Wells Core Office Income REIT changed its offering price from $10.00 per share to $25.00 per

share In connection with the change in price as of April 30 2010 the 20000 shares that were issued to WREF at

$10.00 per share were exchanged by Wells Core Office Income REIT for 8000 shares of common stock at $25.00 per

share with no additional consideration paid by either party The effect of this exchange is accounted for as 2-for-5

reverse stock split Stockholders equity has been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the adjustment for all periods

presented by reclassifing from common stock to additional paid-in capital the par value of the reduction in shares in

connection with the reverse split In addition all share numbers and per-share amounts in the consolidated financial

statements have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the reverse split

As of December 312012 Wells Core Office Income REIT has issued 17.7 million shares of common stock including

8000 shares of common stock to WREF

2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Wells Core Office Income REIT adopted long-term incentive plan on June 2010 which includes an independent

director compensation plan to provide for the grant of awards to its employees in the event it ever has employees

employees of the Advisor or its affiliates employees of entities that provide services to Wells Core Office Income

REIT Wells Core Office Income REITs independent directors officers or directors of the Advisor or its affiliates

certain of the Wells Core Office Income REITs consultants and certain consultants to the Advisor or its affiliates

the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan Such awards mayconsist of nonqualified stock options incentive stock options

restricted and unrestricted shares of stock stock appreciation rights performance awards deferred stock units dividend

equivalents and other stock-based awards Wells Core Office Income REIT will account for such stock plan in

accordance with GAAP which requires the fair value of the stock option to be recognized as compensation expense

over the vesting period The total number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2010 Long-Term

Incentive Plan is 500000 shares During the term of the Initial Offering Wells Core Office Income REIT intends to

limit the type of incentive awards granted under the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan to restricted shares of stock issued

to its independent directors As of December 31 2012 no shares of common stock have been issued under the 2010

Long-Term Incentive Plan

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

Wells Core Office Income REIT has adopted distribution reinvestment plan or DRP through which stockholders

may elect to reinvest an amount equal to the distributions declared on their shares of common stock into shares of

Wells Core Office Income REITs common stock in lieu of receiving cash distributions Shares may be purchased
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under the DRP for price equal to the higher of $23.75 or 95% of the estimated value of share of common stock as

estimated by the Advisor or another firm chosen for that purpose If the purchase price is 95% of an estimated value

such price will be adjusted downward to the extent of any aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds

from the sale of assets or other special distributions so designated by the board of directors distributed to stockholders

after the estimated per-share value is determined the Valuation Adjustment Participants in the DRP maypurchase

fractional shares so that 100% of the dividends maybe used to acquire additional shares of Wells Core Office Income

REITs common stock

Share Redemption Program

The board of directors of Wells Core Office Income REIT has adopted share redemption program or the Amended

SRP which was amended and restated on August 13 2012 effective October 12012 The program allows stockholders

who hold their shares for more than one year to sell their shares back to Wells Core Office Income REIT subject to

certain limitations and penalties Shares redeemed pursuant to the Amended SRP are accounted for as common stock

The program contains different rules for redemptions sought within two years of stockholders death qualifying

disability or qualification for federal assistance in connection with the payment of the costs of confinement to long-

term care facility Wells Core Office Income REIT refers to redemptions that do not occur within two years of

stockholders death qualifying disability or qualification for federal assistance in connection with the payment of the

costs of confinement to long-term care facility as Ordinary Redemptions Redemptions sought within two years

of the stockholders death qualifying disability or qualification for federal assistance in connection with the payment

of the costs of confinement to long-term care facility do not require one-year holding period

Effective October 2012 the Amended SRP provides that the redemption price for all redemptions including

redemptions sought within two years of stockholders death qualifying disability or qualification for federal assistance

in connection with the payment of the costs of confinement to long-term care facility will be calculated in the same

manner Specifically until Wells Core Office Income REIT completes its offering stage the redemption price per share

will be 91% of the price at which Wells Core Office Income REIT sold the share or $22.75 per share for share issued

at $25.00 After Wells Core Office Income REIT completes its offering stage the redemption price will be 95% of the

estimated per-share value as determined by the Advisor or another firm chosen for that purpose less the Valuation

Adjustment Wells Core Office Income REIT defines the completion of its offering stage to be 18 months after the

termination of public offering of shares by Wells Core Office Income REIT if no other public offering of shares

commenced within such 18-month period An offering referred to in the foregoing sentence shall not include offerings

on behalf of selling stockholders or offerings related to any distribution reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or

the redemption of interests in Wells Core OP

Prior to October 2012 the redemption price for redemptions sought within two years of the stockholders death

qualifying disability or qualification for federal assistance in connection with the payment of the costs of confinement

to long-term care facility was the amount paid for the shares until completion of the above-mentioned offering stage

at which time the redemption price would have been the estimated per-share value as determined by the Advisor or

another firm chosen for that purpose less the Valuation Adjustment

In addition to the one-year holding period for Ordinary Redemptions redemptions under the Amended SRP are currently

subject to the following limits

Wells Core Office Income REIT will not redeem shares on any redemption date to the extent that such

redemptions would cause the amount paid for Ordinary Redemptions during the 12-month period ending on

such redemption date to exceed 50% of the net proceeds from the sale of shares under Wells Core Office

Income REITs DRP during such 12-month period

Wells Core Office Income REIT will limit all redemptions so that the aggregate of such redemptions during

the 12-month period ending on such redemption date does not exceed

100% of the net proceeds from Wells Core Office Income REITs DRP during such 12-month period or

5% of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in such 12-month period
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Wells Core Office Income REIT will not redeem any share that has been transferred for value by stockholder After

transfer for value the transferee and all subsequent holders of the share are not eligible to participate in the Amended

SRP with respect to the shares so transferred The board of directors may amend suspend or terminate the Amended

SRP upon 30 days written notice and without stockholder approval

As of December 312012 and 2011 approximately $4.3 million or 177246 shares and $0.3 million or 11427 shares

respectively of Wells Core Office Income REITs common stock had been redeemed As of December 31 2012

approximately $81800 or 3596 shares of Wells Core Office Income REITs common stock was tendered for

redemption and had yet to be redeemed and is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying

consolidated balances sheets As of December 31 2011 all eligible shares tendered for redemption were redeemed

Operating Leases

Wells Core Office Income REITs real estate assets are leased to tenants under operating leases for which the terms

vary including certain provisions to extend the lease agreement options for early terminations subject to specified

penalties and other terms and conditions as negotiated Wells Core Office Income REIT retains substantially all of

the risks and benefits of ownership of the real estate assets leased to tenants Amounts required as security deposits

vary depending upon the terms of the respective leases and the creditworthiness of the tenant however such deposits

generally are not significant Therefore exposure to credit risk exists to the extent that the receivables exceed this

amount Security deposits related to tenant leases are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets

For the year ended December 312012 Time Warner Cable Science Applications International Corporation TMobile

West Corporation Jackson National Life Insurance Company and GE Oil Gas Inc comprised approximately 18%

15% 13% 12% and 11% respectively of Wells Core Office Income REITs base rental income T-Mobile West

Corporation Jackson National Life Insurance Company JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A and NATCO Group Inc

comprised approximately 23% 16% 16% and 12% respectively of Wells Core Office Income REITs base rental

income as of December 31 2011

The future minimum rental income from Wells Core Office Income REITs investments in real estate assets under

noncancelable operating leases as of December 31 2012 is as follows

2014 51773688

249824
2016 51766342
ttf
4iI7 434$7
Thereafter 114404631

As of December 31 2012 State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co Time Warner Cable and Science Applications

International Corporation comprise approximately 19% 17% and 11% respectively of the future minimum rental

income from Wells Core Office Income REITs investments in real estate assets under noncancelable operating leases
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Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Activities

Outlined below are significant noncash investing and financing transactions for the years
ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 respectively

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Other liabilities assumed upon acquisition ol propei 1729.443 .570.2 12 419.208

ommissions on stock sales and related deakrmanauer Ies due

to atliliate 213.955 65.417 71.463

Other oliering Costs due to affiliate 88.382 57.226 18.430

Assumption ot investments in devekpment authorii bonds 15.000.000

\SSUU1Jtiofl of obligations under capital leases 50000I

Advisffly Agreement

Wells Core Office Income REIT is party to an agreement with the Advisor referred to as the Advisory Agreement

under which the Advisor is required to perform services and shall be compensated for such services as outlined below

Reimbursement of organization and offering costs paid by the Advisor on behalf of Wells Core Office Income

REIT not to exceed 2.0% of gross offering proceeds as of the date of reimbursement Organization and offering

expenses may include legal costs accounting costs printing costs personnel expenses and other bona fide

offering-related costs When reimbursing the Advisor for organization
and offering expenses subject to the

above-described limitation Wells Core Office Income REIT first reimburses all costs incurred by third parties

to date once all third-party costs have been reimbursed Wells Core Office Income REIT then reimburses the

Advisor for personnel expenses incurred to date

Acquisition fees of 2.0% of gross offering proceeds subject to certain limitations Wells Core Office Income

REIT also reimburses the Advisor for expenses it pays to third parties in connection with acquisitions or

potential acquisitions

Monthly asset management fees equal to one-twelfth of 0.75% of the cost of the properties owned other

than through joint ventures and ii investments in joint ventures plus Wells Core Office Income REITs

allocable share of capital improvements made by the joint venture

Debt financing fee equal to 0.20% annually of the total capacity of all third-party financing arrangements

whether or not drawn originated obtained or otherwise assumed by or for Wells Core Office Income REIT

including mortgage debt lines of credit and other term indebtedness provided that notwithstanding the annual

nature of the fee in no event will Wells Core Office Income REIT pay an aggregate amount of more than

0.5 0%of the amount available under any particular financing arrangement or refinancing of such arrangements

Reimbursement for all costs and expenses the Advisor incurs in fulfilling its duties as the asset manager

including wages and salaries but excluding bonuses and other employee-related expenses of the Advisors

Market value adjustment to interest rate swap that qualifies for

hedge accountinc treatment 353515

Accrued redemptions of common stock

10 Related-Party Transactions
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employees who perform full range of real estate services for Wells Core Office Income REIT including

management administration operations and marketing and are allocated to Wells Core Office Income REIT

provided that such expenses are not reimbursed if incurred in connection with services for which the Advisor

receives disposition fee described below or an acquisition fee or that are reimbursable under property

management agreement or other agreement between Wells Core Office Income REIT and the Advisor or its

affiliates Such costs and expenses are allocated to Wells Core Office Income REIT for reimbursement based

upon an allocation methodology approved annually by the conflicts committee of the board of directors Total

operating expenses of Wells Core Office Income REIT including the reimbursement of these costs and expenses

to the Advisor are limited as described below in Limitation on Operating Expenses

For any property loan or other permitted investment sold by Wells Core Office Income REIT real estate

commission equal to 1.0% of the sales price with the limitation that the total real estate commissions for any

Wells Core Office Income REIT property sold may not exceed the lesser ofi 6.0% of the sales price of each

property or iithe level of real estate commissions customarily charged in light of the size type and location

of the property

Incentive fee of 15% of net sales proceeds remaining after then-current stockholders have received distributions

equal to the sum of their invested capital plus an 8% return of invested capital which fee is payable only if

the shares of common stock of Wells Core Office Income REIT are not listed on an exchange

Listing fee of 15% of the amount by which the market value of the then-outstanding common stock plus

distributions paid on such stock prior to listing exceeds the sum of 100% of the invested capital of then-current

common stockholders plus an 8% return on such invested capital which fee will be reduced by the amount

of any incentive fees paid as described in the preceding bullet

Effective August 2012 the Advisory Agreement was renewed through November 2012 upon terms identical to

those in effect through August 2012 On September 19 2012 the Advisory Agreement was renewed through June

10 2013 The terms of the agreement other than the change in the expiration date of the agreement from November

2012 to June 10 2013 are identical to those of the Advisory Agreement in effect through November 2012 The

Advisory Agreement may be renewed for an unlimited number of successive periods up to one-year each upon the

mutual consent of the parties Either party may terminate the Advisory Agreement without cause or penalty upon
providing 60 days prior written notice to the other party Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement WREF guarantees

the Advisors performance and any amounts payable in connection therewith

Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement Wells Core Office Income REIT is obligated to reimburse the Advisor

for organization and offering expenses in an amount equal to the lesser of actual costs incurred or 2.0% of total gross

offering proceeds raised from the sale of shares of its common stock to the public As of December 31 2012 the

Advisor has incurred aggregate organization and offering expenses on behalf of Wells Core Office Income REIT of

approximately $18.5 million As of December 31 2012 Wells Core Office Income REIT has incurred and charged to

additional paid-in capital cumulative other offering costs of approximately $8.8 million related to the Initial Offering

which represents approximately 2.0% of cumulative gross proceeds raised by Wells Core Office Income REIT under

the Initial Offering The remaining $9.7 million will be charged to additional paid-in capital and will become payable

to the Advisor to the extent Wells Core Office Income REIT raises sufficient additional offering proceeds under the

Initial Offering

Limitation on Operating Expenses

The Advisor has the responsibility of limiting Wells Core Office Income REITs total operating expenses as defined

by its charter to no more than the greater of 2% of average invested assets at the end of any fiscal
quarter or 25% of

net income as defined by its charter for the four previous consecutive quarters then ended unless majority of Wells

Core Office Income REITs independent directors determines that such excess expenses are justified based on unusual

and nonrecurring factors Unless the independent directors determine that the excess expenses were justified the

Advisor must reimburse the excess operating expenses to Wells Core Office Income REIT within 60 days after the

end of each fiscal quarter Total operating expenses means all expenses paid or incurred by Wells Core Office Income

REIT as determined under GAAP that are in any way related to its operation including advisory fees but excluding

the expenses of raising capital such as organization and offering expenses legal audit accounting underwriting

brokerage listing registration and other fees printing and other such expenses and taxes incurred in connection with
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the issuance distribution transfer registration and stock exchange listing of its stock interest payments taxes

noncash expenditures such as depreciation amortization and bad debt reserves reasonable incentive fees to the

extent permitted by Wells Core Office Income REITs charter and acquisition fees acquisition expenses including

expenses relating to potential acquisitions that do not close real estate commissions on the resale of property and

other expenses connected with the acquisition disposition management and ownership of real estate interests mortgage

loans or other property including the costs of foreclosure insurance premiums legal services maintenance repair

and improvement of property For the four consecutive quarters ended December 31 2012 Wells Core Office Income

REITs total operating expenses did not exceed the above-referenced limitations

Dealer-Manager Agreement

Wells Core Office Income REIT is party to dealer-manager agreement the Dealer-Manager Agreement with Wells

Investment Securities Inc WIS whereby WIS an affiliate of Wells Capital performs the dealer-manager function

for Wells Core Office Income REIT For these services WIS earns commission of up to 7% of the gross offering

proceeds from the sale of the shares of Wells Core Office Income REIT all of which is re-allowed to participating

broker/dealers Wells Core Office Income REIT pays no commissions on shares issued under the DRP

Additionally Wells Core Office Income REIT is required to pay WIS dealer-manager fee of 2.5% of the
gross offering

proceeds from the sale of Wells Core Office Income REITs stock at the time the shares are sold Under the Dealer-

Manager Agreement up to 1.5% of the
gross offering proceeds may be re-allowed by WIS to participating broker/

dealers Wells Core Office Income REIT pays no dealer-manager fees on shares issued under the DRP

Master Property Management Leasing and Construction Agreement

Wells Core Office Income REIT the Advisor and Wells Management an affiliate of Wells Capital are party to

Master Property Management Leasing and Construction Management Agreement the Management Agreement

under which Wells Management receives the following fees and reimbursements in consideration for supervising the

management leasing and construction activities of certain Wells Core Office Income REIT properties

property management fees negotiated for each property managed by Wells Management typically this fee is

equal to percentage of the gross monthly income collected for that property for the preceding month

leasing commissions for new renewal or expansion leases entered into with respect to any property for which

Wells Management serves as leasing agent equal to percentage as negotiated for that property of the total

base rental and operating expenses to be paid to Wells Core Office Income REIT during the applicable term

of the lease provided however that no commission shall be payable as to any portion of such term beyond

10 years

construction management fees for projects overseen by Wells Management such as capital projects new

construction and tenant improvements which fees are to be market-based and negotiated for each property

managed by Wells Management and

other fees as negotiated with the addition of each specific property covered under the agreement

The Management Agreement was renewed on August 11 2012 for an additional one-year term
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Related-Party Costs

Pursuant to the terms of the agreements described above Wells Core Office Income REIT incurred the following

related-party costs for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Commissions net of discounts 14190868 13827782 1396.307

Dealer-manager fees net of discounts1 5159976 5046151 507409

Other offering costs 4378915 4048024 404721

Acquisition fees 4319559 4105653 406448

Asset management fees 3009126 1.037218 28664

Administrative reimbursements 2780010 .312154 184748

Debt financing fee 666450 417100 15367

Property management fees 590931 243.767

Related-party interest expense3 5862 27946

Total 35095835 30043711 2971610

Commissions dealer-manager fees and other offering costs are charged against stockholders equity as incurred

All commissions were re-allowed to participating broker/dealers during the
years ended December 31 2012 201 and

2010

Related-party interest
expense was payable to WREF on amounts previously outstanding under $10.0 million secured

revolving bridge loan with WREF which was originated on October 2010 and repaid in full on February 15 2011

Wells Core Office Income REIT incurred no related-party construction fees incentive fees listing fees disposition

fees or leasing commissions during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Due to Affiliates

The detail of amounts due to affiliates is provided below as of December 31 2012 and 2011

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Administrative reimbursements 266047 154429

Property management fees 58537 42248

Asset management fees 152563

Debt financing fee 56000

Other offering costs 88382 57226

Acquisition fees 88382 5703

Commissionsand dealer-manager fees 213955 165.417

Total 715303 684914

Conflicts of Interest

As of December 31 2012 the Advisor had no direct employees The Advisor is wholly owned subsidiary of WREF
and has contracted with Wells Capital and Wells Management to perform many of its obligations under the Advisory

Agreement Until such time if ever as the Advisor hires sufficient personnel of its own to perform the services under

the Advisory Agreement it will continue to rely upon employees of Wells Capital and Wells Management Wells

Capital also is general partner or advisor of other public real estate investment programs sponsored by WREF As

such in connection with managing the advisor activities under the Advisory Agreement and serving as general partner

or advisor for other Wells-sponsored programs Wells Capital may encounter conflicts of interest with regard to

allocating human resources and making decisions related to investments operations and disposition-related activities
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One of the members of Wells Core Office Income REITs board of directors also serves on the board of Wells Timberland

REIT Inc REIT currently sponsored by WREF and Columbia Property Trust Inc Columbia formerly known

as Wells Real Estate Investment Trust II Inc REIT previously sponsored by WREF and accordingly mayencounter

certain conflicts of interest regarding investment and operational decisions

Limitations on Internalization Consideration

On August 12 2011 Wells Core Office Income REIT entered into letter agreement with the Advisor that limits the

circumstances in which WREF or one of its affiliates may receive consideration in connection with hypothetical

acquisition of the Advisor or an affiliate thereof in order to internalize management functions of Wells Core Office

Income REIT The letter agreement provides that the consideration would be in shares of common stock of Wells Core

Office Income REIT and that no consideration would be payable to the Advisor until its stockholders are deemed to

have received through listing merger liquidation or similar transaction in the aggregate their original investment

in shares of Wells Core Office Income REIT plus 6% cumulative non-compounded annual return adjusted to take

into account prior cash distributions designated as special distribution of net proceeds from the sale of assets In

return the letter agreement provides that Wells Core Office Income RIEIT may not without the Advisors prior written

consent employ or solicit for employment any person who was employed by the Advisor or an affiliate thereof within

the prior 12 months subject to certain exceptions The letter agreement will remain in effect until 12 months after the

last date on which the Advisor or any of its affiliates performs advisory functions for Wells Core Office Income REIT

Operational Dependency

Wells Core Office Income REIT has contracted with the Advisor Wells Management and WIS to provide certain

services that are essential to Wells Core Office Income REIT including asset management services the supervision

of the propertymanagement and leasing of some properties owned by Wells Core Office Income REIT asset acquisition

and disposition services the sale of shares of Wells Core Office Income REITs common stock as well as other

administrative responsibilities for Wells Core Office Income REIT including accounting services stockholder

communications and investor relations In addition the Advisor has engaged Wells Capital to retain the use of its

employees to carry out certain of the services listed above As result of these relationships Wells Core Office Income

REITs operations are dependent upon the Advisor Wells Capital Wells Management and WIS

The Advisor Wells Capital Wells Management and WIS are owned and controlled by WREF Historically the

operations of Wells Capital WIS Wells Management the Advisor and their affiliates represent substantially all of the

business of WREF Accordingly Wells Core Office Income REIT focuses on the financial condition of WREF when

assessing the financial condition of the Advisor Wells Capital Wells Management and WIS In the event that WREF

were to become unable to meet its obligations as they become due Wells Core Office Income REIT might be required

to find alternative service providers

Future net income generated by WREF will be largely dependent upon the amount of fees earned by WREFs subsidiaries

based on among other things the level of investor proceeds raised and the volume of future acquisitions and dispositions

of real estate assets by Wells Core Office Income REIT and other WREF-sponsored programs as well as distribution

income earned from equity interests in another REIT previously sponsored by Wells Capital As of December 312012

Wells Core Office Income REIT has no reason to believe that WREF does not have access to adequate liquidity and

capital resources including cash flow generated from operations cash on hand other investments and borrowing

capacity necessary to meet its current and future obligations as they become due Modifing service agreements

between WREF or its affiliates and Wells Core Office Income REIT or other WREF-sponsored programs could

impact WREFs future net income and future access to liquidity and capital resources For example large portion of

WREFs income is derived under consulting agreement with Columbia Effective February 28 2013 Columbia

transitioned to self-management and indicated that it does not expect to rely on V/REF for the same level of services

beyond December 31 2013 As such WREF does not expect to receive significant compensation from Columbia

beyond December 31 2013
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11 Income Taxes

Wells Core Office Income REITs income tax basis net income for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and

2010 follows

Rental income accrued for income tax purposes greater than less

than amounts for financial reporting purposes

Expenses of The Point at Clark Street RUT LLC for financial

reporting purposes in excess of amounts for income tax purposes 1248094

2012 2011 2010

100% 100% 100%

As of December 31 2012 returns for the calendar years 2009 through 2011 remain subject to examination by U.S or

various state tax jurisdictions As of December 31 2012 and 2011 Wells Core Office Income REIT had no deferred

tax assets or liabilities

12 Quarterly Results unaudited

Presented below is summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended December 312012
and 2011

2012

First

Quarter

Second

Quarter

Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter

Net loss

Distributions payable per share

2697201 2021443 2454739 1311140

Decrease increase in net loss resulting from

2012 2011 2010

1001255 219500 38514

Other expenses for financial reporting purposes in excess of

amounts for income tax purposes

1464378

65460 185118

As of December 31 2012 the tax basis carrying value of Wells Core Office Income REITs total assets was

approximately $701.9 million For income tax purposes distributions to common stockholders are characterized as

ordinary income capital gains or as return of stockholders invested capital Wells Core Office Income REITs

distributions per common share are summarized as follows

Capital gains

Total

0.37 0.38 0.38 0.37
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2011

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Revenues 35 4s$$
Net loss 1564891 2048306 2640362 3818109

Basin aid dthted net ldss per 14 O49 p49

Distributions payable per share 0.33 0.37 0.38 0.38

The quarterly per-share amounts have been calculated using actual income loss for the respective quarters Conversely

the corresponding annual loss per-share amounts have been calculated assuming that loss was earned ratably over the

year
As result the sum of these quarterly per-share amounts does not equal the respective annual per-share amount

presented in the accompanying financial statements

13 Subsequent Events

Sale of Shares of Common Stock

From January 2013 to February 28 2013 Wells Core Office Income REIT raised approximately $25.4 million

through the issuance of approximately 1.0 million shares of its common stock under the Initial Offering As of

February 28 2013 approximately 181.8 million shares remained available for sale to the public under the Initial

Offering exclusive of shares available under the DRP

Declaration of Distributions

On February 28 2013 Wells Core Office Income REITs board of directors declared distributions for stockholders of

record from March 162013 through June 15 2013 in an amount equal to $0.004110 0.4110 cents per day per share

Wells Core Office Income REIT expects to pay this distribution in June 2013
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Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc and Subsidiaries

Schedule IllReal Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

December 31 2012

Gross Amount at Which Carried at December 31
Initial Cost Costs 2012

Accumulated Life on which

Capitalized Depreciation Depreciation and

Ownership Buildings and Subsequent to Buildings and and Date of Date Amortization is

Dmcripltnn Location Percentage Encumbrances Land improvements Tolaf Acquisition Land Improvements Total Amortization Construction Acquired Compnted

Roynl Ridge

Building Irving TX 100% none 1062810 161491107 1062.810 16149807 17212.617 2066765 200 10/7/2010 OLo4Oyears

333 East Lake

Street Building Bloorningdale IL 00% none 1.415.598 9.678.856 11094.454 1.415598 9678856 l0q4454 1.087.560 2001 11/19/2010 to 40 yean

WoBvay
Building Uot1on TX 100% none 2300OtXl 27752840 30052840 69862 2.3340 27582978 29882.978 2913.522 2007 1/7/201 Oto4O years

Duke Bridges

II Buildings Frisco TX 100% none 7.143.737 39.858.029 47001.766 7.143.737 39.858.029 47.001.766 471 728 2006 5/12/2011 to 40 years

MI1t lL 141011$ noa 04403 f694932 202.14233 3Z044fu 169ZL6 203977 t3543 2001 512011 0to4 seats

7601 Technology

Way Building Denver CO 100% 24900000 5932955 34470471 40403426 5932955 34470471 40403426 2992881 1997 6/27/2011 to 40 years

reslway4
BWldjflg HousloiaTX 1014% neat 251152 6696771 6920832 Z011144 687577 i1ii 4t715$3 IW 9i281201l Oto 41

yeats

Franklin Center

Building Columbia MD 10000 none 6091847 55862231 61954078 6091847 55862231 61954078 3014790 2008 12/28/2011 01040 years

Four Parkway

North Building Deertield IL 100% none 3740427 36191153 39931580 23135 3740427 36214288 39954715 1314891 1999 7/2/2012 01040 years

tiflie
Xlsblt $OQ% stone 22147 149fl462 17j88B99 2fi437 149fl5462 T7l8F899 275 If3 1096 14/5/21413 Oto 41 years

4650 Lakehurst

Court Building Columbus OH l00 none 2493556 20883528 23377084 2493556 20883528 23377084 68819 1990 12/7/2012 to 40
years

Total 100% Weils Core REIT Properties $55733041 $496610384 $552343425 2013826 55733041 498624210 554357251 27016328

Total initial cost excludes purchase price
allocated to intangible lease origination costs and intangible lease liabilities

Wells Core Office Income REIT assets are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets by class Generally Tenant Improvements are amortized over the shorter

of economic life or lease term Lease Intangibles are amortized over the respective lease term Building Improvements are depreciated over 5-25 years Site Improvements are depreciated over 15 years and

Buildings are depreciated over 40 years
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Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc and Subsidiaries

Schedule 111Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010

Estate

Balance at the beginning of the year 298740904 28307071

Additions to/improvements of real estate 255826094

Write-otis of tenant improvements

Write-offs of intangible assetst1 1544066

Write-offs of
tiilly depreciated/amortized assets 55681

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

Balance at the beginning of the year 7397579 313299

Depreciation and amortization expense 19828496 7084280 313299

Write-offs of tenant improvements

Write-offs of intangible assets1 154066

Write-offs of fully depreciated/amortized assets 55681

Balance at the end of the year 27016328 7397579 313299

Consists of write-offs of intangible lease assets related to lease restructurings amendments and terminations
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EXHIBIT 31.1

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

18 U.S.C 1350

Leo Wells III certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc for the year ended

December 31 2012

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and

for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 51 and Sd- 15f for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period

in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period

covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual

report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control

over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or

persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role

in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Dated March 11 2013 By /s/ Leo Wells III

Leo Wells III

Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

18 U.S.C 1350

Douglas Williams certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc for the year ended

December31 2012

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact
necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and

for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and Sd- 15e and internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period

in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period

covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual

report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control

over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or

persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role

in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Dated March 11 2013 By Is Douglas Williams

Douglas Williams

Principal Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

18 U.S.C 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc the Registrant on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission the Report the undersigned Leo

Wells III Principal Executive Officer of the Registrant and Douglas Williams Principal Financial Officer of the Registrant

hereby certif pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 18 U.S.C 1350 that to the best of our knowledge

and belief

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of

operations of the Registrant

Is LEO WELLS III

Leo Wells III

Principal Executive Officer

March 11 2013

Is DOUGLAS WILLIAMS

Douglas Williams

Principal Financial Officer

March 112013
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Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc is subject to certain

laws pertaining to corporate governance of publicly

registered companies As of December 31 2012 Wells

Core Office Income REIT Inc was fully compliant

with all requirements of Sections 302 and 906 of the

SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 which was enacted to

increase corporate accountability

In 2012 in addition to the certifications required by

Sections 302 and 906 Wells Core Office Income REIT

Inc continued to document and test controls over its

financial reporting processes in order to comply with

Section 404a of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 for

the
year

ended December 31 2012

oonso Beh id VVelh Co Qffoe

fflO1 PF-T

Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc is an investment

product that relies on the real estate experience

of Wells Real Estate Funds national real estate

investment company with an established track record

of providing investors with access to commercial real

estate and other real asset investment opportunities

Since 1984 Wells Real Estate Funds has served more

than 300000 investors nationwide investing over $12

billion on their behalf in commercial real estate assets

The Annual Meeting of the stockholders of Wells

Core Office Income REIT Inc will be held at the

Hilton Atlanta Northeast at 130 p.m FT on Monday

August 12 2013 in Norcross Georgia

lNbrteL to
Exe arje or ni 01

All reports
filed electronically by Wells Core Of

fice Income REIT Inc with the U.S Securities and

Exchange Commission including the Annual Report

on Form 10K quarterly reports on Form 10Q and

current event reports on Form 8-K are accessible at

no charge to the investor on the Wells Core Office

Income REIT Inc website at www.WellsCoreRElT.com

Cur

Addifond ifor to ssot

To sign up for electronic communications or for

additional information about Wells Core Office Income

REIT Inc please visit our investor website

www.WellsCoreRElT.com To access your account

information click on Investor LogIn

Investors also may contact Wells Client Services

Specialist for assistance weekdays at 800 557-4830

770243--81 98 fax or cIient.servicesJ2wellsref.com

fddre in or ii ers

Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc

6200 The Corners Parkway

Norcross Georgia 30092-3365

7704497800 8005574830

Wells Core Office Income REIT Inc

P.O Box 219073

Kansas City MO 64121 9073

Leo WeDs ifi

President Chairman of

the Board and Director

Dougas Wifliams

Executive Vice President

Secretary and Treasurer

Frank Bishop

Independent Director

Brian Davis

Senior Vice President

and Chief Financial

Officer

Harvey Tarpley

Independent Director

Appointed March 11 2013

Data as of Decambar 31 2012




